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up f or inquiry the learned counsel for the intervenient -plaintiff - respondent
- petitioner (hereinafter referred to as the petitioner) brought to the notice
of Court that the petitioner has already filed an appeal against the said
order. At the commencement of the inquiry a preliminary question was
raised by the petitioner - respondent (hereinafter referred to as the
respondent) in that whether the impugned order is a finalorder or an interim
order.

Briefly, the facts as set out in the petition are as follows

The petitioner institutedaction against theHouse andProperty Trades
Limited (defendant - respondent) for the recovery of a sum of Rs.
2,400,000 together with interest thereon at 20% per annum from
01.10.1999 untilpayment in full. After the trial the judgement was entered
against the defendant - respondent as prayedfor in the plaint.Thereafter
the District Court on an application madeby the petitioner issueda writ
and the land described in the plaint was sold by public auction in
execution of the decree. The sale took place on 24.04.1999 and the
respondent purchased certain allotments of land at the fiscal sale.

Thetotalconsideration was Rs.3,600,000.Thereafter,a fiscal conveyance
was executed in favour of the respondent.When the respondent sought to
develop the said land, it was found that it was possessed by a third party,
namely, R. A. L.Ranjith de Alwis. The respondent had done a search in
the Land Registry, Colombo and it was revealed that the defendant -
respondent, the said, House and Property Trades Limited had sold the
said allotment of land by deed No. 1909 dated 28.08.1998 for a sum of
Rs. 500,000 before the fiscal sale. Thereafter, the respondent made an
application to Court in terms of Section 284 of the Civil Procedure Code
and sought a money decree against the petitioner. The petitioner filed
objection. The Court directed the parties to file written submissions.
Thereafter, the Court made order on 23.07.2003 and directed the petitioner
topay a sum of Rs.450,000 to the respondent. It is against this order that
the petitioner has filed this application for leave to appeal.

The question before Court is whether the order complained of amounts
to a final judgment within the meaningof Section754(5)of theCivil Procedure
Code.
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In the case of Siriwardena Vs. Air Ceylon LtdL,1) Sharvananda,J. (as he

was then) after analyzing several English authorities, laiddown the following
tests to be applied to determine whether an order has the effect of a final
judgment and soqualifies as a judgement under Section754(5) of theCivil
Procedure Code :

(i) It must be an order finally disposing of the rights of the parties.
(ii) The order cannot be treated as a final order, if the suit or the

action is still left alive for the purpose of determining the rights
of the parties in the ordinary way.

(iii) The finality of the order must be determined in relation to the
suit.

(iv) The mere fact that the cardinalpoint in the suit has been decided
or even a vital and important issue determined in the case, is
not enough to make an order,a final order.

It was held in the case of Peter Singho vs.Wydeman (2> that an order
made by theDistrict Court in dismissingan application made under Section
86(2) of the Civil Procedure Code is a final order and direct appeal lies
against such an order.

Accordingly, in the instant case the test to be applied to determine
whether an order has the effect of a final judgment, shall be decided by

examiningwhether the impugnedorder has thecharacter of afinal judgment
in relation to the suit. It is to be observed that, on an application made in
terms of Section 284, the order that will finallybe deliveredby Court isnot
an interlocutory order as there isnothingmore tobe decided by the Court
in the ordinary way in the same application.

It was held in the case of Brooke Bond (Ceylon) Ltd. I/s. Stassen
Export Ltd. and another (3) that interlocutory appeals are appeals from
interlocutory orders. In law an interlocutory order is one which is made or
given during the progress of an action,but whichdoesnot dispose of the
rights of the parties. It is incidental to the principal object of the action,
namely the judgement.

In the instant case it seems tome that the order deliveredby the learned
Judge on 23.07.2003 is not an incidentalorder nor is it an order made on
a cardinalpoint in the suit. As far as the parties are concerned, after the
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caption to the petition states that it is an application under section 29 of
the Debt Conciliation Ordinance. It is to be noted that the said section 29
does not provide for presenting such an application to Court. At the time
thepetitioner- respondent filed his application, the said Dissanayake was
deadandaccordingly his wifeandchildren were made respondents to the
application Since the children of Dissanayake were minors, their mother,
thepresent petitioner was appointed guardian-at-litem of the minors.

The learned Judge, havingconsideredthe petition filedby thepetitioner
- respondent has issued a decree nisi. After it was served on the present
petitioner she has filed her objections to the petitioner - respondent s
application. Thereafter, at the inquiry held by Court several witnesses have
given evidence for the petitioner - respondent and thepresent petitioner
has given evidence on her own behalf.After the inquiry the learnedJudge
has made order making the decree nisi absolute. This revision application
is against that order.

The question to be decided in this revision application is whether there
was a valid legalproceeding before Court.The provision under which the
petitioner - respondent could have brought his action to get the property
re-conveyed tohim is section 39 of the Debt Conciliation Ordinance.The
section reads as follows.

Where acertificate has been granted under this Ordinance in respect
of a debt secured by a conditional transfer of immovable property and
subsequent to the granting of that certificate an action is instituted in
any Court for the recovery of that property, the Court (a) may,
notwithstanding that the title to that property has vested in the creditor
in relation to that debt, make such appropriate orders as are necessary
to re-convey title to, and possession of that property to the debtor, in
relation to that debt, on the payment by the debtor of the debt together
with the interest thereon in such installments and within such period
not exceeding 10 years, as the Court thinks fit .

Section 39 is the only section which provides for an action by the
debtor to obtain an order to re-convey aproperty in respect of which a
certificate under section 29 of the Debt Conciliation Ordinance has
beenissued.There is noprocedure laiddown for suchan action. Section *f-
8 of the Civil Procedure Code enacts that Save and except actions in
which it is by this Ordinance or any other law specially provided that
proceedings may be taken by summary procedure, every action shall
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commence andproceedby acourseof regular procedure,ashereinafter
prescribed".

Thus, in the absence of any reference to summary procedure in section

, 39,anaction for an order to re-convey aproperty conveyedby aconditional
transfer to secure a debt has tobe institutedby way of regular procedure.

Thepetitioner respondentsactionhad been filedunder summary procedure.

Therefore, that action had not been properly filed according to the proper
procedure. As such the decree nisi had been improperly issued and
accordingly has no force as a decree nisi. In the result, the order of Court
making the decree nisi absolute is a nullity. Section 45 of the Debt
Conciliation Ordinance, under which the District Court dealt with the
petitioner - respondent’s application has no application to the action as
that section dealt with an action by a creditor to enforce a settlement. The
whole procedure adoptedby Court to deal with the petitioner - respondent s
purported application was irregular and illegal and accordingly all
proceedings taken in D.C.Kuliyapitiya caseNo.11745 were nulland void
and were incapableof producing any legally bindingdecree.Iaccordingly
allow this revision application and quash all proceedings in the purported
action including the decree nisi and the decree absolute. The petitioner is
entitled to Rs.7,500 as costs of this application.

BALAPATABENDIJ.- ! agree.

Application allowed.

DAYARATNE
vs

RAJITHA SENARATNE, MINISTER OF LANDS AND OTHERS

COURT OF APPEAL,
SALEEM MARSOOF P.C.,J (P/CA) AND
SRISKANDARAJAH,J.
C. A. 1790/2003
AUGUST 24,AND

T OCTOBER 6,2004

Land Acquisition Act Section 2 Notice - Is it amenable to writ jurisdiction ? -
Public Officer ceasing to hold office - Without amending the prayer are the
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December 16, 2004
SALEEM MARSOOF, J. P /CA

The petitioner who claims to be the owner of the part of a land called
Kurakkanmandiyehena" 'm extent 1 rood situated in Nugawela, Pannil

Pattu, in Atakanal Koraie in the Kahawatte Divisional Secretary s Division
in the RatnapuraDistrict,has filedthis application on or about 16thOctober
2003 challenging the order or decision said to have been made by the
respondents to acquire the petitioner s aforesaid land and the notice dated
27thMarch 2003(P15) which was exhibited on the land interms of Section
2 of the Land Acquisition Act, No. 9 of 1950, as subsequently amended.
The petitioner claims that although the ostensible purpose of the said _
proposed acquisition is to widen the Pelmadulla - Embilipitiya highway,
land necessary for the said purpose in the vicinity have already been
acquired by the Order made under Section 38 proviso (a) of the Land
Acquisition Act published in theGazette Extraordinary bearingNo.1169/
11,dated 30th January, 2001 (P3a) after the exhibition of another Section
2 Notice (P2a).The 1st Respondent was the person holding office as the
Minister of Lands at the time of filing this application, and the 2nd
respondent was the Minister of Defence, Transport, Highways and Civil
Aviationat the relevant time,and both these Respondents have been cited
by name as wellas their respective official designations.The3rd respondent
is the Road Development Authority, the 4th Respondent is the Divisional
Secretary and the 5th Respondent is the Project Engineer attached to
the Asian Development Bank Project Office of the Road Development
Authority. The petitioner seeks inter atia-

(i) a writ of certiorariquashing the orders/decisions of the 1st and / or
2ndand / or 3rdand / or 4th and /or 5th respondents to acquire the
petitioner’s landand the notice issuedby the 4th respondent under
Section 2 of the Land Acquisition Act marked P 15 ;

(ii) a writ of mandamus directing the 1st and / or 2nd and / or 3rd and
/ or 4th and / or 5th respondents to continue the acquisition
proceeding commenced with the notice issued under Section 2 of
the Land Acquisition Act (P2a) and the order made under Section T
38proviso(a) of that Act andpublishedin the Gazette marked P3a
; and
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(iii) interim relief restraining the 1st to the 5th respondents, jointfy or
» severally, from continuing with the impugned acquisition proceeding

and taking over any portion of the petitioner s land.

The application was supported by the learned Counsel for thepetitioner
on 27th October, 2003,and the Court issued notice on the respondents
and also granted the interim relief prayed for by the petitioner. The
respondents filed their statement of objections in due course and the
application was to be mentioned on 18th May, 2004 for the counter affidavit
of the petitioner, with the stay order expiring on 19th May, 2004.However,
it appears from the docket that when the application was mentioned on
18th May, 2004 before Wijeratne J., there was no appearance for the
petitioner nor was the counter affidavit filed.Court had on its own motion
granted the petitioner time till 21st June 2004 to file his counter affidavits
but the stay order was not extended and it lapsed on 19th May, 2004.
When the case was called on 21st June, 2004 before Balapatabendi. J,
and Imam,J.,learned Counsel for thepetitioner informedCourt that he will
be filing the counter affidavit of the petitioner in the Registry the very next
day andmoved that the stay order may be restored as he failed to attend
Court on 18thMay,2004owingtoagenuinemistake madeby him regarding
the date.Court made order directing that this matter be mentionedbefore
Wijeratne, J. on 29th June, 2004. Thereafter, the petitioner tendered the
counter affidavit of the petitioner with the motion dated 22nd June, 2004
andmoved Court to-

(i) re-issue the stay order prayed for ; and

• (ii) add the incumbent Minister of Agriculture, Livestock Development,
Lands and Irrigation as the 6th respondent and thePrime Minister
and Minister of Highways as the 7th respondent since the 1st and
2nd respondents who previously held the portfolios of Minister of
Lands and Minister of Highways respectively have ceased to hold
office.

Although, there is no record to bear this out in the docket, it may be
surmised from the journal entry of 1st July, 2004 that the case was

v* mentionedbefore Wijeratne,J on 29th June 2004 who in turnhad directed

' that the case be mentioned in the President s Court on 1st July, 2004.On
that date, when the case was accordingly mentioned, Court had issued
an interim order in the same lines as the interim order issued on 27th
2 -CM6576
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October 2003, and fixed the case for argument on 24th August, 2004. No
application was made on that date to add the successors in office to the
1st and 2nd respondents as the 6th and7th respondents or toamend the
prayers to the petition.

Whenthecase was takenup for argument on 24th August,2004, learned
Deputy Solicitor General appearing for the 3rd to 5th respondents took up
the following preliminary objections :

(a) Since the 1st and 2nd respondents do not hold office respectively
as Minister of Lands and Minister of Highways, can the petitioners
seek relief as prayed for in prayers (b), (c), (d) and (e) of the
prayer to the petition ?

(b) Is the notice marked P15, a decision or determination amenable
to writ of certiorari ?

Learned Counsel agreed to the disposal of these preliminary objections
by wayof written submissions. LearnedCounsel for the petitioner reserved
his right to support his motion dated 22nd June 2004 to add the 6th and
7th respondents named in the said motion in the event the said preliminary
objections are not upheld by Court.

Preliminary objection (a) raises an important question relating to the
procedure tobe followed in the event of apublic officer who isa respondent
to a writ application ceasing to hold office during the pendency of the
application before this Court. There is no dispute that at the time this
application was filed on or about 16th October 2003, the 1st and 2nd
respondents did hold the respective portfolios which included the Ministries
of Lands and Highways respectively. It is also common ground that after
the General Election which was held on the 2nd April 2004, the 1st and
2nd respondents ceasedtohold their respective Ministriesandthe persons
now sought to be added as the6th and 7th respondents took over the said
portfolios. Learned Deputy Solicitor Generalhas pointed out that while the
petitioner has by his prayers (b), (c), (d) and (e) prayed for certain relief
against inter alia the 1st and 2nd respondents in terms of the existing
pleadings andprayers, It is further submitted by the learned Deputy Solicitor
General that premitting the petitioners to amend the caption with a view of
adding the present incumbents of the offices of Minister of Lands and
Minister of Highways at this late stage respectively as the 6th and 7th
respondents would be quite meaningless as the petitioner in the prayer to
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the petition does not seek any relief against these persons. It is further
* submitted by the learned Deputy Solicitor General that the petitioner has

prayed for relief against /n?era/;a the 1st and 2nd respondents who have
now ceased to hold office and do not enjoy any of the powers that were

, vested in them at the time of the filing of this application. Learned Deputy
Solicitior General relies on the decisions in Haniffa v. Chairman, Urban
Council, Nawalapitiya and Abayadeera v. Dr. Stanley Wijesundera (2) for
the proposition that the writ of mandamus would only be issued agaisnt
the officer or authority in whom the power in question is vested by Law. in
fact, in the first of these cases, Tambiah J. (with whom Sri Skanda Rajah
J. agreed) observed that a mandamus can only issue against a natural
person, who holdsa public office.Learned Deputy Solicitor General submits
that to issuea writ of a mandamus against a person who doesnot possess
the power would be an exercise in futility.

Learned Deputy Solicitor General has also submitted that in terms of
, Rule 3(8)of theCourt of Appeal (Appellate Procedure) Rules 1990, aparty
T may with the prior permission of the Court, amend his pleadings, or file

additional pleadings, affidavits or other documents, within two weeks of
the grant of such permission, unless the Court otherwise directs The said
Rule expressly provides that after notice has been issued in any case,

such permission shall not be granted ex parte. Learned Deputy Solicitor
General has invited the attention of Court to the decision of the Supreme
Court in Kiriwanthe and Another v. Nawaratne and Another, <3) which has
held that the Court has a discretion in allowing any non-compliance or
omission in pleadings to be cured upon an application of the party

. concerned. However, learned Deputy Solicitor General submits that no
application has beenmade to Court bythe petitioner praying for the exercise
of such discretion, although the petitioner had ample opportunity to do so.

. Learned Counsel for the petitioner relies heavily on Rule 5(4)(b) read
with Rule 5(5) of the Court of Appeal (Appellate Procedure) Rules 1990 for
his submission that where a respondent who has been cited both by
reference to his name and his designation ceases to hold office while an
application filed against him in terms of Articles 140 or 141 of the
Constitution is pending before court, the case can proceed against his
successor for the time being in such office, Without any addition or
substitution of respondent afresh,proxy or the issue of any notice, unless
the Court considers such addition substitution, proxy or notice to be
necessary in the interests of justice .
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*For the purpose of appreciating the Rules in question, it is necessary
to quote in full all sub-rules of Rule 5 of the Court of Appeal (Appellate
Procedure) Rules 1990-

(1) This rule shall apply to applications under Articles 140 and 141
of the Constitution, in which a public officer has been made a
respondent in his official capacity, (Whether on account of an
act or omission in such official capacity, or to obtain relief against
him in such capacity, or otherwise)

(2) Apublic officermaybemadearespondenttoany such application
by reference to his official designation only (and not by name),
and it shall accordingly be sufficient to describe such public
officer in the caption by reference to his official designation or
the office held by him, omitting reference to his name. If a
respondent cannot be sufficiently identified in the manner, it
shall be sufficient if his name is disclosed in the averments in jthe petition.

(3) No such application shall be dismissed on account of any
omission, defect or irregularity in regard tothe name designation,
description, or address of such respondent, if the Court is
satisfied that such respondent has been sufficiently identified
and described, andhas not been misled or prejudiced by such
omission, defect or irregularity. The Court may make such order
as it thinks fit in the interest of justice, for amendment of
pleadings, fresh or further notice, costs,or otherwise, in respect
of any such omission, defect or irregularity.

(4)(a) In respect of an act or omission done in official capacity by a
public officer whohas thereafter ceased to hold such office, such
application may be made and proceeded with against his
successor, for the time being in such office, such successor
being made a respondent by reference to his official designation
only, in terms of sub-rule (2)

(b) If such an application has been made against a public officer,
who has been made a respondent by reference to his official
designation (and not by name) in respect of an act or omission
in his official capacity, and such public officer ceases to hold
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such office, during the pendency of such application, such
application may be proceeded with against his successor, for
the timebeing, in suchoffice, without any addition or substitution
of respondent afresh, proxy or the issue of any notice, unless
the Court considers such addition,substitution,proxy or notice
to be necessary in the interest of justice. Such successor will
be bound, in his official capacity, by any order made,or direction
given, by the Court against, or in respect of, such original
respondent.

(c) Where such an application has been made against a public
officer, who has been made a respondent by references to his
official designation (and not by name), and such public officer
ceases tohold such office after the final determination of such
application, but before complying with the order made or direction
given therein,his successor, for the time being in such office will
be bound by and shall comply with, such order or direction.

(5) The provisions of sub-rules (4)(b) and (4)(c) shall apply to an
application under Article 140 and 141 filed before such date as
may be specified by the Chief Justice by direction, against a
public officer, in respect of an act or omission inhis official capacity,
even if such public officer is described in the caption both by
name and by reference to his official designation.

(6) Nothing in this rule shall be construed as imposing any personal
liability upon a public officer in respect of the act or omission of
any predecessor in office

(7) In this rule, ceases to hold office means dies, or retires or
resigns from, or in any other manner ceases to hold, office
(Emphasis added)

It is the contention of the learned Counsel for the petitioner that in
terms of Rule 5(4)(a) where a public officer ceases to hold office, a writ
application may be made and proceeded with against his successor for
the time being in such office, such successor being made respondent by
reference to his official designation only in terms of sub-rule 2. It is
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submitted that the 1st and 2nd respondents to this application have
admittedly ceased to hold their respective offices, and it is sought to add '
the 6th and 7th respondents who are their successors in office. Learned
Counsel for the petitioners submits that this application of the petitioner
can be proceeded with as it presently stands against the 6th and 7th
Respondents in place of the 1st and 2nd Respondents after the 6th and
7th respondents have been added as parties to this application. It is
submitted by learned Counsel for the petitioner that there is no necessity
to amend the petition or the prayer thereto as stated by the learned
Counsel for the 1st to 5th respondents.

I have several difficulties in agreeing with this submission made on
behalf of the petitioner. Firstly, even assuming thataMinister can beregarded
as a public officer within the meaning of the phrase as used in Part IV of
the Court of Appeal (Appellate Procedure) Rules 1990, neither Rule 5(2)
nor Rule 5(4)(a) of these Rules has any relevance to this case as this is
not a case where any public officer or successor in office to apublic officer
has been cited as a respondent by reference to his official designation
only. Secondly, neither Rule 5(4)(b) nor Rule 5(4)(c) would apply to the
instant case as this is not a case where apublic officer cited as respondent
by his official designation only has ceased to hold office during the pendency
of the case or after the judgment but prior to its execution. This is a case
where the 1st and 2nd respondent have been described in the caption by
name and by reference to their respective official designations. Such a
case could attract Rule 5(5) of the aforesaid Rules only if-

(i) A Minister can be regarded as a public officer” within the meaning
of Part IV of the aforesaid Rules ; and

(ii) the application was filed before such date as may be specified
by the Chief Justice by direction.

In the absence of any definition of the phrase public officer in the
Rules, I have some doubt as to whether a Minister of the Government is
caught up by these Rules as the said phrase is defined in Article 170 of
the Constitution of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka (in
terms of Article 136 of which these Rules have been made) so as to
exclude a Minister. Of course, the definition contained in Article 170 will
only apply with respect to the provisions of the Constitution, and it is
possible to argue that the definition is not applicable to the Rules made
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under Article 136 of the Constitution. It is also possible to argue that the
phrase public officer as used in the Rules in question should be broadly
interpreted. It is however not necessary to decide those quesiton as this
application has been filed on or about 16th October 2003, long after 31st
December 1991 which is the date specified by the Chief Justice for the
purposes of Rule 5(5) in terms of the notification dated 16th December
1991 published in the Gazette of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri
Lanka bearing No. 697 and dated 10th January 1992 ; it will follow that
Rule 5(5) will not have any application to this case, and accordingly Rule
5(4)(b) too will not have any application to this case.

Had this been an application filed before the specified date (31st
December 1991) against public officerscited as respondents by reference
to their names and designations, the combined effect of Rule 5(4)(b) and
Rule 5(5) would have been to permit the continuation of the proceedings
against the successors in office of the public officers in question even after
they cease to hold office without any addition or substitution of respondent
afresh” . That facility may not be available in a case like the present, for
two reasons : Firstly, this being an application for mandamus, relief can
only beobtained against a naturalperson who holds a public office as was
decided by the Supreme Court in Haniffa v. Chairman, Urban Council,
Nawalapitiya. (Supra) Secondly, this is an application that has been
instituted after 1st January 1992. Accordingly, it willbe necessary in cases
such as this to add or substitute the successor in office of any original
respondent who has been made a respondent by reference to both his
name and his official designation, but as pointed out by learned Deputy
Solicitor General it would be quite meaningless to add or substitute the
successor in office of the respondent whohas ceased to hold office unless
the pleadings, and in particular the prayer, is amended to apply to the
added or substituted respondent. I note that althoughthe learned Counsel
for the petitioner has reserved his right to support his motion dated 22nd
June 2004 to addthe 6th and7th respondents named in the saidmotion in
the event the preliminary objections raised in this case are not upheld by
Court, no application has ever been made on behalf of the petitioner to
amend the prayer to the petition.

However, I am inclined to the view that the Court of Appeal (Appellate
Procedure) Rules have been formulated, and have to be interpreted and
applied, so as to further the ends of justice rather than to perpetrate
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injustice. This policy is reflected in Rule 5(3) which expressly provided
that Court may make such order as it thinks fit in the interest of justice, for
amendment of pleadings, fresh or further notice, costs, or otherwise, in
respect of any ....omission, defect or irregularity. I am conscious that Rule
5(3) strictly has no application to the present case as the 1st and 2nd
respondents have been cited as respondents to this application both by
reference to name and official designation, but the policy manifested in
the said Rule is universally applicable. I would therefore have permitted
the Petitioner to add the successors in office to the 1st and 2nd
respondents as the 6th and 7th respondents respectively and to amend
the prayer to the petition as may be appropriate subject to an order for
costs, had an application been made at least on the occasion when the
case was taken up for argument.

However,there is an even more formidableobstacle to the maintainability
of the application before Court. That obstacle takes the form of preliminary
objection (b) that has been raised on behalf of the 3rd to 5th respondents.
The said is simply that the notice marked P15 is not a decision or
determination amenable towrit of certiorari. In this connection, the attention
of Court hasbeen invited to the seminal and oft cited speech of Lord Atkin
in R v. Electricity Commissioner ex parte London Electricity Joint
Committee Company Ltd (4) at 205,pronouncing that -

Wherever any body of persons having legal authority to
determine questions affecting the rights of subjects, and having
the duty to act judicially, act in excess of their legal authority they
are subject to the controlling jurisdiction of the King sBench Division
exercised in these Writs [emphasis added]

Learned Deputy Solicitor General has submitted that it is trite law that
a writ will issue only where the decision-maker has determinedquestions
affecting the rights of subjects,but the Section 2 notice marked P15 does
not contain any such determination. Learned D. S. G.has referred us to
certain decisions relating to Commission of Inquiry such as De Mel v. De
Silvaf51, Dias v. Abeyawardensf61 and Fernando v. Jayaratne (7) holding in
essence that only a determination which directly or inevitabley results in
the legal rights of a subject beingaffected is amendableto writ of certiorari.
In the last of the above mentioned cases,Sharvanada J (as he then was)
observed at page 129 of the judgement that-

*

A
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* The only power that the Commissioner has is to inquire and
make a report and embody thereinhis recommendations. He has
no power of adjudication in the sense of passing an order which
can be enforced proprio vigore, nor does he make a judicial
decision.The report of the respondent has no binding force ; it is
not a step in consequence of which legally enforceable rights
may be created or extinguished.

In G. P. A.Silva & Others v.Sadique and Others (8), it was held that as
the impugned decisionhad no effect proprio vigoreno writ shall lie against
suchadecision.However, in Bandaranaike v. Weeraratne (9|writ of certiorari
was issued on the basis that-

Although, the writs will not normally issue to abody havingno
power tomakeabindingdetermination,they have issued topersons
and bodies making reports and recommendations that acquire
legal force after adoption or confirmation or other consequential
action by another body [emphasis added]

The Court reasoned that once the Special Presidential Commission of
Inquiry determined that aperson was guilty, there was nothingmore left to
be done than the adoption of that decision by the executive and the
legislature, Similarly in Mendis, Fowzie & Others v. Goonewardena and
G. P. A. Silva (10) Vythialingam, J. after an extensive survey of the case
law, held that a writ should lie against the decision of the Commission of
Inquiry as it had force proprio vigore.

In the instant case, the order sought to be quashed by certiorari is the
notice exhibited under Section 2 of the Land Acquisition Act markedP15.
It is clearly not a decision or order which has force proprio vigore. In the
scheme of the Land Acquisition Act, a Section 2 notice only facilitates an
authorized officer to enter into a land and determine whether such a land
is suitable for the public purpose for which the land is required. Thus the
Section2notice by itself does not affect the right of any person to his land
except to the limited extent of permitting the authorised officer to enter
upon the said land and consider its suitability for acquisition, which is a
very preliminary stage of the entire process. Therefore, if the Minister
considers that aparticular land is suitable for apublic purpose, he directs
the acquiring officer in terms of Section 4(1) of the Act to publish a notice
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calling for written objections to the intended acquisition, and after
considering such objections, if any, and the relevant Minister s observations
on such objections, the Minister has todecide in terms of Section 4(5) of
the Act whether such land should be acquired or not. It is thereafter that a
written declaration that such land is needed for a public purpose is made
by the Minister and published in the Gazette as required by Section 5 of
the Act. It is for this reason that this Court in Gunasekara v. The Principal,
MR/Godagama Anagarkika Dharmapala Kanishta Vidyalaya andOtherd *held that an application for a writ of certiorari to quash a Section 2 notice
under the Land Acquisition Act was premature and thereby upheld the
preliminary objections to that effect. As Shiranee TilakawardenaJ. observed
at page 7 and 8 of her judgment-

Another matter that is relevant to this application is that at the
time of filing of this application the acquisition proceedings were
at an initial stage, and only notice under Section 2 of the Land
Acquisition Act had been issued. A notice in terms of Section 2
of the Land Acquisition Act is issued when the Minister decides
that the land in any area is needed for any public purpose. The
Section 2(1)notice is issued with the objective of makinga survey
of a land and making boundaries thereon andtodetermine whether
a land would be found within its parameters that would be suitable
for the public purpose of the said Act."

Justice Tilakawardene went on to hold in this case that the application
for writ of certiorari was premature in the circumstances of that case, and
should be dismissed in limine, Similarly, in Lucian de Silva v. Minister of
Landd' 2' and Wickremasinghe v. Minister of Lands (,3>, it was held that
steps taken under Section 2 of the Land Acquisition Act are only
investigative in character, and that it is premature to invoke the writ
jurisdiction of our courts with a view of quashing a Section 2 notice.

Learned Counsel for the petitioner has in this connection drawn the
attention of Court to the judgment of the Supreme Court in ManelFernando
v. Jayaratne (14). That was a fundamental rights application filed in the
Supreme Court under Article 126of theConstitutionM. D. H. Fernando J.
after carefully analyzing the relevant provisions of the Land Acquisition
Act held that the Section 2 notice in that case was bad in law insofar as it
did not disclose the particular publicpurpose for which the land was sought
to be acquired. His Lordship observed at page 126-
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Section(2)2 required thenotice to state that one or more acts
may be done in order to investigate the suitability of that land for
that public purpose” : obviously that public purpose cannot be
an undisclosed one. This implies that the purpose must be
disclosed.Fromapractical point of view,it an officer acting under
Section 2(3)(i) does not know the public purpose,he cannot fulfill
his duty of ascertaining whether any particular land is suitable for
that purpose.

Likewise, the object of Section 4(3) is to enable the owner to
submit his objections which would legitimately include an objection
that his land is not suitable for thepublic purpose which the state
has in mind, or that there are other andmore suitable lands. That
object wouldbe defeated,as there wouldbeno meaningful inquiry
intoobjections,unless the public purpose is disclosed. If the public
purposehas tobe disclosedat that stage, there is no valid reason
why it should not be revealed at the Section 2 stage.

In my view, the scheme of the Act requires a disclosure of the
public purpose, and its objects cannot be fully achieved without
such disclosure. A Section 2noticemust state thepublic purpose
• although exceptions may perhaps be implied in regard to
purposes involving national security and the like."

Although Martel Fernando's case (Supra) was a fundamental rights
application which was not circumscribed by the parameters enunciated
by Lord Atkin in the Electricity Commissionerscase (Supra) as developed
by our Courts in the decisions mentioned above, I find that the above
quoted dicta of Fernando, J. support the view that a Section 2 notice is
exhibited to facilitate investigation into the suitability of the land, and that
it would be premature to challenge a Section 2 notice which sets out the
particular public purpose for which the land isneeded, at a stage prior to a
decision being made by the Minister under Section 4(5) of the Land
Acquisition Act that the land in question shouldbe acquired.Iam satisfied
that the Section 2 notice marked P15 which is sought to be quashed in
these proceedings clearly sets out the particular public purpose for which
the land is needed,namely for the wideningof thePelmadulla - Embilipiitiya
highway,and is therefore not afflictedby themalady that was sought tobe
remedied inManelFernandos case (Supra) ,Itherefore upholdpreliminary
objection (b) raised by the learned Deputy Solicitor General and dismiss
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this application. There shall be no order of costs in all the circumstances
of this case. «

SRISKANDARAJAH,J. Iagree.
Application dismissed.

ALIMA UMMA
vs

SIYANERIS

COURT OF APPEAL,
AMARATUNGA,J.,
C. A. 1359/2002
D. C. KURUNEGALA 5538/L
NOVEMBER 12, 2005

Civil Procedure Code, sections27, 87(B) and 87(1)(3)-Plaintiff absent - Counsel
and registered attorney present - Dismissal of action under section 87(1) - Is it
lawful?

On the trial date the plaintiff was absent and her registered attorney and
counsel were present and were ready to start the plaintiff s case, The objection
taken by the defendant that since the plaintiff has failed to appear, the action
has to be dismissed under section 87(1) was upheld.

The plaintiff moved in revision.

HELD.
(i) In terms of section 24 of the Code, the registered attorney or an attorney

at law instructed by the registered attorney can represent a party to the
action in court. If the registered attorney is in court and represents the
party, that is an appearance for the party even if the party isnot physically
present in court. Court cannot dismiss the action for the absence of the
party.

APPLICATION in revision from the order of the District Court of Kurunegala.

Case referred to :
1. Anandappa Chettiar vs Sanmugam Chettiar (DB) 33 NLR217
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Upali de Almeida with Anna de Almeida for plaintiff respondent.
Jacob Joseph for defendant respondent

Cur.adv.vult

October 15, 2004
• GAMINI AMARATUNGA,J,

This is an application to revise two orders made on 26.02.2001 and
22.05.2002 by the District Court of Kurunegala. The plaintiff filed action
against the defendant to recover possession of the premises she had let

to the defendant. The position of the defendant was that the property
belonged to him by virture of prescriptive possession. After issues were
framed the trial was fixed for 26.02.2001. On that day the plaintiff didnot

attend but her registered attorney and counsel representedher in court.
The plaintiff s witnesses too were present and the counsel for the plaintiff

was ready to start the plaintiffs case. The counsel for the defendant has
submitted that since the plaintiff has failed to appear, the actionhad to be

j dismissed under section 87(1) of the Civil Procedure Code. The learned
• counsel for the plaintiff hadpointed out to Court the provisions of Section
27 of the Code, but the learned Additional District Judge had dismissed
the plaintiff's action under Section 87(1) of the Code.

Thereafter, the plaintiff has tendered a notice of appeal. Having given
thenotice of appeal, theplaintiff hasalso filedan application under Section
87(B) to have the order purported tohave been made under Section87(1)

set aside and also to get the order set aside on the basis that the said
order had been made per irtcuriam and that under Section 839 of the
Code, the Court had power to set is aside.

The learned District Judge had held an inquiry into the application. The

, learnedDistrict Judge inhis order has stated that since the appearance of
the registered attorney and the counsel was an appearance for the party,
it was not open to the plaintiff to seek relief under Section 87(3) of the
Code.This is a correct conclusion. However in fairness to the attorney at

law who filed the application under Section 87(3) it must be stated that the
application under Section 87(3) has been made in view of the learned

y* Additional District Judge s specific reference in her order to Section 87(1).
The learned District Judge has also come to the conclusion that the order
of the Additional District Judge was list an order madeper irtcuriam, and

that hehad no jurisdiction to set it aside. Accordingly, the application was
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dismissedby order dated22.05.2202. The plaintiff has filed this revision
application on 02.08.2002 seeking to have orders dated 26.02.2001 and
22.05.2002 set aside.

In the written submissions filed in this Court on behalf of the defendant
it is stated that since the revision application has been made more than
one year after the order of 26.02.2001,the plaintiff was guilty of laches and
accordingly she is not entitled to any relief by way of revision.

In terms of Section 24 of the CivilProcedure Code,the registeredattorney
or anattorney at law instructedby the registered attorney can represent a
party to the action in Court. If the registered attorney is in Court and
represents the party in Court, that is an appearance for the party even if
the party is not physically present in Court. Andiappa Chettiar vs
Sanmugam Chettiar,1' ). in such a situation a Court cannot dismiss the
action for the absence of the party.

In the instant case the Court s orderdismissingthe action of theplaintiff
under Section87(1) was clearly wrong. In making its order the Court has
turned a blind eye to Section 24 of the Code,citedby the learnedcounsel
for the plaintiff, to show that the situation did not come within Section
87(1).By the Court s failure to consider the legal submission made by the
counsel for theplaintiff andby theacceptanceof thewronglegalsubmission
madeby the counsel for the defendant, the Court has brought into existence
a wrongorder whichhas causedinjustice andgraveprejudice to theplaintiff.
This Court s revisionary powers and inherent powers are wide enough to
remedy the injustice caused to the plaintiff by the wrong order made by
Court.

The learned District Judge who made the order dated 22.05.2002,was
rightly of opinion that in the circumstances that existed on 26.02.2001,
the order dismissing the plaintiffs action under Section 87(1) was wrong.
However he hasdeclined to interfere with that order on the ground that he
did not have jurisdiction to set it aside as it was not an order made per
incuriam. However, as I have pointed out earlier the learned Additional
District Judge s order dismissing the action under Section 87(1) hadbeen
made without considering a clear provision of Law, that is Section 24 of
the Code. To that extent it is an order made per incuriam.

For the reasons set out above,Ihold that the plaintiff petitioner is entitled
to the relief claimed by this application. Accordingly, I allow the revision

>
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application and set aside the order dated 22.05.2002 and the order of
26.02.2001 dismissing the plaintiff's action andmake order restoring the
plaintiff s case to the trial roll. The learned District Judge of Kurunegala is
hereby directed to proceed with the action from the point it was on
26.02.2001. The defendant-respondent shall pay a sum of Rs. 10,000 to
the plaintiff-petitioner as costs of this revision application and depending
on the outcome of the action this cost is to be recovered or set off at the
end of the action.

Application allowed.

EDIRIWEERA
VS

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

COURT OF APPEAL
BALAPATABENDI,J.
WIJERATNE.J. AND
DE ABREW, J.
C.A(PHC)25/2005
H.C.COLOMBO NO.955/2002
JYLY 13 AND 20TH,2002

Penal Code, sections 32, and 380 - Robbery -Convicted - Bail pending appeal
referred by High Court - Criminal Procedure Code, section 404-Bail Act, No. 30
of 1997-Jurisdiction of the Court of Appeal to grant bail- Exceptional
circumstances? - Could the order of the High Court be revised?

The accused -appellant - petitioner was convicted of the offence of robbery of
gold and sentenced to a term of 10 years R. I. and a fine. The application for

bail made to the High Court was refused. The accused appellant thereafter
moved the Court Appeal for bail. The exceptional circumstances urged were
(a) that the petitioner is suffering from a rare blood condition where he must be
treated in a hospital where such facilities are available. (2) disruption of his

studies (3) that appeal would take time.

w- HELD
BALAPATABENDI,J.WIJEYARATNE,J.AND ABREW,J.
(1) It is a settled principle that the release of a person on bail pending

appeal to the Court of Appeal will only be granted in exceptional circumstances.
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Per Abrew, J.
If the High Court Judge's order is correct, that there are no exceptional

circumstances the order cannot be revised. Revisionary powers should be
exercised where a miscarriage of justice has occurred due to a fundamental
rule of procedure being violated, but only when a strong case is made out
amounting to a positive miscarriage of justice.
Balapatabendi, J. and Wijeyaratne, J.

(i) It is to be noted that the respondent has not denied the fact that the
accused appellant needs specialised treatment as stated in the
Medical Certificate and such treatment could not be given by the Prisons
Authorities in the Prisons Hospital or in a hospital.

(ii) In the Court of Appeal it will take at least more than one year for this
appeal to be taken up - so that the final determination of the appeal
may take many years and it could be considered as a long delay to
determine the appeal.

(iii) Important points of law namely - common intention and actus reus not
been applied in evaluating the evidence by the High Court, the position
taken up in the judgment that the 2nd accused appellant was caught V
red handed is questionable.

(V) The father of the accused appellant had been a cancer patient when
this application was filed and had been recommended by Professor
Silva, to allow the accused appellant to see his father on humanitarian
grounds.

The matters above could be considered as exceptional circumstances.

Abrew, J dissenting :
{ i) There is no evidence before Court that the petitioner ' s health »

condition cannot be treated either at the prison hospital or at any
hospital in Sri Lanka.

(ii) Delay in preparation of the appeal brief and the delay in taking up the
argument - considering the facts of this case-do not come under the •
category of exceptional circumstances.

APPLICATION for bail pending appeal.

Cases referred to :
1. Q vs Rupasinghe Perera - 62 N LR 238
2. K vs Keerata - 48NLR 202
3. Qvs Cornells Silva - 74NLR 113
4. Salahudeen vs Attorney General 77NLR 262.
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5. Jayantha Silva vs Attorney General - (1997) 3 Sri LR 117
6. Ramuthamotheram Pillai vs Attorney General - SC 141/75
7. Vanik Incorporation LTd. vs Jayasekera (1997) 2 Sri LR 365
8. Q vs Liyanage - 65 NLR 289 at 291
9. King vs Mathuratta - 54 NLR 493
10. Kamal Addaraarachchi vs Attorney General (2000)3 Sri LR 393
11. R vs Cooray - 51 NLR362
12. Harbajan Singh vs State of Punjab (1977) Cr LR 1424

Dr. Ranjith Fernando for accused appellant petitioner.
Yasantha Kodagoda, Senior State Counsel for Attorney General.

Cur.adv.vult.
August 2, 2005
SIS1RA DE ABREW,J.- (Dissenting)

The accused appellant - petitioner(petitioner)was convicted of the offense
of robbery of gold valued at Rs. 2,928,720. and sentenced to a term of 10
years rigorous imprisonment on 30.03.2004 by the learned High Court of
Colombo. In addition to the above sentence a fine of Rs.5000 was also
imposed in default of which a term of 2 years imprisonment was imposed.

Being aggrieved by the said conviction and sentence the petitioner preferred
an appeal to this court. After the conviction the petitioner made an
application for bail pending appeal, which application was refused by the
learned High Court Judge on 31.01.2005. Being aggrieved by the said
order the petitioner preferred the present application for bail to this court.

The learned High Court Judge refused the application for bail on the
ground that the petitioner had not established exceptional circumstances.
It is necessary to consider whether the refusal of the application for bail by
the learned High Court Judge on the said basis was correct or not. In
deciding this question it is pertinent to consider whether the Bail Act, No.
30 of 1997 (the Bail Act) had taken away the requirement to establish
exceptional circumstances in grating bail pending appeal. In Queen VS
Rupasinghe Pereram Basnayake CJ with Sansoni J and Sinnathamby J
agreeing remarked as follows Bail is not granted by the Court of Criminal
Appeal unless there are exceptional circumstances . Same view was
expressed in King Us Keerala (2> Queen Vs Cornells Silva(3> Salahudeen
Us Attorney Generalw Jayantha Silva Vs the Attorney General Ramu
Thamotheram Pillai UsAttorney General (Considered by Gunasekara J
in Jayanthi Silva s case.)
3 -CM6576
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Thus it is seen from the above judicial decisions, to release a convicted
prisoneron bail there must be exceptional circumstances. Since the above
cases are decided prior to the enactment of the Bail Act, it is safe to
conclude that the requirement to establish exceptional circumstances in
an application for bail pending appeal existed even prior to the enactment
of the Bail Act.

Since I am dealing with the legality of the order of the learned High
Court Judge it is necessary to consider the relevant provisions which vested
power with the High Court. Therelevant provision is section 333(3)of the
Criminal Procedure Code which reads as follows. When an appeal against
aconviction is lodged, the High Court may subject to subsection (4) admit
the appellant to bail pending the determination of the appeal be treated in
such manner as may be prescribed by rules made under the Prisons
Ordinance. So when Court granted bail pending appeal under section
333(3) of the CriminalProcedure Code, convicted prisoners were released
onbail only in exceptional circumstances. It is now necessary to consider
whether the statutory provisions relating togranting of bailhave undergone
any changes after the enactment of the Bail Act. The relevant provision of
the Bail Act is section 20(2) which reads as follows.

When an appeal against a conviction by a High Court is preferred, the
High Court may subject to subsection (3) release the appellant on bail
pending the determination of his appeal. An appellant who is not released
on bail shall, pending the determination of the appeal be treated in such
manner as may be prescribed by rules made under the Prisons Ordinance."
It is therefore seen that section 333(3) of the Criminal Procedure Code
was in terms identical with section 20(2) of the Bail Act. Thus, statutory
provisions relating to granting of bail prior to and after the enactment of
the Bail Act remain unchanged. Therefore requirement to establish
exceptional circumstances to grant bail pendingappeal should exist even
after the enactment of the Bail Act. I therefore hold that the learned High
Court Judge was correct when he concluded that there must be exceptional
circumstances to release a convicted prisoner on bail.

If the learned High Court Judge s order on this point is correct, should it
be revised? Revisionary powers shouldbe exercised where a miscarriage
of justice has occurred due to a fundamental rule of procedure being
violated, but only when a strong case is made out amounting to a positive
miscarriage of justice. Vide Vanik Incorporation Ltd7) Vs Jayasekara.

X

*
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* Applying the principle laid down in the above case to the issue in
question,Ihold that the question of revision of the said order of the learned
High Court Judge does not arise for consideration.On this ground alone
petition of the petitioner should be dismissed.

In the case of KingVs Keerala (Supra) Wijewardena Jheld that this
Court (the Court of Criminal Appeal) does not grant bail in the absence of
exceptional circumstances In Queen Vs Rupasinghe Perera (Supra)
Basnayake CJ with SansoniJand Sinnathamby Jagreeing remarked as
follows Bail is not granted by the Court of Criminal Appeal unless there
are exceptional circumstances”. In Queen Vs Comelis Silva (Supra) 113
the accusedhad been convicted of the offence of attemptedmurder and
sentenced to terms of four years rigorous imprisonment.The appellant s
application for bail pending appeal was refused on the ground that no
exceptional circumstances had been established. In Salahudeen Vs
Attorney General (Supra) the accused had been sentenced to a term of
three years rigorous imprisonment ona conviction for attemptedculpable

* homicide. Samarawickrama J refusing the appellant s application for bail
observed as follows. It is a settled principle that the release of aprisoner
on bail pending an appeal to the Court of Criminal Appeal will only be
granted in exceptional circumstances”. In Ramu Thamotheram PillaiVs
Attorney General (Supra) (Consideredby GunasekaraJin JayanthiSilva s
case) the application for bail made on behalf of the appellant who was
sentenced toa term of 7 years rigorous imprisonment was refused on the
groundthatnoexceptionalcircumstanceshadbeen established.In Jayanthi
Silva Vs the Attorney General (Supra) GunasekaraJheldas follows. Over
the years a principlehas evolved through judicialdecisions that bail pending
appeal from conviction by Supreme Court would only be granted in
exceptional circumstances”. On a consideration of the above judicial
decisions, it seems tome that the release of a prisoner on bail pending an
appeal to the Court of Appeal will only be granted in exceptional
circumstances.This position remains unchanged even if the application is
made under Section 404 of the Criminal Procedure Code. I have earlier
pointed out that the requirement to establish exceptional circumstances
to grant bail pending appeal exists even after the enactment of the Bail
Act, No.30 of 1997.For the above reasons,I hold that an application for

W" bail pending appeal will be allowed only in exceptional circumstances. It
now remains for me to consider whether the petitioner has established
exceptional circumstances.The petitioner has submitted following grounds
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as exceptional circumstances, (a) The petitioner is suffering from a rare
blood condition requiring regular and frequent medical treatment and he
must be treated in a hospital where such facilities are available, (b)
Disruption of his studies; (c) Preparation of appeal brief would take time;
and (d) The delay in taking up the appeal for argument.

Learned counsel for the petitioner produced medical certificate P6 in
support of ground (a) above. But P6 does not state that the petitioner s
health condition cannot be treated in a hospital in Sri Lanka. There is no
evidence before this court that the petitioner's health condition cannot be
treated either at theprison hospitaloralany hospital in SriLanka. Therefore
ground (a) above does not come under exceptional circumstances. With
regard to ground (b)above, learned counsel for the petitionerhas submitted
a diploma certificate marked P7. The petitioner completed his diploma in
May2000. The petitioner was convicted on 30.03.2004. There is noevidence
to suggest that the petitioner has engaged in any studies after his diploma
in May 2000. Therefore ground (b) above does not fall within the category
of exceptional circumstances.

Ground nos (c) and(d)above are the delay in preparation of the appeal
brief and the delay in taking up the appeal for argument.

In QueenVs Rupasinghe Perera(supra) the main ground urgedin support
of the application (bail pending appeal) wasthat the hearing of the appellant s
appeal was likely to be delayed as the preparation of the transcript of
short hand notes of the proceedings was likely to take more than usual
time owing to the length of the trial in the course of which over 100witnesses
were examined and more than 400 exhibits were produced. Basnayake
CJ remarked as follows The applicant has not satisfied court that this is a
case in which we should take the exceptional andunusual course of granting
bail". The application for bail in that case was refused.

A

When the principles laid down in the above case are applied to the
facts of this case ground nos (c) and (d) do not come under category of
exceptional circumstances.

The other ground urged bythe counsel for the petitioner may be set out
as follows, (a) The subject matter of the robbery was fully recovered ; (b)
There is no claimant for the subject matter of the charge (items of gold);
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(d) The petitioner was convicted on the basis of common intention ; The
• petitioner is prepared to furnish two sureties of very high professional*

standing.

These grounds, in my view, are not exceptional grounds to release the
prisoner on bail.

For the above reasons, I hold that the petitioner has not adduced
exceptional circumstances to grant bail. I therefore refuse the application
for bail and dismiss the petition of the petitioner.

Application dismissed

JAGATH BALAPATABENDI, J.

The 1st accusedand the 2nd accused - appellant had been found guilty
for a charge of robbery under section 380 of the Penal Code read with
section 32, and they were sentenced to 10 years R, I in addition to a fine
of Rs.5000.

The application made by the 2nd accused - appellant for bail pending
theappeal, hadbeen refusedby the learnedHighCourt Judge on 13.01.2005.

This application was made by the 2nd accused - appellant on the
26.01.2005 under section 404 of the Criminal Procedure Act, against the
order of the learned High Court Judge, praying that the accused - appellant
be enlarged on bail pending the appeal, on the grounds averred in the
petition. The grounds averred as exceptional circumstances before the
learned High Court Judge were refused on the following reasons

. (1)No documents were tendered in support of :

(a) the accused -appellant pursuing his studies,
(b) the incarceration of the accused - appellant would disrupt his

education
(c) the ill - health of the accused - appellant.

* (2) No material placed to satisfy Court that there would be long delay for
the appeal to be heard.



32 Sri Lanka Law Reports (2006) 1 Sri L R.

(3)The chances of succeeding in the appeal would be very remote as the
accused appellant was caught red - handed'.

Section 2 of the Bail Act No. 30 of 1997 states as follows

Subject to the exception as hereinafter provided for in this Act, the
guiding principle in the implementation of the provisions of this Act
shall be, that the grant of bail shall be regarded as the rule and the
refusal to grant bail as the exception. .

In the case Queen Vs. LiyanageIB) it was observed by Sansoni J. that
Even if our discretion to grant bail is unfettered it must still be judicially

exercised” . It proceeded to state further at page 293 as follows : But it is
not to be thought that the grant of bail shouldbe the rule and refusal of bail
should be the exception where serious non - bailable offences of this sort
are concerned, bail is in such cases granted only in rare instances and for
strong and special reasons, as for instance, where the prosecution case
in prima- facie weak” .

In the case of Salahudeen vs. Attorney General <4) it was stated that “ It
is settled principle that the release of a prisoner on bail pending an appeal
to the Court of Criminal Appeal will only be granted in exceptional
circumstances.

X

In Ramu Thamotherampillai vs. Attorney General Vythelingam.J
affirmed the principle that the Court would require the appellant to show
the existence of exceptional circumstances to warrant the grant of bail
pending appeal” .

As aforesaid the SriLanka Courts have consistently held that bail pending
appeal wouldnot be granted unless there were exceptional circumstances
shown to exist

Eg. KingVs MathurattafKingVs Keeraiai2 )QueenVs Coranelis Silvaf7'1

In the case of Kamal Addarachchi Vs Attorney Genera1, the Court took
into consideration that the preparation of the appeal briefs and hearing of
the appeal would take a considerable period of time, and it was treated as
an exceptional circumstance' to grant bail.

In RexVs Cooray bail was granted on the ground of ill-health, that the
accused - appellant was not likely to abscond and the complexity of the
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case. So that, it is clear the existence of exceptional circumstances would
• depend on the facts and circumstances of each case.

In the case of Harbhagan Singh Vs. State of Punjab it was held that
the factors which the Appellate Court is to consider in an application for
bail pending appeal were (a) whether a prima facie ground exists for
substantial grounds for believing that the convicts committed the offences
in question, or (c) whether the circumstances are such as likely to delay
the decision of the appeal for an unreasonable time. It would afford scant
satisfaction to the accused if after serving their full or substantial portion
of their jail sentence their appeal succeeds and they are merely acquitted
of the charge. This factor cannot be ignored and should be one of the
considerations for granting bail.

Now I would like to deal with the grounds averred by the accused -
appellant, in his application for bail pending appeal.

(a)Theaccused- appellant had alleged that he is suffering from arare-
blood condition and getting treatment for Vasculties and atop/ from
Dr. Chandima de Mel, a Consultant Physician, and he needs tobe followed
up at a specialized medical facility. (Vide the medical certificate dated
04.09.2004)

It is to be noted upto date the respondent has not denied the fact that
the accused-appellant needs specialized treatment as stated in the medical
certificate, and such treatment could not be given by the Prison authorities
in the Prison Hospital or in a hospital.

Theother point tobe noted is from our experience in the Court of Appeal
we note that it will at least take more than one year for this appeal to be

« taken - up, and at present we hear the appeals lodged in 2001, 2002 and
2003; further at present we have fixed appeals up to March, 2006.

So that, the final determination of this appeal may take many years,
and it could be considered as a long delay to determine this appeal.

0* The learned High Court Judge had mentioned in his order the fact that
the chanoes of succeeding the appeal were remoteasthe accused-appellant
had been caught red-handed
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On the point, I would like to refer to the page 33 of the judgment, which
contains as follows:-

gsnef <;G@gsod ODzsfSo <pn>o sssigsrf GaznoOdeSozsf e® q©dOws8?88>

Sg<S. serf qais) fi§<§ oobesecs aengd cDoSeosg cX)0 »jgg@es)Ef
eozrfg {few? 86d ento®® soagfioO u* ficaeo 8d dOcsO
$x>w&> (fiiS). s®eei eoogd SeOoScsa sag< <3 OjS-dsgsesf geesn ax5
ssxiS oS {pad SdSacid <; d ca®«)dDecasrf gdrocad cpcaD ezyo8&t&. szasd
oOs)N Qs)d <; s®ged ODdaco coded 1 £>zn g za SOG (fecad caadiiadjOd
®<Sd nto 1 caeo 2 g sxaded gjaaos Ogd c;afzr>0 {ftzs.

The above paragraph reveals, the 1st accused took the parcel of gold
from the witness Lenus de Mel which fact the 1st accused as well as the
2ndaccused - appellant had admitted.

Did the 2nd accused-appellant share the common intention of the act
done by the 1st accused under Section 32 as charged ? And whether
there had been only a actus-reus of the 1st accused without the mens-
rea. These important points of law had not been applied on evaluation of
the evidence by the learned High Court Judge. The position taken up in the
judgment that the 2nd accused - appellant was caught red-handed is
questionable.

Further, I would like to advert our minds to the fact that the accused -
appellant was only 21 years of age when the offence was committed with
the principal offender the 1st accused. The father of the accused - appellant
had been a cancer patient when this application was filed. Videthe letter
by the Prof. H. J. De Silva, dated 22.03.2005 where he had recommended
to allow the accused-appellant to visit his father a cancer patient on
humanitarian grounds.

Thus, thereasonsmentioned above couldbeconsideredas exceptional
circumstances to release the accused-appellant on bail pending the
appeal.

The accused-appellant is released on bail in a sum of Rs. 75,000 in
cash with two sureties namely - Professor S. B. Hettiarachchi and
Ediriweera Weerawardena, In addition, I direct the mother of the
accused-appellant namely Induruwage Dona Chandarani Jayanthi
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Gunatillake Ediriweera to stand as a surety,on a surety bond in a sum of
Rs.100,000. Also the accused-appellant is directed to report to the 0.1.C.
of Panadura Police last Saturday of every month, till the appeal is
determined.

WIJEYARATNE, J. - 1 agree
Application allowed ;
Bail granted by majority decision.

Application allowed

PATHMASIRI AND ANOTHER
VS

BABY AND ANOTHER

COURT OF APPEAL
DISSANAYAKE,J.AND
SOMAWANSA,J.
CA 160/90F DC KEGALLE No.: 22142/P
APRIL.11 AND
JUNE 12,2003 AND
OCTOBER 3,2004

Partition Law, No. 21 of 1977 - Exclusion sought - Prescriptive possession -
Co-owners possession - Acquiring of rights to a divided lot? - Adverse
possession - Ouster

The plaintiff respondent instituted action to partition the land in question. The
contesting 2nd and 3rd defendant appellants sought an exclusion of the lots
they were in possession on the basis that the lots consist of a different land.
The trial court held with the plaintiff respondent.
On appeal :

Held:

Mere possession of a specified portion of co-owned property for convenience
x cannot constitute an adverse possession although he possessed the specified

portion for more than 50 years.
APPEAL from the judgment of the District Court of Kegalle.
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Cases referred to :
1. Tilakaratne vs. Bastian - 21 NLR 114 (FB)
2. Corea vs Appuhamy - 15 NLR 65
3. Hamidu Lebbe vs Ganitha - 27 NLR 33
4. Simon Perera vs. Jayatunga - 71 NLR 338 ,
5. Sediris Appuhamy vs. Jamis Appuhamy - 60 NLR 297
6. Gunawardena v Samara Koon - 60 NLR 481

J.C. Boange for 2A and 3A defendant appellants.
Mahinda Nanayakkara for plaintiff respondent.

Cur. adv. vult.
October 03, 2003.
A.M.SOMAWANSA.J.

The plaintiff - respondent instituted the instant action in the District Court
of Kegalle seeking a partition of the land called and known as
Badaheladeniya Hena morefully described in the schedule to the plaint

and depicted as lots 1 to 5 in plan No. 4056 dated 10.05.1979 preparedby
C.K. Badewella marked X. The contesting 2nd and 3rd defendants
appellants (now substituted) sought an exclusion of the lots 1 and 2 from
the corpus on the basis that the said lots 1 and 2 consist of another land
called andknownas Peellagawahena . They also averred that Siri,Meniki,
Kudaduraya and Hapumentioned in the plaint as the plaintiff-respondent s
vendors by deed No. 42857 marked 2D2 conveyed this land to Sittiya the
father of the 2nd and 3rd defendants - appellants and on the basis of
exclusive possession by the said Sittiya and on his death by the 2nd and
3rddefendants -appellants that they have acquired prescriptive rights to
lots 1 and 2 in plan marked X.

Parties went to trial on 11 points of contest and at the conclusion of the
trial the learned District Judge by his judgment dated 22.02.90 held with
the plaintiff - respondent. It is from the said judgment that the 2nd and 3rd
defendants - appellants (now substituted)have preferred this appeal.

At thehearing of this appeal the counsel for the 2nd and 3rd defendants-
appellants contended that the learned District Judge erred and misdirected w
himself when he stated that there is no evidence of execution of deeds or
possession according to a plan and accordingly the land remains co¬

owned and so ordered a partition of the entire land. He submits that there
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is no necessity to have cross deeds or a partition plan but the question of
ouster has to be decided as a question of fact. That in the instant case
there are distinct boundaries and long continued possession in addition
another name, thus justifying an inference of ouster or that it is a separate
land.

On an examination of the evidence led in this case it is to be seen that
the only evidence available to show that lots 1 and 2 in plan marked x is a
separate land called Peelagawahena" is that of the 2nd defendant -
appellant s evidence and the deed No. 42857 marked2V2. It is to be noted
that Peelagahawahena as described in the schedule to the statement of
claim of the2nd and 3rd defendants is bounded on the east by rock ridge
of Badahaladeniya hena south by Rock of Dangollawatta west and north
by ela. However the land described in the schedule to deed No. 42857
marked 2V2 does not tally with the boundaries given in the schedule to
the statement of claims nor do they tally with the boundaries shown in the
plan marked X. According to the schedule to the statement of claim
Peelagawahena which is alleged to be depicted as lots 1 and 2 in plan
marked X isbounded on the south by the Rock of Dangollawatta. However
according to the plan marked X Dangollawatta is shown as the north
eastern boundary of the corpus and certainly not shown as southern
boundary of lots 1 and 2. The southern boundary of lots 1 and 2 are shown
as Nugawelamulahena. Therefore it appears that when comparing the
boundaries of Peelagahawahena as given in the schedule to the statement
of claim as well as deed 2V2 and 2V3 with the boundaries shown in the
preliminary plan marked X it is apparent that they do not tally.

It appears that the 2nd defendant-appellant under cross examination
admits that northern and western boundaries given in the deeds pertaining
to Badahaladeniya hena are correct. Another factor that came to light
under cross examination is that the extent of the land described' in the
deeds marked 2V2 and 2V3 when compared with the extent of lots t and
2 in plan marked X there is a vast difference.

On a consideration of the evidence led in this case, It appears that the
2nd and 3rd defendants have failed to establish that lots 1 and 2 depicted
in plan marked X do not form part of the corpus but is a separate land
called Peelagawahena. The learned District Judgehas addressedhis mind
to the issues at hand and I would say he has come toa correct finding that
lots 1 and 2 are is not separate land but forms part of the corpus sought to
be partitioned.
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The other matter that needs consideration is the prescriptive rights of
the 2nd and 3rd defendants - appellants to lots 1 and 2 depicted in plan
marked X. However it appears that the only evidence available on this
claim of acquiring prescriptive title to lots 1 and 2 in plan marked X is the
ipse dixit of the2nd defendant - appellant who said that on the death of his
father in 1962 he alone took the produce and possessed lots 1 and 2. As
stated above, lots 1 and 2 form part of the corpus and it is admitted by the
plaintiff respondent that the 2ndand 3rd defendants - appellants are entitled
to certain shares in the land in view of certain deeds which convey rights
to the 2nd and 3rd defendants - appellants. Therefore it follows that the
2nd and 3rd defendants - appellants are co-owners to the land sought to
be partitioned. Except for the ipse dixit evidence of the 2nd defendant -
appellant there was no other evidence forthcoming to establish that he
had prescribed to these two lots. It is very relevant to note that no
suggestions and for that matter no questions were put to the plaintiff-
respondent or the 1st defendant - appellant on the basis of prescriptive
rights claimed by the 2nd and 3rd defendants - appellants.

In the case of Tillekeratne vs. Bastian full Bench of the Supreme
Court considered the meaning of adverse possession in an exhaustive
manner. Possession by one of the co-owners is presumed as the
possession on behalf of all the co-owners however much the length of
time. For one co-owner to acquire prescriptive title against the other co¬

owners. he shall prove ten years exclusive possession after changing the
nature of the possession to one adverse to the title of others.

The leading case on the question of prescriptive possession by co¬

owners is that of Corea vs. Appuham 21in which the Privy Council held
that possession by a co-heir ensures to the benefit of his co-heirs. It was
further held that;

A co-owner s possession is in law the possession of his co-owners,
It is not possible for him to put an end to that possession by any secret
intention in his mind. Nothing short of ouster or something equivalent to
ouster could bring about that result. The whole law of limitation is now
contained in Ordinance, No. 22 of 1871."

In that case the property was belonging to four co-owners jointly. One
Elias Appuhamy who was the owner of certain lands died in July 1878. He
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was not married and died intestate. His heirs were his brother Iseris and
three sisters. His brother Iseris also joined him when he was 10 years old
to look after the interest of property of the deceased. After the death of
some of the sisters of Elais their shares were devolved on their children.
Thereafter when an action was filed topartition the land among co-owners.
Iseris Appuhamy claimed'prescriptive title to the subject matter. His claim
was upheld by the District Court and Supreme Court.

But the Privy Council set aside the judgment and directed to enter
decree for the partition of the land.

Lord Mac Naghten pronouncing the opinion of the Privy Council held as
follows :

Assuming that the possession of Iseris has been undisturbed and
uninterrupted since the date of his entry, the question remains, Has he
given proof ashe was bound to do, of adverse or independent title? His
title certainly was not independent. The title was common to Iseris and
to his three sisters. On the death of Elias, his heirs had unity of title as
well as unity of possession. Then comes the question, Was the
possession of Iseris adverse? TheDistrictJudgeheld that Iseris entered
in the character of sole heir or plunderer. Whichever it was, says the
learned Judge, so he continued, and acknowledged no title in any one
else. He hasacquired agoodprescriptive title. It is difficult tounderstand
why it shouldbe suggested that Iseris may have enteredas plunderer."
He was not without his faults. He is described by the learned Judge
who decided in his favour as a convicted forger and thief, and expert
not only in crime and incarceration, but also in perjury . But it is perhaps
going too far to hold that he was so fond of crooked ways and doing
wrong that hemay have scorned to take advantage of a good legal title
and may have preferred to masquerade as a robber or abandit, andto
drive away the officers of the Court in that character. It is not a likely
story. But would such conduct, were it conceivable, have profited him
entering into possession, and having a lawful title to enter, he could not
divest himself of that title by pretending that he had no title at all. His
must have enured for the benefit of his co-proprietors. The principle
recognized by Wood V.C. in Thomas Vs. Thomas holds good : “

possession is never considered adverse if it can be referred to a lawful
title.
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In the case of Hamidu Lebbevs. Ganitha131 which was a case filed by
the plaintiff for a declaration of title to a half share of a particular land,
which originally belonged to one Kirihatana and in the course of the case
he died leaving two sons, the defendant Ganitha and Suddana. Suddana
had two children Rankira and Ukku, who in 1921 sold to the plaintiff. Trial
Judge dismissed the plaintiff s action on the basis that plaintiff s claim
must fail on the issue of prescription.

In appeal to the Supreme Court Ennis A.C.J. said that :
Where a co-owner of a land seeks to establish prescriptive title

against another by reason of long- continued exclusive possession it
depends on the circumstances of each case where it is reasonable to
presume an ouster from such exclusive possession.

In the written submissions tendered on behalf of the 2nd and 3rd
defendants - appellants counsel has brought to our notice the decision in
Simon Perera vs. JayatungdA) the head note reads as follows : ±

The question whether a co-owner has acquired prescriptive title to a
divided lot as against the other co-owners is one of fact and has to be
determined by the circumstances of each case.

The facts were:

A land was owned in common by members of one family. An
undivided one third share of it was purchased by one B, an outsider,
who was already the owner of an adjoining land. Thereafter, without
execution of any deeds there wasan amicable division among the co¬

owners in pursuance of which B possessed a divided lot exclusively for
nearly thirty years in lieu of her undivided share. She had not only
annexed this lot toher own adjoining land but had also separated it off
from the rest of the common land by erecting a parapet wall of a
permanent nature.

It was held :

That there was sufficient evidence of ouster and that B had acquired,
as against the other co-owners, prescriptive title from the time of ouster
in respect of the lot which she possessed exclusively in pursuance of
the amicable division.
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That casecanbedistinguishedfrom the instant case for in the instant
action other than the bare statement of the 2nd defendant - appellant that
he possessed and took the produce. There is no other evidence like in
that case where a permanent parapet wall had been erected.

In Sediris Appuhamyvs. James Appuhamy*5* Sinnathamby, J went
on to affirm the position that the mere possession of a specific portion of
co-owned property for convenience cannot constitute anadverse possession
although he possessed the specific portion for more than fifty years. A
similar principle was followed in Gunawardenevs. Samarakoon,6>

I must say that unlike me the learned District Judge had the greater
advantage of seeing, hearing and observing the demeanour of the witnesses
who gave evidence. Having analysed and evaluated the evidence led, it
appears to me that on a balance of probability he has come to a correct
finding.

In view of the above reasons, I would dismiss the appeal with costs
fixed at Rs. 5,000.

The Registrar is directed to send the case record to the appropriate
District Court forthwith.

DISSANAYAKE,J. - 1agree,

Appeal dismissed.

*
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RANAWICKREMA
VS

MINISTER OF AGRICULTURE AND LANDS AND OTHERS

COURT OF APPEAL
IMAMJ.AND
SRISKANDARAJAH,J.
C.A.(WRIT) 280/2001
MAY 10, 2005

Writ of certiorari - Land Acquisition Act, sections 2,3 and 4(1) - Section 2 Notice
- Should the land be identified with precision ? - What is a Section 2 Notice ? -
Is it amenable to writ jurisdiction ? - What is the first decisive exercise of discretion
by the Minister ?

Held:

(i) Without identifying a land, if Section 2 Notices are issued on several
lands in an area for the purpose of investigation, it will cause
inconvenience to thepublic andat the same time the Acquiring Authority
may incur unnecessary liabilities under section 3.

(ii) The Land Manual has laid down the procedure to be followed in cases
of acquisition of land for public purposes. The officers of relevant
government departments should conduct a preliminary investigation
before identifying a land for the stated purpose. They should compare
the lands available in the area and identify a land for the said purpose
and after identifying the land only a request could be made to the
relevant Minister for acquisition. The Minister thereafter issues a
direction to the Acquiring Officer of the area, to publish a Section 2
Notice to investigate whether the land identified is suitable for the said
public purpose.

(iii) A Section 2 Notice is a notice to investigate for selecting, a land for a
public purpose. The investigation will not necessarily result in a
subsequent acquisition of that land. This is not a decisive exercise of
discretion by the Minister.

The first decisive exercise of discretion by the Minister, affecting the rights of
a person is at the stage of section 4(1). Seeking a writ of certiorari to quash
a Section 2 Notice or a writ of prohibition is premature and not ripe for
review.
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APPLICATION for a writ of certiorari.

Case referred to :

1.D.C. Jayawardena vs. V.P. Silva - 72 NLR 25

Manohara R de Silva for petitioner

Sanjay Rajaratnam, Senior State Counsel for 1-3 Respondents

S.T. Gunawardena for 4th and 5 th respondents.

Cur. adv. vult.

June 30, 2005
SRISKANDARAJAH,J.

The Petitioner in this application has sought a writ of certiorari to quash
the order marked P4B made by the 1st Respondent and writ of prohibition
restraining and/or prohibiting 1st to the 5th Respondents from taking any
steps to acquire any part of the Petitioner s land.

The petitioner is the owner of the property bearing assessment No. 6
Perris Road, Mt.Lavinia. Thepetitioner and her family are presently living
overseas in the United Kingdom and the said property was rented out until
their return to the Island. The Petitioner s husband is61 years of age and
intends to settle down in Sri Lanka with the Petitioner in a few months
time after retirement. In the month of November or December 2000 the
Petitioner s tenant had received from the 3rd Respondent a registered
letter dated 21.11.2000 P4A addressed to the Petitioner. To this letter a
notice under Section 2 of the Land Acquisition Act is annexed P4B,
informing the Petitioner that the land in the area described in thenotice is
required for a public purpose namely to join the existing road to Peiris

, Road through the land which is available in between the buildings bearing
Nos. 271 and 273 Galle Road. The said land is in extent of 3.56 Perches
a portion of lot 8 depicted in Plan No. 16/95 dated 26.6.1995 marked P5.
The Petitioner submits that the whole exercise is to acquire 3.56 Perches
of the Petitioners land and not to widen the existing road. She further
submits that by this acquisition the benefit will only accrue to premises
No. 259/5A and 259/5. The Petitioner submits that these two lands were
originally one land owned by the 4th Respondent and these two premises
have access from the Galle Road. The purpose of the acquisition of the
Petitioner s land is solely to provide the 4th Respondent access to the
4 -CM6576
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Galle Road through Peiris Road and this acquisition has been initiated by
the 5th Respondent using his political power to the benefit of his father the
5th Respondent.

The Petitioner further submits that as evident from the said Section 2
notice the Respondent proposes to acquire 3.56perches of the Petitioner s
land purportedly on the basis to connect the road which runs between
premises No. 271 and 273 Galle Road, Mt. Lavinia to Peiris Road, But the
Plan P5 filed in this case shows that the existing road is to be widened
from Galle Road up to Peiris Road. However the Section 2 notice only
deals with lot 8 and not lots 1 to 7 depicted in the said plan. This clearly
demonstrates that the whole exercise is to acquire 3.56 perches of the
Petitioner’s land and not to widen the existing road. She further submits
that the Section 2 notice that was published describes with precision the
portion of the land the state intends to acquire from the Petitioner s land.
The said order hastaken away the duty vested on the Acquiring Officer in
ascertaining the suitability of the land for the intended public purpose.
Section 2 notice is published in an area for the purpose of investigating
and as certaining the suitability of the land required for the public purpose
and the notice in question had identified the land in question and therefore
the said notice is of no force or effect in law and hence the notice of the
purported acquisition is unlawful, arbitrary, capricious and mala fide and
had been made without jurisdiction.

The 4th and 5th Respondents in their objections have stated that the
said acquisition isbeing done in order to expand the width of the present
foot path of 3ft. to 10ft. road way for the benefit of the residents of the area
and the members of the public. All the residents of the area whose lands
are being affected by the proposed road wideninghave given their consent
to the said widening whereas the Petitioner is the only party who has
objectedto the said road widening and therefore the 3rd Respondent has
been forced to take the mandatory step of acquiring a minor portion of the
Petitioners land at the request of the local authority. The petition of the
residents of that area P1 and the resolutions passed by the Municipal
Council P2, P3 and P4 are annexed to support this contention.

The 1st to the 3rd Respondents submitted that on an application dated
10th March 2000 forwarded by the Ministry of Provincial Councils, the
Ministry of Lands initiated action to acquire the land in question. The

*

A

*
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predecessor - in - office to the 1st Respondent being satisfied that the
purpose of this acquisition being apublicone gave directions under Section
2 of the said Act. The 1st Respondent submitted that he wasalso satisfied
that the purpose of this acquisition was to extend the road from Gall Road. up to Peiris Road, Mount Lavinia. Hence he directed the 3rd Respondent
the acquiring officer to cause a notice in accordance with section 2(2) of
the Land Acquisition Act. The 3rd Respondent published the said notice
on 22nd November 2000.

*

The submissions of the 1st to the 3rd Respondents are that the said
land is required for widening of the existing road and to connect the same
to the Peiris Road. Further the residents who live along the said road have
given their consent for the takeover of portions of their land to thispurpose.
Therefore there is no necessity to acquire lands to widen the said road.
But a portion of the Petitioner s land was identified for the purpose of
connecting the said road to the Peiris Road for the benefit of the public
and that is why steps are being taken to acquire that portion of the land.

The Petitioner’s contention that the portion of the Petitioner’s land acquired
is for the benefit of the 4th Respondent was denied by the 1st to the 3rd
Respondents.

The Petitioner’s submission that the land that has to be acquired for a
public purpose should not be identified with precision at the stage of
publishing Section 2 notice but it can only be identified after investigating
and ascertaining the suitability of the land required for the public purpose
cannot be accepted. The Land Manual has laid down the procedure that
has tobe followed in case of acquisition of land for public purpose. Clause
248 of the Manual provides for the procedure that has to be followed by a
Government Department or an Authority that needs a land for a public
purpose. It provides that before aGovernment Department or an Authority
make a request for acquisition the officers of the relevant Government
Department or Authority should conduct apreliminary investigation before
identifying a land for that purpose. These officers should compare the
lands available in the area and identifya land for the saidpurpose keeping
in line with the provisions laid down in Clause 248(a) (1) to (12). By this
process the officers of the relevant Government Department or an Authority
have to first identify a land for the said public purpose and after identifying
thelandonly arequest couldbemadeto the Minister of lands for acquisition.

The Minister of lands after the receipt of arequest issues a direction to the
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*acquiring officer of the area in which the said land is situated to publish a
notice as provided in Section 2 to investigate whether the land identified is
suitable for the said public purpose. Without identifying a land, if Section
2 notices are issued on several lands in an area for the purpose of
investigation it will cause inconvenience to the public and at the same
time the acquiring authority may incur unnecessary liabilities under section
3 of the said Act.

The Petitioner in this application is seeking to quash the order P4B
made by the 1st Respondent. The said order is in fact is not an order but
a notice under Section 2 of the Land Acquisition Act. This notice is to
investigate for selecting aland for public purpose.

In D. C. Jayawardana vs. V.PSilva< 1) the court held that certiorari does
not lie against a person unless he has legal authority to determine a
question affecting the rights of subjects and, at the same time, has the
duty to act judicially when he determines such questions.

Administrative Law by H.W.R.Wade & C.F. Foster, Ninth Edition the
authors in pages 611,612 & 613 states :

As the law has developed, certiorari and prohibition have become
general remedies which may be granted in respect of any decisive
exercise of discretion by an authority having public functions, individual
or collective. The matter in question may be an act rather than a legal
decision or determination, such as the grant or refusal of a license, the
making of a rating list on wrong principles, taking over of a school, the
dismissal of employees who have statutory protection, or the issue of a
search warrant. They will lie where there is some preliminary decision,
as opposed to a mere recommendation, which is a prescribed step in a
statutory process which leads to a decision affecting rights even though
the preliminary decision does not immediately affect rights itself

If confusion andcomplication are tobe avoided judicial review must
be accurately forcussed upon the actual existence of power and not
upon the mere preliminaries. The House of Lords perhaps appreciated
this point in refusing to review letters in which a Minister refused to
accept that legislation about unfair dismissal and redundancy pay was
sexually discriminate or contrary to European community law. That
was a case of prematurety, where the issue was not ripe for review .
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In this instant case on an application of the Ministry of Provincial
Councils dated 10th March 2000 to the Ministry of Lands, the Minister of
Lands, the1st Respondent decided under section 2of the Land Acquisition
Act that a land in an area specified in the request is needed for a public
purpose. A notice was published under section 2(2) of the said Act to
investigate a land for selecting a land for the said public purpose. In this
instant the decision of the 1st Respondent under section 2 is that a land in
a specific area is needed for public purpose.To identify a land in that area
for the said public purpose is the function of the requesting Ministry.The
Minister of Lands under section 2 directs the acquiring officer to investigate
by causinga notice under section 2 whether the land identified is suitable
for the said public purpose.The direction of the Minister under section 2 or
the act of theacquiring officer under this section is not adecision affecting y i
the rights of apersonbut an investigation which leads to a recommendation
to the Minister that the said land is either suitable or not suitable for the
saidpurpose.The Minister after considering the suitability of the said land
as provided in section 4(1) of the said Act makes a preliminary decision
to acquire.

The decision that is challenged in this application is P4B, a notice
under section 2 of the Land Acquisition Act to investigate a land and this
investigation will not necessarily result in a subsequent acquisition of that
land.Therefore, this is not a decisive exercise of discretion by the Minister.
The first decisive exercise of discretion by the Minister under the Land
Acquisition Act affecting the rights of a person is made at the stage of
section 4(1) of the said Act. At this stage the person who has an interest
in the land could object to the acquisition of the land as provided by that
section. Therefore, seeking a writ of certiorari to quash a notice under
section 2 of theLand Acquisition Act marked P4B or for a writ of prohibition
at this stage from taking any steps to acquire any part of the Petitioner s
land is premature and not ripe for review. Therefore the court dismisses
this application without costs.
IMAM, J. - 1 agree,

Application dismissed.

Ed. Note.: The Supreme Court in SC SP CA 166/05 on 04.07.2006 refused
Special Leave to the Supreme Court.
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4
JOHN KEELLSLTD.

VS
CEYLONMERCANTILE,INDUSTRIAL AND

GENERAL WORKERS UNION AND OTHERS

COURT OF APPEAL,
SRIPAVAN,J. AND
SRISKANDARAJAH,J.
CA 1531/2003
SEPTEMBER 9 AND OCTOBER 8, 2004

Writ of certiorari - Industrial Disputes Act, section 3 (1) (d)-Arbitration-Just and
equitable concept in Labour Law-Arbitrator not relying on evidence led at

domestic Inquiry-ls it lawful ?-Alternative relief-Loss of confidence-
Circumstances-Evidence Ordinance-Applicability.

The services of the workman, who was employed as an office minor staff was

terminated for misconduct after a domestic inquiry. The dispute was referred

for arbitration and the Arbitrator after inquiry, re-instated the employee with

back wages. The employer petitioner sought to quash the said order on the

basis that (a) it is ultra vires, illegal and null and void, and (b) the Arbitrator had

not considered the evidence of the eye witness and had refused to accept as

evidence in the arbitration proceedings, the evidence given by the virtual
complainant at the domestic inquiry.

Held:

(i) The evidence given before the domestic inquiry was not under oath,
and therefore the truthfulness of the evidence is not established.

Per Sriskandarajah, J.

A charge against a person has to be proved by direct evidence. Hence

reliance cannot be placed in her evidence unless it is before the Arbitrator.
Even though the Evidence Ordinance is not strictly applicable to inquiries
held under the Industrial Disputes Act, the principle behind the admissibility

of evidence should be borne in mind in accepting such evidence. The

purpose of leading direct evidence is to test the credibility of a witness and

to test the truthfulness of the facts given by the witness when giving evidence.

*In the circumstances pleaded, the Arbitrator has correctly come to the
conclusion that the evidence of the virtual complainant given at the domestic
inquiry should not be relied upon in considering the award".
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(ii) There are circumstances, where alternative relief in lieu of
re-instatement is granted even if the workman is not found guilty to
the charge. Instances include where the allegation against the
workman is such that it would not promote harmonious relations
between parties or by this allegation the employer lost confidence
in the workman. The evidence led does not show that the
reinstatement will affect the harmonious relationship between the
parties and further, the workman is only an office minor staff-the
question of loss of confidence would not arise. Further the
allegation of misconduct is not related to his office functions.

APPLICATION for a writ of certiorari.

Gomin Dayasiri with Manoji Jinadasa for petitioner.
Pradeep de Silva for 1 st respondent
Uresha de Silva, State Counsel for 2nd respondent.

Cur.adv.vult

October, 20, 2004
SRISKANDARAJAH, J

The petitioner is a limited liability company in which the workman W. A. S.
Jayaweera was employedas an office minor staff. This workman s service
was terminated for misconduct after adomestic inquiry.The 2nd respondent
made an order under Section 3(1)(d)of the Industrial Disputes Act referring
this dispute to the 3rd respondent who was appointed as the arbitrator.
The workman was represented by his trade union the 1st respondent in
the arbitration proceedings.

The dispute referred for arbitration was as follows : whether the
termination of employment of W. A. S. Jayaweera by John Keelis Limited
is justified ; if not to what relief the said workman is entitled to . After an
inquiry the 3rd respondent made an award on 03.06.2003 wherein he held
that thedismissal of the workman was unjustified and awardedreinstatement
on or before 1st July 2003 with back wages from 01.09.1997 calculated at
Rs. 6,174 per month. This award is marked as X9.

The petitioner submitted that the said award is ultra vires and/or illegal
and/or null and void and/or no force and effect in law and/or excess or
without jurisdiction and therefore it should be quashed for reasons set out
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in Paragraph 15 of the Petition. The counsel for the petitioner submitted
that the arbitrator when coming to the conclusion has not considered the
evidence of an eye witness, namely, Omar who saw Ms. Kotalawala the
female employee of the petitioner with a purple patch on her skirt and the
workman W. A. S. Jayaweera apologizing to her. The counsel further
submitted that this was a major lapse in the consideration of evidence by
the learned arbitrator to determine the justifiability of the termination of
services. The counsel urged that the arbitrator had relied heavily on the
fact that Ms. Kotalawala did not give evidence before him and submitted
that he has erroneously refused to accept as evidence in the arbitration
proceedings, the evidence given by this witness at the domestic inquiry.
Therefore the contention of the counsel was that non consideration of this
material evidence was a complete violation of the just and equitable
concepf in labour law and constitutes an error on the face of the record.

4

The arbitrator in his award has given his reasons for not relying on the
evidence of Ms. Kotalawala (virtual complainant) ledat the domestic inquiry.
According to him a domestic inquiry cannot be considered as a judicial
inquiry and the evidence in a domestic inquiry is not led after administering
oath. Hence reliance cannot be placed in her evidence unless it is led
before the arbitrator. A charge against a person has to beproved by direct
evidence . But the rules of evidence provided in the Evidence Ordinance
permit evidence led in a former judicial proceedings to be led in a
subsequent judicial proceeding in exceptional circumstances where the
witness cannot be found or cannot be brought without unreasonable delay
or expenses or the witness is prevented from givingevidence. Eventhough
the Evidence Ordinance is not strictly applicable to inquiries held under
the Industrial Disputes Act, the principle behind the admissibility of evidence
should be borne in mind in accepting such evidence. The purpose of leading
direct evidence is to test the credibility of a witness and to test the
truthfulness of the facts given by the witness when giving evidence. If this
opportunity is denied toa tribunal then only on exceptional circumstances,

it can accept evidence subject to the aforesaid test.

As observed by the arbitrator, the evidence given before a domestic
inquiry isnot under oath and therefore the truthfulness of the evidence is
not established. In this domestic inquiry the workman against whom the
inquiry was held was not permitted to retain counsel. It appears from the
proceedings that the workman himself was given an opportunity to cross
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A

examine this witness. This may be to comply with the rules of natural
justice. In this instant case the petitioner has sent two letters to Ms.
Kotalawala and thereafter did not make any attempt to summon this
witness and to lead her evidence. The submission of the petitioner is that
all endeavors to summon this witness were made who is nolonger working
in the petitioner s company. The Human Resources Manager, Mithraka
Fernando in his evidence before the arbitrator on 07.11.2001 admitted that
even though letters were sent to Ms. Kotalawala there was no response
from her. He also admitted that he had not taken personal interest in
contacting her over the telephone but he came to know through others
that the witness was threatened and was told not to give evidence. The
petitioner did not call any witness to substantiate this fact.

There is no evidence to prove that this witness was threatened or
preventedfrom givingevidence. According to theHumanResource, Manager
this witness is working in Colombo. In the absence of sufficient proof that
the witness cannot be brought to give evidence it is dangerous to admit
the evidence given by that witness in an earlier proceedings which was not
given under oath or subjected to proper cross examination. Under these
circumstances the arbitrator has correctly come to the conclusion that
the evidence given by Ms. Kotalawala at the domestic inquiry should not
be relied upon in considering the award.

The petitioner further submitted that the arbitrator has failed and
neglected to consider the evidence of the eye witness Omar. The arbitrator
in his award has stated that he has carefully and diligently considered all
the evidence led in the case and was of the considered view that the
company has failed to prove the guilt of the accused workman of the
offense he was charged with.

It appears that the arbitrator has not dealt with the evidence of Omar in
the award but he may have considered this evidence in arriving at his
conclusion. The evidence of Omar in relation to the charge of misconduct
is inpages6and7 of the proceedings before the arbitrator dated 12.01.2000
marked X5. Witness Omar has stated thathis attention was drawn towards
Anusha Kotalawala when she was talking to Jayaweera. This witness
also said that he saw an ink stain in the skirt of Anusha. When he was
questioned whether he saw the incident, he said he saw them only after
the incident. This witness also said that he saw Jayaweera following Anusha
and saying I am sorry Miss Anusha . This witness also said that he did
not seeanything in the hand of Jayaweera. This is the evidence of Omar in
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relation to the incident. From this evidence it appears that he is not aneyewitness to the incident but a person who has seen a conversationbetween Jayaweera and Anusha. The fact that Jayaweera apologized toAnusha cannot be construed as a confession. This witness who claims tohave seen Jayaweera and Anusha immediately after the incident had saidthat he hasnot seen anything in thehand of Jayaweera. This evidence is
not sufficient to establish a charge of misconduct. Therefore the failure todeal with this evidence in the arbitrator s award will not make any differencein the outcome of the award.

When considering the totality of the arbitration inquiry the only witnesswho can speakof the incident is the virtual complainant AnushaKotalawala.But she did not give evidence before the arbitrator ; the other witness isOmar who claims that he did not see the incident but he only saw theconversation between Anusha the complainant and Jayaweera theworkman charged for misconduct. According to this witness he has seenthe complainant in a disturbed stage and there is ink stain on her skirt buthe said he saw Jayaweera closer to her but he did not have anything inhis hand. Other than these witnesses there is no witness to speak to theincident. In these circumstances the arbitrator had come to the correctconclusion that the company has failed to prove the guilt of the accusedworkman of the offense he is charged with.

The counsel for the petitioner submitted that even though the arbitratorhad come to the conclusion that the termination is unjustified, yet there isamajor error in the award of the learned arbitrator, namely he has failed toconsider two primary principles of industrial law. Firstly, to evaluate theevidence placed before the learned arbitrator ;and secondly the need to
act judicially at the inquiry between the employer and employee. In thisregard the counsel submitted that the learned arbitrator has not given hismind to the question of relief andhasautomatically awarded reinstatementwith back wages to the workman without considering the evidence andanalyzing whether or not the relief is suitable in the given circumstancesof the case. He has aduty imposed by law to consider what is the properrelief and he has failed to consider other alternative relief available which isessential for a just an equitable award. The counsel further contended thatthere couldbe cases where suchaconsiderationof therelief isnot essential.But the evidence led in this case warrants a consideration on the question
of relief for the reason that there was a trade union action in the place ofwork and there were certain employees who did not take part in the

*

4

*
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* picketing and they were harassed and abused. The accused workman
was aunion member andthe female employee he allegedly harassed was
a member who has resigned from the union and did not take part in the
trade union action of picketing. Therefore the arbitrator could have
considered alternative relief.

There are circumstances where alternative relief in lieu of reinstatement
is grantedeven if the workman isnot found guilty to the charge.Instances
include, where the allegation against the workman is such that it would
not promoteharmonious relation between parties or by this allegation the
employer lost confidence in the workman.In this instant case there isno
evidence whatsoever against the workman in relation to the charge framed
against him and also there is no evidence that he harassed or abused
other employees or created industrial unrest,Qn the other handaccording
to the evidence led, the workman has nothing todo with this incident and
there is evidence to the contrary tostate that the workman has gone out of
the premises during the relevant time. This is borne out by the log entry
made at the gate in the vehicle movement chart. According to this entry
the workman left the premises at 3.07 p.m. This entry was made by the
security officer at the gate.According to thecharge the incident has taken
place at 3.20 p.m. The female employee who is supposed to have been
humiliated is not working in the petitioner s company now. There is no
allegation of misconduct against this employee in relation to the employer
or other employees ; therefore the reinstatement of this employee will not
affect the harmonious relationship between the employer and the
employee.

In considering the question of loss of confidence the workman is only
an office minor staff ;he will not fall within the category of officers such as
accountants, cashiers, watchers and bank employees who occupy

• positions of confidence. In addition the allegation of misconduct is not
related to his official function. Therefore there cannot be a loss of
confidence in the workman.Under these circumstances the arbitrator has
no alternative but to reinstate the workman with back wages. For the
reasons stated aboveIdismiss this application without cost.

A SRIPAVAN, J. I agree.

Application dismissed.
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PUTTALAMCEMENTCOMPANY LIMITED
v&

MUTUKIMARANA AND ANOTHER

SUPREME COURT,
DHEERARATNE,J.
BANDARANAYAKE,J.AND
WEERASEKERA,J.
SC(AP) NO. 11/98
H.C.CHILAW NO. 8/97
L.T.CHILAW NO. 21/0277/88
7th JUNE AND 1st JULY, 1999

Incorporation of a Public Company under section 2(1)(ii) of the Conversion of
Public Corporations or Government Owned Bus/ness Undertakings into Pub¬

lic Companies Act, No. 23 of 1987, to take over the functions of a public corpo¬

ration or part of the corporation, specified in the incorporation order - Whether
in view of section 3(2)(e) of the Act, Labour Tribunal proceedings which were
pending in the High Court on the date of the incorporation of the new company
may be continued - Interpretation of statutes harmoniously for avoiding conflict
between different parts.

The appellant company being a part of the 2nd respondent (Sri Lanka Cement
Corporation) was registered as a company in terms of section 2(2)(ii) of the
Conversion of Public Corporation or Government Owned Business Undertak¬
ings into Public Companies Act,No. 23 of 1987. What property, liabilities etc.,
of the corporation vest in the new company are set out in section 3(1)(a) to (c)
and section 3(2)(a) to (g). Section 3(2)(e) refers to actions and proceedings
instituted against the original corporation and pending on the relevant date
(date of incorporation of the new company) and specified in the order made
under section 2(2)"

On the date of the order under section 2(2), there was pending before the Court
of Appeal (thereafter referred to the High Court) an appeal made by the 1st
respondent against the 2nd respondent Cement Corporation seeking to vary
an order of the Labour Tribunal. The High Court noticed the new company to
appear before the court to be added as the employer in place of the 3rd re¬

spondent Cement Corporation, to continue proceedings against the new com¬
pany (the appellant).

Held:

1. The appellant should be substituted as the employer in proceedings
before the High Court notwithstanding a preliminary objection by the
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b
appellant company that it could not be added as a party since the
Labour Tribunal proceedings had not been specified in the incorpo¬

ration order under section 2(2) of the Act.
2. The words of a section of a statute should be interpreted harmoniously

to avoid conflict between two provisions of an enactment on a proper
construction thereof.

3. Section 2(2) which enables incorporation of a new company of a corpo¬

ration or a part of a corporation and the relevant provision of section
3(1) and 3(2) do not necessarily require that proceedings pending on
the date of incorporation must be specified in the incorporation order.
The question is whether the words of section 3(2)(e) and specified in
the order made under section 2(2) refer to action or proceeding or to
the corporation . That is not free from ambiguity.

Case referred to :

1. Distilleries Company of Sri Lanka Ltd vs. Fernando SC (AP) 36/94

SCM 20.03.95 (not followed)

APPEAL against the Order of the High Court.

Tilak Marapana, P.C. with Anil Tittawela and A. Rodrigo for appellant.

Daya Guruge with Samantha Vithana for respondents

Cur. adv. vult.

July 24,1999
JUDGMENTOFCOURT

Special leave to Appeal was granted by this Court on the following
questions:

* Whether an action instituted against a Public Corporation whose
functions have been taken over by acompany incorporated under the
provisions of theConversion of Public CorporationsorGovernment owned
Business Undertakings into Public Companies Act, No. 23 of 1987,
which action is not specified in the order made under S.2(2) of the said
Act, couldbe deemed to be an action initiated against the Company.
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The 1st Applicant-Respondent (1st Respondent) was an employee of
the 2nd Employer-Respondent (2nd Respondent) until his services were
terminated on 31.07.88. The 1st Respondent made an application to the
Labour Tribunaldated 17.08.1988seeking relief in terms of section 31(b)
of the Industrial Disputes Act, No. 43 of 1950, against the 2nd Respondent.
After inquiry, the Labour Tribunal, Negombo, dismissed the application of
the 1st Respondent by order dated 15.03.1991. The 1st Respondent
appealedto theCourt of Appeal on or about 08.04.1991 against the order
of the Labour Tribunal.Onor about 09.01.1997, the Court of Appeal referred
that appeal to the Provincial High Court of the North Western Province
holden in Chilaw. When this matter came up before the Provincial High
Court, Chilaw, it was submitted on behalf of the 2nd Respondent that by
operation of the provisions of the Conversion of Public Corporations or
Government Owned Business Undertakings into Public Companies Act
(Conversion Act) No. 23 of 1987, the Appellant should be substituted as
Employer instead of the 2nd Respondent and the 2nd Respondent should
be discharged from the proceedings, Pursuant to this application, the
Provincial High Court Chilaw issued notice on the Appellant to appear
before the High Court on 12.05.1997. The Appellant took a preliminary
objection that it should not be substituted as the Employer because the
schedule of the order made under Section 2 of the Conversion Act published
in the Gazette Extraordinary No. 770/1 dated 07.06.1993, fails to refer to
the Labour Tribunal case filed by the 1st Respondent. The objection was
overruled and the appellant has now appealed to this Court from that order.
The order made under Section 2 reads:

4

4*

J. C. de Alwis, Registrar of Companies, acting under
paragraph (ii) of sub section (2) of Section 2 of the Conversion of Public
Corporations of Government Owned Business Undertakings into Public
Companies Act, No. 23 of 1987, do by this order declare that a Public
Company is incorporated in the name of Puttalam Cement Company
Limited to take over the functions of such part of the Public Corporation
as specified in the Schedule hereto.

Schedule

The Puttalam Cement Works of the Sri Lanka Cement Corporation
situated in Puttalam beingapart of Sri lanka Cement Corporation (having
its registered office at 130, W. A. D. Ramanayake Mawatha, Colombo
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2 established by the order made under Section 2 of the State Industrial
Corporations Act,No.49of 1957 and published in Gazette Extraordinary
No. 11,634 of January, 21959asamended by ordermade under Section
2 of that Act, and published in the Gazette Extraordinary No. 75/5 of

, February, 11, 1980.

It is the submission of learned Counsel for the appellant Company, that
the action filed by the 1st Respondent in the Labour Tribunal, cannot be
deemed to be an action instituted against the appellant company in terms
of sub section 3(2) of the Conversion Act. He submitted that for the deeming
provisions to be applicable the action against the corporation must
necessarily be pending immediately preceding the relevant date and
specified in the order made under Section 2(2).

It would be convenient, in order to consider this submission, if we set
down here so much of the wording of Sections 2 and 3 of the Conversion
Act, omitting therefrom references to Government Owned Business

r Undertakings and other matters not relevant to our decision in this case.
After such truncation those sections would read as follows

2(1) Where the Cabinet of Ministers considers it necessary that a
company should be incorporated for the purpose of taking over
the functions of any public corporation or part thereof, the Minister
in charge of the subject of finance, forward a memorandum and
articles of association to the Registrar of Companies, together
with a direction to such Registrar to register such public
Corporation, or any part thereof a public company under the
Companies Act, No. 17 of 1982.

(2) Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Companies Act,
' No. 17 of 1982, on receipt of a direction under sub section (1)

the Registrar of Companies shall -

(i) (Re certificate of incorporation-omitted)
(ii) Publish an order in the Gazette declaring that a public

company is incorporated in the name specified in the order
totake over the functionsof the Public Corporation specified
in the order or such part of the corporation as specified
therein.
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(3) (Re allotment of shares - omitted)
(4) (Re stamp duty - omitted)

3 (1) with effect from the date of publication of the order under
subsection (2)of section 2, in the Gazette (in this section referred
to as the relevant date ) the corporation, or part thereof, as the
case may be, to which the order relates shall vest absolutely in
the company referred to in that order.

(definitions of Corporations” and “business undertaking omitted)

(2) Without prejudice to the generality of sub section (1)

(a) Re property - omitted
(b) Re liabilities - omitted
(c) Re officers and servants - omitted
(d) Re contracts and agreements - omitted <
(e) all actions and proceedings instituted by or against -

a. thecorporation; or
b

and pending on the day immediately preceding the relevant date, and
specified in the order made under Section 2(2) shall deemedto be actions
and proceedings instituted by or against the company;

(f) (Re profits and income - omitted)
(g) (Re losses - omitted)

The words and pending on the date immediately proceeding the relevant
date unambiguously refer to “ all actions and proceedings.” The question
thenis whether the words and specified in theorder made under Section
2(2) in (e) refer to actions or proceedings or to the corporation That is
not free from ambiguity. A plain reading of the sub section seems to suggest,
that the words by their collocation, refer to actions and proceedings That
interpretation commended itself to Kulatunga, J. in the case of Distilleries _
Company of Sri Lanka Ltd., v. Fernando. (1 > Words in a section of statute
cannot be interpreted in isolation; they must be given an interpretation to
read inharmony with other provisionsof the statute. Obviously, there isno
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provisions in subsection 2(2) to enable the Registrar of Companies to. specify in the order made thereunder action and proceedings on the
other hand, the sub-section mandates him to specify in the order the
public corporation either in whole or in part. Reference to a part'1of a
corporation in sub-section 3(2) (a) would have been meaningless, as a

* part of acorporation is not a legalperson by or against whom actions and
proceedings could have possibly been instituted and pending as at the
relevant date. It is to be noted that the words and specified in the order
made under Section 2(2) appear in sub sections 3(2) (a), (b) and (d) as
well. If we were toagree with the interpretationadvancedby learnedCounsel
for the appellant Company, we will render those words uperfluous and
meaningless not only in sub-section 3(2) (e) but also insub section (a) (b)
and (d) as well.

Discussing the nature of conflicting provisions in a statute and how
inconsistency is to be avoided, Bindra has stated that,

+ A section of a statute should, if possible,beconstrued so that there
may be no repugnancy or inconsistency between its different portions
or members.If it is possible toavoid aconflict between the twoprovisions
of an enactment on a proper construction thereof, then it is the duty of
the court to so construe them, that they are in harmony with each
other. A construction that involves reading two successive sentences
as flatly contradictingeach other must be avoided if possible; all parts
of astatue,should if possible be construed soas to be consistent with
the other Bindra s Interpretation of Statutes, Revised by Mahmood
and Yudhishthira, 7thEdition,1984,pg.565)

Ona consideration of the aforesaidmatters, we hold that the Appellant
should be substituted as the Employer in the proceedingsbefore the High. Court of the North Western Province holden in Chilaw,We affirm the order
made by the High Court and dismiss the appeal. Inall the circumstances
we make no order as to costs.

DHEERARATNE.J.,BANDARANAYAKA J„WEERASEKARA J.

Appeal dismissed.

5 -CM6576
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YAPA
VS

PEOPLE S BANK AND ANOTHER

COURT OF APPEAL,
WIMALACHANDRA,J.
C. A. 2241/2003,(REV)
D. C. COLOMBO 6932/SPL,
AUGUST 6, 2004.

People's Bank Act, No. 29 of 1961-Amended by Act, No. 32 of 1986 - Sections
29 and 29 D - Parate execution -Ouster Clause-Granting of interim relief -
Ingredients necessary ? - Stamp Duty Act, No. 43 of 1982, section 16 -
Applicability - Could the Board resolution be challenged indirectly ?

The People s Bank sought to parate execute the mortgaged property. The
petitioner sought an enjoining order to restrain the Bank from selling the land
by public auction. The enjoining order was refused. The petitioner moved in
revision.

It was contended by the petitioner that-
1. In view of section 16 of the Stamp Duty Act, the 1st respondent

(Bank) cannot claim the amount in the Board Resolution, as
according to the amount of stamp duty paid on the mortgage bonds
the Bank cannot recover more than Rs. 1,1419,770/- and any
attempt to recover over and above the said amount is illegal.

2. That no consideration passed at the time of the execution of the
mortgage bonds and hence the bonds are of no force or avail in
law.

Held:

(i) According to section 29D, the borrower is not competent to make
an application to court to move to invalidate a resolution to sell by
public auction any immovable property mortgaged to the Bank.
The petitioner cannot challenge the resolution even indirectly by
challenging the mortgage bonds on the basis that they are not
property stamped. The petitioner is trying to do indirectly, what he
cannot do directly.

(ii) That the plaintiff cannot now complain that no consideration passed 3
in view of the acknowledgment made by him to the receipt of the
said banking facilities as per the receipts issued by the plaintiff.
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61*r CA

APPLICATION in revision from an Order of the District Court of Colombo.

Cases referred to :

1. Felix Dias Bandaranaike vs The State Film Corporation and another
(1981) 2 Sri LR 287 at 301

2. People's Bank vs. Hewawasam- (2000) 2 Sri LR 29
3. C. A. L A. 74/97 with CA 433/97- D. C. Colombo 4707/Spl.

Derrick Samarasekera for plaintiff petitioner.

Rohan Gunapala with Deepa Govinna for defendant respondents

Cur.adv.vult

08.12.2004
WIMALACHANDRA J.

This is an application in revision from the order of the Additional District
Judge of Colombo dated 18.12.2003 in case No. 6932/Spl, refusing to
grant an enjoining order in terms of paragraph (b) of the prayer to the
plaint.

Briefly, the facts relevant to this application are as follows :

The plaintiff-petitioner (plaintiff) was a customer of the Matara-
UyanwatteBranch of the 1st defendant-respondent bank(1stdefendant).
Admittedly, the plaintiff made several applications for bankingfacilities
to the 1st defendant. The 1st defendant granted the banking facilities
sought by the plaintiff and as security for the said facilities he executed
four mortgage bonds,3024 dated22.08.1996,2668 dated 27.11.1998,

» 490 dated08.07.1999and 4270dated 27.11.1998 respectively. It is not
in dispute that upon the execution of the aforesaid mortgage bonds the
1st defendant released the banking facilities sought by the plaintiff and
the plaintiff issued the receipts marked X9 , X10" and X11 annexed to
the objections filed by the 1st defendant acknowledging receipt of the
same. The plaintiff failed to repay the loan installments to the 1st
defendant as agreed upon notwithstanding the reminders sent by the
1st defendant bank.Thereafter the1st defendant adopted a resolution
under Section 29Bof the People s Bank Act,No.29 of 1961 as amended
by Act, No. 32 of 1986 to sell the properties mortgaged to the 1st
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defendant to recover the monies dueto the1st defendant bank.The1st
defendant published the aforesaid resolution in the newspapers and in
theGovernment Gazette in termsof provision 29of the aforesaid People s
Bank Act.The1st defendant thereafter instituted an action in theDistrict
Court of Colombo seeking inter alia an enjoining order and an interim
injunction against the 1st defendant from selling or alienating the said
properties mortgaged to the 1st defendant bank by public auction until
the final determination of the District Court action.The application for
an enjoining order and an interim injunction was taken up for inquiry
and after considering the pleadings, documents and submissions of
counsel, the learned District Judge refused to grant an enjoining order
tostay the auction saleby his order dated18.12.2003. It is against this
order the petitioner has filed this application in revision.

It is settled law that in deciding whether to grant an enjoining order or
an injunction the plaintiff must first establish a strong prima faciecase in
his favour. In the case of Felix Dias Bandaranaike Vs. The State Film
Corporation and Another (,). 308 Soza, J said ;

In Sri Lanka we start off with a prima facie case. That
is, the applicant for an interim injunction must show that
there Is a serious matter in relation to his legal rights, to
be tried at the hearing and that he has a good chance of
winning.

If a prima faciecasehas beenmade out, the Court would then consider
the balance of convenience.

The learned Counsel for the petitioner submitted that in view of section
16of the Stamp Duty Act,No.43 of 1982, the 1st defendant cannot claim
the amount in the Board Resolution.The learnedCounsel further submitted
that accordingto the amount of stamp duty paid on the aforesaidmortgage
bondsthe1st defendantcouldnot recover more than Rs.1,419,770/=and
any attempt to recover over and bove the saidamount is illegal.

The petitioner cannot take any advantage by challenging the mortgage
bonds stating that they arenot properly stamped, to restrainby an interim
injunction a sale by public auction upon a resolution adopted by the bank
in terms of the provisions of the People s Bank (Amendment) Act, No.32
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of 1986 to sell by public auction any immovable or movable property
mortgaged to thebank as security for any loan in respect of which default
has been made, in order to recover the whole or unpaid portion of such
loan.

However, it is tobenoted that mortgagebondNo.3024bears the value
of Rs. 5000/=. The total amount secured is Rs. 500,000/= and interest
thereon. The mortgage bond No. 2668 bears stamps to the value of Rs.
5000/=. Similarly, each bond No. 490 and No. 4270 bear stamps to
the value of Rs. 8,200/= and the amount secured by each bond is
Rs. 500,000/= and interest thereon respectively.

According to Section 29D of the People s Bank Act,No.29 of 1961 as
amended by Act,No.32 of 1986, aborrower is not competent tomakean
application to Court to move to invalidate a resolution to sell by public
auction any immovableproperty mortgaged to theBank.

Section 29 D states as follows :

The Board may by a resolution authorise any
person to sell by public auction any immovable property
mortgaged to the Bank as security for any loan in respect of
which default has been made in order to recover the whole of
the unpaid portion of such loan, and the interest due
thereon and thereafter it shall not be competent for the
borrower in any Court to move to Invalidate the said resolution
for any cause whatsoever and no Court shall entertain any such
application.

In thecase of People sBankVs. Hewawasarrf 2) Jayawickrema, J.held
that :

Theabove expression in Section 29(D) is of similar import as
shall not be called inquestion inany Court' , containedinSection

22 of the Interpretation Ordinance. Hence, we agree with the
submissions made by the learned President sCounsel on behalf
of the Defendant Petitioner that the said resolution (marked E)
passed by the Board of Directors of the People s Bank, cannotbe
invalidated or challenged in an action in the District Court.
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Therefore, in these circumstances, the sale of the mortgaged
property by public auction upon the said resolution marked E
cannot be restrained by an interim injunction. The plaintiff-
respondent has failed to establish a prima faciecase.The plaintiff
respondent has taken advantage of a mere mistake of the date
of the execution set out in the original bond to fabricate a case
to the extent of even challenging the mortgage bond itself.
Jayawickrema,J.in the course of his judgement cited withapproval the

following passage from the judgment of the Court of Appeal case C. A. L.
A. No. 74/97 with CA Application (revision) No. 433/97(3) wherein
Edussuriya,J. held that:

Section 29(D) sets out that it shall not be competent for the
borrower to move any Court to invalidate such a resolution for
any cause whatsoever, and no Court shall entertain such an
application

If this Court were to fall into the error of drawing a distinction
between the words invalidate and null and void in the
construction of Section 29(D), this Court would be in my view
seeking to act in contravention of the intention of the legislature
and bring to naught the intention of the legislature in granting
parate execution rights to the Bank

It seems to me that the petitioner is trying to do indirectly what he
cannot dodirectly. As Edussuriya,J.pointedout in the aforesaid judgment,
in terms of Section 29(D) it shall not be competent for the borrower to
move any Court to invalidate such a resolution for any cause whatsoever
and the Court cannot entertain such an application.

Accordingly, the petitioner cannot challenge the resolution even indirectly
by challenging themortgagebonds on the basis that they are not properly
stamped in terms of the Stamps Ordinance.

Another submission of the learned counsel for the plaintiff is that no
consideration had passed at the time of the execution of the mortgage
bonds and hence the bonds are of no force or avail in law. In my view the
plaintiff cannot now complain that no consideration hadpassedin view of

+

*
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the acknowledgement made by the plaintiff to the receipt of said banking
facilities asper the receipts issued by the plaintiff marked X9", X10 , and
X11 (annexed to the statement of objections produced by the plaintiff).

, In the circumstances, I am of the view that the plaintiff has failed to
establish a prima-facie case in his favour. It is only if the plaintiff has made
out a prima facie case the Court must consider where the balance of
convenience lies.

In my view there is no substantial error of law or fact in the order made
by the learned Judge that could be considered as an exceptional
circumstance to grant relief in this application in revision.

For these reasons I refuse the plaintiffs application in revision with
costs fixed at Rs. 2,500/=

Application dismissed.

*
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The 1st respondent tenant applied to the 2nd respondent (Commissioner
for National Housing) under section 13 of the Ceiling on Housing Property
Law, No. 1 of 1973 ( CHP Law") to purchase the house in dispute owned by the
appellant. On 25.01.1984 the Commissioner refused the application holding
the premises were business premises under section 47 of the CHP Law. On
appeal to the Board of Review under section 39(1) of the Law, the Board held
that it was a house as it had been used for residence from 1943. The Court of
Appeal refused an application by the appellant to quash the decision of the
Boardby certiorari. The Court held that in view of section 22 of the Interpretation
Ordinance, read with section 39(3) of the CHP Law, the court's jurisdiction
'was ousted as the decision of the Board using the test of user was not ex facie

outside the Board s jurisdiction and by its order dated 09.02.2001, refused the
application for a writ.

Held;

1. In terms of section 47 (definition of house’) the premises had been
originally constructed as an eating house and assessed as such,
but not originally constructed for residential purpose, although since
1943, it had been used for residence and assessed as such in
1980.

2. The Court of Appeal wrongly placed the burden of proof on the
appellant to prove that the building was originally constructed for
residential purposes when in terms of sections 101 and 102 of the
Evidence Ordinance, the burden of proving the original purpose of
the building was on the 1st respondent.

3. In the above circumstances, the decision of the Board of Review was
ultra vires and a nullity-outside its jurisdiction and the appellant was
entitled to a writ of certiorari notwithstanding section 39(3) of the
CHPLaw. Further, Article 140 of the Constitution prevailedover section
22 of the Interpretation Ordinance. For that reason also, section 39(3)
of the CHP Law had no application.

Cases referred to :

1. Abeysekera v Wijetunga (1982) 2 SLR 737 at p. 739
2. Mohammed Ismail v Hussain (1993) 2 SLR 380
3. Anderson v Ahamed Husny Appellate Law Recorder Vol 2 March
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4. Withanarachiv Gunawardena (1996) (1) SLR 253 at p. 257
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December, 5, 2002
WEERASOORIYA, J.

The 1st respondent-respondent ( the 1st respondent ) made an
application under Section 13 of the Ceiling on Housing Property Law,

No. 1 of 1973 (theC.H.P.Law ) to the Commissioner of NationalHousing
( the Commissioner ) to purchase the premises bearing No. 17, Hunupitiya
Road, Colombo 2, and the Commissioner by his crder dated 25.01.1984,

dismissed the application holding that the premises were business
premises. The 1st respondent appealed against tnat order to the Ceiling
on Housing Property Board of Review (The Board )under Section 39(1) of
the C.H.P. Law, and the Board reversed the Comrrissioner s finding and
allowed the appeal on the basis that the premises in question were
residentialand therefore a house. The petitioner-apptllant (The petitioner )
thereafter invoked the jurisdiction of the Court of Appeal seeking toquash



68 Sri Lanka Law Reports (2006) 1 Sri L. R.

the said order of the Board by way of a writ of certiorari. The Court of
Appeal by its judgment dated 09.02.2001, dismissed the petitioner s
application. Thereafter the petitioner obtained special leave to appeal from
this Court upon the following questions.

(1) Whether the Board of Review and the Court of Appeal erred in law in
applying the test of user of premises instead of considering the purpose of
construction in determining whether the premises constituted a 'house
as defined under Section 47 of the C. H. P. Law ?

(2) Whether the Board of Review and the Court of Appeal erred in law in
placing the burden of proof on the petitioner to establish that the premises
is not a house as so defined ?

*

(3) Whether theCourt of Appeal lacked jurisdiction to review the order
of the Board of Review in view of the clause contained in Section 39 (3) ?

(1) Test of User

It is not in dispute that Ihe 1st respondent as tenant of the petitioner
made an application in terms of Section 13 of the C. H.P. Law to purchase
the premises. Upon such application being made, the Law requires the
Commissioner to hold ai inquiry into such application and upon being
satisfiedon the requirements laid down in Section 17 {1) (a), (b), and (c)to
make a recommendation to the Minister whether such premises should
be vested. The issue whether a tenant could maintain such an application
depends on whether the premises fall within the meaning of a house as
defined in Section 47 of the C. H. P. Law :

House means an independent living unit, whether assessed or not
for the purpose of levying rates, constructed mainly or solely for
residential purposes and havinga separate access, and through which
unit access cannot be had to any living accommodation, and includes
a flat or tenement, but shall not include-

(1) sub divisions of, or extensions toahouse which was first occupied
as a single uvt of residence ; and

(2) ahouse useimainly or solely for apurpose other than a residential
purpose foran uninterrupted period of ten years prior to March,
1st, 1972:
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* This definition postulates the following criteria to be satisfied by the
applicant.

(a) It must be an independent living unit whether assessed or notforthe
purpose of levyingrates.

(b) It must have been constructed mainly or solely for residential
• purposes ; and

(c) It must have a separate access and through which unit access can
not be had to any other living accommodation.

The Commissioner by his order dated 25.01.1984 (P1a) held that the
premiseswere business premises. However, onappeal, the Board reversed
the finding of the Commissioner and held that the said premises had been
used mainly or solely for residential purposes.

Learned Counsel for the petitioner contended that the Board applied
the wrong test by misconstruing Section 47 of the C. P. H. Law.

It is to be observed that the Board without asking itself the question as
to whether the premises had been constructed mainly or solely for
residential purposes as laid down in the definition of a house in Section 47
asked the question whether the said premises is a business
premises or not and thereafter applied exception (2) to the definition of a
house contained in the section. In fact, the said exception is meant to
take even a building which was constructed mainly or solely for residential
purposes, outside the definition of a house if such building was used
mainly or solely for a purpose other than a residential purpose for an
uninterrupted period of 10 years prior to March 1st, 1972.

The Court of Appeal disagreed with the contention of learned Courtsel
for the petitioner that the Board formulated the wrong question and held
that implicit in this question was the proposition whether the premises in
question were residential or business.

The petitioner had presented his case on the basis that the premises at
the inception had been assessed for the purpose of levying rates as an
eating house" indicating that the original purpose of construction was for
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business. Therefore, the petitioner s case was that though used by the
1st respondent as residential premises, the premises had been originally
constructed for business purposes.

It wouldbemanifest that there was no dispute that from 1943, since the
1st respondent came into occupation of the premises, that the premises
were used for residential purposes. But to enable the 1st respondent to
purchase it, it must be shown that the premises were constructed mainly
or solely for residential purposes. It was open to the 1st respondent to
state that premises had been continuously used as a residence thereby
entitling him to the protection of the Rent Act. However, it would be a
different situation when the (1st respondent) tenant makes an application
under Section 13 of the C. H. P. law to purchase it, where different criteria
are spelt out under Section 47 of the C. H. P. Law.

In the circumstances, the Board misdirected itself in addressing the
question whether the said premises were business premises or not. This
misdirection was the outcome of failing to appreciate the provisions of
Section 47 of the C. H. P. Law. The Court of Appeal has taken the mistaken
view that implicit in the question was whether the premises in question
were residential or business.

The misconstruction of Section 47 of C. H. P. Law was reflected in the
applicationof the test of user of premisesto determine the question whether
the premises was ahouse. The primary test postulated by that section is
the test as to whether the premises were constructed for residential
purposes. It is to be noted that this section does not permit a choice
between two primary tests. The effect of the reasoning of the Board and
the Court of Appeal was to impose a burden on the owner to prove that it
was constructed for business purposes which is contrary to what is
envisaged in Section 47.

It isnecessary to consider the decisions of this Court, on the definition
of a house as given in Section 47 of C. H. P. Law.

The case of Abeysekera vs. Wijetungafv laid down the rule that the
test to be applied to determine what a house is, for the purposes of C. H.
P. Law, must be an objective test and not a subjective one and that its
initial construction and the purpose of construction is what matters.
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* In Mohamed Ismail vs. Hussairt2' Court applied the criterion of user
mainly because of the lack of direct evidence relating to the initial purpose
of construction. However, it was disclosed that the premises had been
originally assessed as a house. Therefore, it would be clear that, there
was no occasion to consider the original purpose of construction of the
premises andthequestion of devolution of theburden of proof in the context
of Section 47 of the C.H. P. Law did not arise for consideration.

On the foregoing material,I hold that the Boardandthe Court of Appeal
erred in applying the test of user of premises instead of considering the
purpose of construction in determiningwhether the premises constituted
a house within the meaning of Section 47 of C. H. P.Law.

(2) Burden of Proof

Section 101 of the Evidence Ordinance provides:

Whoever desires any Court togive judgment as toany legal right or
liability dependent on the existence of facts which he asserts, must
prove those facts exist. Whena person is bound to prove the existence
of any fact, it is said that burden of proof lies on that person".
This section is concerned with the duty to prove one s case as a whole

andis distinguishable from Section 103 which explains the burden of proof
as to a particular fact. This section reads as follows

The burden of proof as to any particular fact lies on that person who
wishes the Court to believe in its existence, unless it is provided by any
law that the proof of that fact shall lie on any particular person".

The difference in scope could be seen from illustration (A) to Section
101 which states as follows.

A desires a Court to give judgment that B shall be punished for a
crimewhichAsaysBhascommitted.Amustprove thatB has committed
the crime.

But however,where Bconcedes that he committed the act allegedbut
pleads that it does not entail criminal liability since the general exception
relating to exercise of the right to private defence or any special exception
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contained in the Penal Code is applicable, B is bound to establish facts to
bringhim within that exception. {Vide Section 105).

Section 102 provides for the devolution of the burden of proof in the
following terms.

The burden of proof in a suit or proceeding lies on that person who
would fail if noevidence at all were given on either side".

The question as to which party should begin to lead evidence before the
Labour Tribunal came up for consideration before the Supreme Court in
the case of David J. Anderson vs. Ahamad Husny.(i ) The Court held that
although the Labour Tribunal is not bound by the Evidence Ordinance, the
principle enshrined in Section 102, that the person on whom the burden of
proof lies would fail if no evidence at all were given on either side, is a
common sense principle, departure from which would not be justified if the
circumstances do not warrant suchadeparture.

In the present case, the primary test postulated by Section 47 of C. H.
P. Law is whether the premises were constructed for residential purposes.
If no evidence is given by either side, it is the 1st respondent who would
fail before the Commissioner. The 1st respondent had failed to lead any
evidence to establish that the premises were constructed for residential
purposes. The petitioner had produced assessment extracts (P43-P53)
which showed the premises were originally assessed as an eating house
though used as a residential house. There was no reason to deviate from
the rule set out in Section 102 of the Evidence Ordinance at the inquiry
before the Board of Review.

Accordingly, I hold that the burden of proof that the premises were
constructed for residential purposes lay with the 1st respondent, and has
not been discharged.

(3) Ouster Clause

Learned Counsel for the 1st respondent contended that the order of the
Board is final and conclusive and cannot be impeached on the material
submitted by the petitioner. This contention is based on Section 39(3) of
the C. H.P. Law read with Section 22 of the Interpretation Ordinance as
amended by Act, No. 18 of 1972.



CA Moosajees Limited vs. Arthur and Others
(Weerasooriya, J.) 73

* Section 39(3) of the C.H.P.Law provides:

The determination of the Board on any appeal made under
sub section(I)shall be finaland shall notbe called in question. in any Court .

The material parts of Section 22 of the Interpretation Ordinance (as
amended) read as follows.

Where thereappears inany enactment. the expression shall
not be called in question in any Court". in relation to any order,
decision, which anyperson,authorityor tribunal is empowered
to make or issue under such enactment, no court shall, in any
proceedings and upon any ground whatsoever, have jurisdiction to
pronounce upon the validity or legality of such order,
decision made or issued in the exercise or the apparent
exercise of the power conferred on such person, authority or tribunal.

Provided however, that thepreceding provisions of this Section shall
notapply to theSupreme Court or theCourt of Appealas the case may
be in respect of the following matters only, that is to say-

fa)Wheresuch order, decision is ex facie not within the power
conferred on such person,authority or tribunal making or issuing such
order, decision....; and

(b)

Learned Counsel for the petitioner contended that the Board had the
power ex facietomake the order it did,namely to hold whether thepremises
in question were either residential or business premises.He contended
that nevertheless that power of the Board did not confer jurisdiction to the
Board :

(a) to formulate the wrongquestion.
w (b) tomisconstrue theprovisions of Section 47 of the C.H. P.Law and* apply the wrong test ; and

(c) to take into account irrelevant considerations.
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The ouster clause in Section 39(3) of theC.H.P.Law read with Section
22 of Interpretation Ordinance came up for consideration in Withanaratchi
vs. Gunawardena where the Court held that on aconsideration of the
entirety of the facts and circumstances it could not conclude that the
decision of the Board was unreasonable and unsupported by the evidence
on record. The Court observed that at most the alleged error lay in the
evaluation and the assessment of the oral and documentary evidence and
therefore the error if at all was one made within the area of jurisdiction of
theBoard of Review.

*

Thus, the two grounds enumerated namely ; (a) where a decision is
unreasonable or (b) where it is unsupported by evidence are obviously
grounds that would affect the jurisdiction of the Board.

The decision in the case of Sitamparanathan vs. Premaratna |5) is
significant in that it held that Section 39(3) of the C. H. P. law did not
protect adecision which patently lacked jurisdiction to decide.

At this point it is useful to examine this question in the light of the
English precedents.

In R. vs. Northumberland Compensation Appeal Tribunal theCourt of
Appeal held that certiorari to quash the decision of a Statutory Tribunal
lay, not only where the tribunal had exceeded its jurisdiction but also
where an error of law appeared on the face of the record. This case turned
upon the amount of compensation payable to the clerk toahospitalboard
in Northumberland who has lost his employment consequent upon the
introduction of the National HealthService.Uponamisconstruction of the
regulations, the Compensation Appeal Tribunal refused to allow him his
full period of service on the basis that there were two periods of service
and that only the second period of service should be counted which
appeared to be amanifest error of law.

This case is significant in that it revived the power of review for mere
error of law on the face of the record and marked the beginning of the
process towards bringing all decisions on questions of law within judicial
review.

The application of the doctrine of ultra vires was made wider for the
purpose of minimising the effect of ouster clauses by the House of Lords

*
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* in the celebrated case of Anisminic Ltd. vs. Foreign Compensation
Commission.

In this case, the Foreign Compensation Commission rejected a claim
for compensation for a property already sold to a foreign buyer on the
erroneous ground that the Statutory Order in Council required that the
successor in title should have been of British Nationality at a certain date.
Upon Anisminic challenging the Commission's decision on the ground
that the Commission had misconstrued the relevant 1962 order from which
the Commission derived jurisdiction, in that the 1962 order did not require
both the applicant and his successor in title to be British to qualify for
compensation, the House of Lords held that :

(a) the ouster clause did not protect a determination which was outside
jurisdiction ; and

(b) {by amajority) the misconstruction of the Order in Council which the

+ Commission had to apply involved an excess of jurisdiction since
they based their decision on a ground which they had no right to
take into account and sought to impose another condition not
warranted by the order.

The principle deducible from the Anisminic case is that every error of
law by a tribunal must necessarily be jurisdictional. This case became the
leading example of jurisdictional error by a tribunal in the course of its
proceedings.

The majority view of the House of Lords was that the error destroyed
the Commission's jurisdiction and rendered the decision a nullity, since
on a true view of the law, the Commission had no jurisdiction to take the

, nationality of the successor in title into account. Therefore, by asking the
wrong question and by imposing a requirement which the Commission
had no authority to impose, it had overstepped its power. (Vide
Administrative Law - Wade and Forsyth 8th Edition - page 270)

Thus, a tribunal has in effect no power to decide any question of law
incorrectly;any error of law would render its decision liable tobe quashed
as ultra vires.

6 -CM6576
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4This categoricalpronouncement of the law was upheld and confirmed
in two subsequent cases namely O'Reilly vs. Mackman (8> and R. vs. Hull
University Visitor

In Reillyvs. Mackman (supra) Lord Diplock stated that :

Thebreakthrough that the Anisminiccase made was the recognition
by the majority of this House that if a tribunal whose jurisdiction was
limited by statute or subordinate legislation mistook the law applicable
to the facts as it had found them, it must have asked itself the wrong
question, i.e., one into which it was not empowered to inquire and so
had no jurisdictiontodetermine. Its purported determination not being
a *determination within the meaning of the empowering legislation, was
accordinglyanullity*

In R.vs. Hull University Visitor {supra ; ) Lord Browne Wilkinson stated
that :

* the decision in Anisminic Ltd. vs. Foreign Compensation 4
Commission(19692 AC 147) rendered obsolete the distinction between
errorsof law ontheface of the recordandother errors of law by extending
the doctrine of ultra vires. Thenceforward it was to be taken that
Parliamenthad onlyconferred thedecision makingpower on the basis
that it was to be exercised on the correct legal basis ; a misdirection in
law in making the decision therefore rendered the decisionultra vires .

Lack of jurisdiction may arise in many ways as enumerated below
which would cause a tribunal to step outside its jurisdiction.

(a) the absence of formalities or conditions precedent to the tribunal to
clothe itself with jurisdiction to embark on a inquiry ;

(b) where at the end of an inquiry tribunal makes an order that it has no
jurisdiction to make ;

(c) where in the course of proceedings tribunal departs from rules of
natural justice, and asks itself the wrong question or takes into ,
account matters which it was not directed to take into account.
( Vide Anisminic Ltd.vs. Foreign CompensationCommissionat page
195).
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In Maradana Mosque Trustees vs. Mahamudm an appeal from the
judgment of the Supreme Court, the Privy Council held that where statutory
authority was given to a Minister to act if he was satisfied that a school is
being administered in a certain way, he was not given authority to act,
because he was satisfied that the school had been administered in that
way. It was held that the Minister had asked himself the wrong question
and never brought himself within the area of his jurisdiction and therefore,
acted without or in excess of jurisdiction.

In the light of the above decisions, the question that arises for
consideration in the present case is whether the Board went outside its
designated area and outstepped the confines of the territory of its inquiry.

Undoubtedly, the Board asked itself the wrongquestion to wit; whether
the premises were business premises or not. It would be obvious that the
proper question to have asked was whether the premises was a house
within the meaning of Section 47 of the C.H. P. Law. In failing to ask the
proper question the Board went out of bounds and wandered outside its
designated area.Further, the Board erroneously laid the burden of proof
on the petitioner to prove that the premises were business premises.This
initial misdirection caused the Board to apply the wrong test of user.

It is also evident that the misconstruction of the provisions of Section
47 of the C. H.P.Law, led the Board to rely on irrelevant considerations
namely ;

, (a) that the tenant had continued to be in uninterrupted occupation for a
longperiod;and

(b) that the premises had been assessed as a house in 1980.
* On a careful examination of the above material, it is manifest that the

Board had digressed away from its allotted task and outstepped the
confines of the territory of its inquiry and thereby exceeded its jurisdiction.

Learned Counsel for the petitioner contended that inany event ouster
clause in Section 39(3) of the C. H. P. Law read with Section 22 of the

kf Interpretation Ordinance (as amended) is inoperative in view of the
constitutional implications flowing from Article 140 of the Constitution.
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Article 140 of the Constitution provides :

Subject to the provisions of the Constitution, the Court of Appeal shall
have full power and authority to inspect and examine the records of any
Court of First Instance or tribunal or other institution, and grant and issue,
according to law, orders in the nature of writs of certiorari, prohibition,
procedendo, mandamus and quo warrantoagainst the Judge of any Court
of First Instance or tribunal or other institution or any other person :

4

Article 168(1) of the Constitution permits the continued operation of
legislation in force immediately before the commencement of the
Constitution :

Unless Parliament otherwise provides, all laws, written laws and
unwritten laws, in force immediatelybefore the commencement of the
Constitution shall mutatis mutandis, and except as otherwise expressly
provided in the Constitution, continue in force".

The Supreme Court in Atapattu vs. People s Bank ( 11> in interpreting
Article 168(1) expressed the view that ouster clause would be operative
only except as otherwise expressly provided in Article 140and held that
language used in Article 140 is broad enough to give the Court of Appeal
authority to review even on grounds excluded by ouster clause. This case
held further that constitutional provisionsbeing the higher norm will prevail
over the ordinary statutory provisions.

In Sirisena Cooray vs. Tissa Bandaranayake (12) the Supreme Court
upheld and confirmed the view expressed in Atapattu vs. People s Bank.
This view was reiterated in Wijepala Mendis vs. P. R. P Perera. <13)Thus,
the aforesaid decisions firmly establish the view that the ouster clause
does not operate to exclude the jurisdiction conferred on the Court of
Appeal by Article 140 of the Constitution.

In the circumstances, the impress of finality set out in Section 39(3) of
the C. H. P. Law read with Section 22 of the Interpretation Ordinance has
no application to the impugned decision of the Board. Accordingly, I hold
that the Court of Appeal had jurisdiction to review the decision of the
Board and a writ of certiorari would lie to quash it.

4

4
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For the above reasons, I set aside the decision of the Board dated
23.10.1998 and the Order of the Court of Appeal dated 09.02.2001 and
allow this appeal with costs fixed at Rs. 5,000/= payable by the 1st
respondent to thepetitioner.

FERNANDO J I agree.

WIGNESWARAN J I agree.

Appeal allowed.

SOBHANI
VS

CHAIRMAN,URBAN COUNCIL, CHILAW ANDOTHERS

COURT OF APPEAL
IMAM,J.AND
SRISKANDARAJAH, J
CA 1825/2003 (WRIT)
4TH JULY, 2005

Writ of certiorari - Urban Development Authority Act, sections 3, 28A and 3(A)
- Amended by Act, No. 4 of 1982, section 8(J) Building plan tendered for
approval - Should he be the owner or should he have got permission from the
owner to build 7 - Is there a duty to consider title ?

*
The respondent refused to consider the application of the petitioner for a

building permit as the petitioner is not the owner of the land nor has he got
permission from the owner.

The petitioner contends that there is no duty cast on the respondent to look into
the title and the refusal has no legal or valid basis.

Held:

(i) The Urban Development Authority (UDA) has considered it necessary
to have a prima facie documentation to prove the ownership of the land
or the consent of the owner of the land to grant building permits to
develop a particular land. This requirement is embodied in the building
permit application form.
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(ii) It is not an irrelevant or unreasonable requirement in considering
development activities in a land. Act, No. 4 of 1982 empowers the UDA
to grant a building permit subject to such terms and conditions the
Authority may consider necessary.

APPLICATION for awrit of certiorari.

Sunil Cooray with C. Wijesuriya for petitioner.

Lakshman Perera for 1st and 2nd respondents.

Yuresha de Silva, State Course for 3rd respondent.

04th August, 2005,
SRISKANDARAJAH. J

The Petitioner in this application has sought an order in the nature of
writ of certiorari to quash the decision made by the1st Respondent refusing V
to consider the building application of the Petitioner and a mandamus to
command the1st Respondent to entertain the application of the Petitioner
and proceed according to law.

The Petitioner submitted that she came into occupation of the premises
bearing asessment No.94, Bridge Street, Chilaw in 1990 and carriedon
her business initially as a Cool Spot and later a textile shop after putting
upatemporary structure in the saidpremises.The Petitioner subsequently
developed the said premises and constructed the building in the said
premises up to the condition,as it stands today. From the year 1999 she
said that shehad been paying rates to the Urban Council to date and also
paying revenue license tax for carrying on a trade at the said premises.
The Petitioner further submitted that she received summonson07.12.2001
for an action filed in terms of section 28A 3(a) of the Urban Development
Authority Act as amended.This action was filed by the 1st Respondent
on the basis that the building standing on the said premises is an
unauthorized building. The Petitioner submitted that pending the afore
said action Petitioner has tendered abuilding plan for approval to the 1st ,
Respondent in respect to the same premises complying with all the r
requirements.Thereafter the1st Respondent by his letter dated29.07.2002
P5 requested the Petitioner to establish title to the said premises and
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, stated that until she does so, her application for building permit couldnot
be considered. The Petitioner once again on 08.09.2003 submitted an
application for a building permit to the same premises to the 1st Respondent
through his attorney at law. This application too had been rejected since

• the title to the said premises had not been confirmed by the Petitioner.
The Petitioner submitted that the 1st Respondent the chairman of the 2nd
Respondent has a public statutory duty in terms of Housing and Town
Improvement Ordinance as amended or Urban Development Authority Law
as amended to entertain every application for building permit and further
submits that in this application the 1st Respondenthas refused to entertain
the application of the Petitioner without any legal or valid basis. The
Petitioner also submitted that there is noduty whatsoever cast on the 1st
Respondent to look into the title of the applicant to the property on which
the proposed building construction is to take place for the purpose of
entertaining applications for building permit.

The Respondents submitted that in terms of GazetteNo. 100/4 of August,
1980 the Minister of Local Government, Housing and Construction has
gazetted the Chiiaw Urban Council asa Development Area under Section
3 of the Urban Development Authority Act.

The Respondent admitted that the Petitioner has made two building
plan approval applications in the prescribed forms one in 2002 and the
other in September, 2003. But both these applications are incomplete as
the Petitioner has neither declared himself as the owner of the land on
which he is seeking to build nor he has not annexed any document to
show that he got permission from the owner of the land to construct a
building. Respondents submitted that from their records the land in which
the Petitioner is seekingpermission to construct a building is a state land
ownedby the Ceylon Government Railway Department.

The Urban Development Authority (Amendment) Act, No. 4 of 1982 in
Section 8J provides as follows :

8J. (1) Notwithstanding the provisions of any other law,no government
agency or any other person shall carry out or engage in any

£ development activity in any development areaorpart thereof,
except under the authority and in accordance with the terms
and conditions of a permit issued in that behalf by the
Authority.
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(2) An application for a permit to carry out or engage in any
development activity within adevelopment areaor part thereof
shall be made to the Authority in such form, shall contain
such particulars and be accompanied by such fees as may
be prescribed by regulations made under this law.

(3) A permit under subsection(1) shallbe grantedby the Authority
under that sub-section subject to such terms andconditions
as the Authority may consider necessary if the Authority is
satisfied that -
(a)--
(b) ...

(4) ...

(5) ...

(6) ...
Under Section 8J(2), an application for apermit to carry out or engage

in any development activity within a development area shall be made to
the Urban Development Authority {UDA) in such form and shall contain
such particulars. One of theparticulars that is required by the UDA in the
application is todeclare the status of the applicant in relation to the land in
which he is seeking to develop. If he is the owner he has to support the
same with documentationand if he is not the owner then hehas to annex
a consent letter from the owner. According to the Respondent these
requirements are not fullfilled by the Petitioner; therefore the application
of the Petitioner was not entertained. The Petitioner has failed to annex a
copy of the completed application which was submitted to the UDA by
him to show that he has given all the relevant particulars that were required
to be given in the said application. On the other hand the Petitioner s
submission that the ownership of a land is an irrelevant consideration
when a building permit is sought tobuilda building in that land cannot be
accepted. As the above sections empower the UDA to grant a building
permit subject to such terms and conditions the Authority may consider
necessary. The UDA has considered it necessary to have a prima-facie
documentation to prove the ownership of the land or the consent of the
owner of the land to grant building permits to develop a particular land.
This requirement is embodied in the Building Permit Application Form

*

V

t
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which was submitted to this court by the Respondent on the request of
this court.The Court does not think that it is an irrelevant or unreasonable
requirement in considering development activities in a land. Therefore the

Court rejects the application of the Petitioner to issueawrit of certiorari to

quash thedecision made by the 01st Respondent refusing to consider the
building plan of the Petitioner. For these reasons the application of the
Petitioner is dismissed without costs.

IMAM - 1 agree.
Application dismissed.

A. R.PERERA AND OTHERS
vs

CENTRAL FREIGHT BUREAU OF SRI LANKA AND ANOTHER

COURT OF APPEAL
MARSOOFJ.(P/CA) AND
SRI SKANDARAJAH,J.
CA 999/2003
JULY 13
AUGUST 23 AND SEPTEMBER 17, 2004

Writ of certiorari - Locus standi - Traditional view, conservative view and liberal

view - Companies Act, No. 17 of 1982 - Who are busy bodies ?- Constitution

Articles 12, 141, 17, 126, and 140 - Rationale for expanding canvas of locus

standi.

The 1st and 2nd petitioners - the Chairman and Secretary General of the
Ceylon Association of Ships Agents (CASA) consisting of 113 members who

are shipping agents and the 3rd petitioner who is a member of the Executive

Committee of CASA and a director/shareholder of Malship Ltd., which company

is engaged in the business of a shipping agent, challenged the order made by

the 1st respondent imposing certain levies and service charges.

The Executive Committee of the CASA had determined and resolved that

it is imperative that CASA, through the petitioners file an application on behalf
of its membership with a view to obtaining relief and redress. The petitioners

also claimed that the resolution/determination of the CASA was ratified at an

extraordinary general meeting of CASA. When the matter was taken up for
argument the respondent took up a preliminary objection that the petitioners
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*lack locus standi, as CASA is a company limited by guarantee incorporated
under the Companies Act with the power to sue and be sued in its corporate
name.

Held:

(i) The petitioners are all persons whose interests are affected by what is
alleged to have been done by the respondents. The 1st and 2nd
respondents have sufficient interest in the matter as office bearers of
CASA, the 3rd respondent as a member of the Executive Committee
and an authorized representative of Malship, a corporate shipping agent,
have sufficient interest in the matter in question. Even if the petitioners
are to be treated as mere members of .the public, they have sufficient
interest in the matter to distinguish them from the esteemed category of
busy bodies .

Per Marsoof, J. P/CA,

Time and again our courtshave repeated that the fact that the irregularity
or the grievance for which redress is sought is shared by a large number
of people or society as a whole would not prevent one of many affected
persons from seeking relief from courts.
There can be no doubt that the petitioners are all persons whose
interests are affected by what is alleged to have been done by the
respondents. Sri Lankan courts have been quick to recognize standing
of any citizen to seek relief against public authorities that stray outside
their legitimate bounds.” ,

APPLICATION for a writ of certiorari.

Cases referred to:

1. Durayappa vs Fernando 69 NLR 265
2. R vs Paddington Valuation Office (1996) 1 QB 380 at 401
3. Premadasa vs Wijewardena & Others (1991) 1 Sri LR 333 at 343.
4. R vs Greater London Council exparte Blackburn (1968) 2 QB 118
5. Me Whirter vs Independent Broadcasting Authority (1973) QB 629
6. R vs Inland Revenue Commissioners ex p. National Federation of Self

Employed and Small Industries (1982) AC 617.
7. Bandaranayake vs De Alwis & Others (1982) 2 Sri - LR 664 at 682
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* 8. Merit vs Dayananda de Silva (2001) 2 Sri LR at 41-42

9. Forbes & Watier Tea Brokers vs Maligaspe and others (1998) 2 Sri LR
378.

10. Mediwake and others vs Dayananda Dissanayake, Commissioner of
Elections and others (2000) 1 Sri LR 177

11. Sunila abeysekera vs Ariya Ruabasinghe (2001) 1 Sri LR 315

12. Leader Publications vs Ariya Rubasinghe (2001) Sri LR

13. Lilanthi de Silva vs Attorney General (2003) Sri LR 155

14. Bulankulame and others vs Secretary, Ministry of Industrial Development
and others (2000) 3 Sri LR 243

15. D. U. M. Jayatilake and others vs Jeevan Kumaranatunga and others
CAM 29.7.2004.

16. S. P. Gupta vs. Union of India (1982) ARI (SC) 149

17. Akhila Bharatiya Grahak Panchayat vs A. A. S. E. Brand (1983) AIR
(Andre Pradesh) 283

18. P. Neila Thamby Rosa Vs. Union of India (1984) AIR (SC) 74

Shibly Aziz, P. C. with P. Gunaratne and S. Ahamed for petitioners.

S. Kanag-lswaran, P. C. with Nigel Bartholomeuz for 1st respondent.

M. R. Ameen, State Counsel for 2nd respondent.
Cur.adv.vult

January 10, 2005
SALEEM MARSOOF, J. P/CA

The 1st and 2nd Petitioners purport to be respectively the Chairman
and Secretary-Generalof the Ceylon Associationof Ships' Agents(CASA)
consistingof 113 members who are shippingagents, and the3rdPetitioner
purports to be a member of the Executive Committee of CASA and a
Director and shareholder of Malship Ceylon Limited, which company is
engaged in the business of ashippingagent.The Petitioners state in their

jp petition that themembers of CASA have been concernedwith,andaggrieved
by, the imposition of certain levies and service charges by the 1st
Respondent,and as such, the ExecutiveCommittee of CASA determined
and resolved that it is imperative that CASA through the Petitioners file
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this application on behalf of its membership with a view of obtaining relief
and redress. The Petitioners claim that the said determination and resolution
of the Executive Committee of CASA were ratified by the members of the
Ceylon Association of Ships Agents (CASA) at an Extraordinary General
Meeting of CASA held on 29th May 2003.

*

In paragraph 6of their petition, the Petitionersexpressly state that they
are invoking the jurisdiction of this Court in terms of Article 140 of the
Constitution in their individual capacities as well as on behalf of the
members of the CASA respectively as President, Secretary General and
Member of the Executive Committee and as representatives of the CASA.
In addition the 3rd Petitioner, as the representative of Malship Ceylon
Limited, which is engaged directly in the business of shipping agent, claims
that he has become party to this application on behalf of the said company
in addition to his capacity as a member of the Executive Committee of
CASA.

When this case was taken up for argument learned Counsel for the 1st
Respondent took up a preliminary objection based on paragraph 1 of the
Statement of Objections filed by the 1st Respondent that the Petitioners
cannot have and maintain this application as they do not have any right in
themselves or the locus standi to institute and maintain this application,
in that, the Ceylon Association for Ships Agents (CASA), is a company
limited by Guarantee, incorporated under the Companies Act, No. 17 of
1982 on 18th October 2000 with the power to sue and be sued in its
corporatename. After hearing submissions of learned Presidenfs Counsel
for the Petitioners and the learned President s Counsel for the 1st
Respondent on this preliminary objection, Court granted time for learned
Counsel to file written submissions. At the instance of State Counsel
appearing for the 2nd Respondent, Court also made an order discharging
the 2nd Respondent from these proceedings as no relief had been prayed
for against the said Respondent in the petition.

Learned President’s Counsel for the 1st Respondent submits that this
application has to be dismissed in limine as the petitioners cannot have
and maintain this purported application for the relief prayed for by them, as
they do not have any right in themselves or the locus standi to institute
andmaintain this application. He submits that the lack of locus standihas
been recognised as a fundamental limitation in the granting of prerogative
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4

remedies in terms of Article 140 of the Constitution. He states that the
Ceylon Association for Ships' Agents (CASA), is a company limited by
guarantee incorporated under Section 21(1) of theCompanies Act, No.17
of 1982 on 18th October 2000, with the power to sue and be sued in its
corporate name as evidenced by the Memorandum of Association and
Articlesof Association marked IR annexedto the Statement of Objections
of the 1st Respondent. He submits that CASA isa distinct corporate body
consisting of shipping agentshavingcorporate status and is not made up
of individuals, and in any event it possesses a legal personality distinct
from its members or officebearers.Section 21 (1) of the Companies Act,
No.17 of 1982 provides that-

Where it is proved to the satisfaction of the Registrar that an
association whether of recent origin or otherwise about to be formed as
alimited company is to be formed for promoting commerce,art,science,
religion, charity, sport, or any other useful object, and intends to apply
its profits, if any, or other income in promoting its objects and to prohibit
the payment of any dividends to its members, the Registrar may by
license direct that the association may be registered as a company,
with limited liability, without the addition of the word limited to its
name, and the association may be registered accordingly and shall on
registration enjoy all the privileges and(subject to the other provisions
of this section) be subject to all the obligations of a limited company .

It is submitted theretofore that it was only CASA, as a limited company
and a body corporate, that could have instituted this application as it
possesses the necessary corporate status to sue and be sued in its
name and on behalf of its members who are shipping agents and have
been called upon to pay the charges and commissions in terms of the
Central- Freight Bureau Law. It is further submitted that the 1st and 2nd
Petitioners as office bearers of CASA have no right or status in their
individual capacities and cannot have and maintain this application.
Similarly, it is submitted that the 3rdPetitioner as a member of the Executive
Committee of CASA and a Director and shareholder of Malship Ceylon
Limited does not have any right or status in his individual capacity and
cannot haveand maintain this application on behalf of CASA or Malship

jt Ceylon Ltd.It is further submitted that in the circumstances the law would
consider them meddlesome busybodies" for they have no right in their
individual capacities distinct and different from that of CASA or Malship.
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Although the learnedCounsel for the 1st Respondent does not cite any
case law in his written submissions in regard to the question of locus
standi which he has chosen to argue on first principles, he could easily
have relied on the classic decision in Durayappa V. Fernando(,) in which
the Privy Council held that the Mayor of a Municipal Council cannot seek
redress from courts with respect to a legal wrong or injury caused to a
Municipal Council. Lord Upjohn expressed the opinion of the Court at
page 274 in these words-

Their Lordships therefore are clearly of opinion that the Order of the
Minister on29thMay1966 was voidableandnot anullity.Beingvoidable
it was voidable only at the instance of the person against whom the
Order was made, that is the Council. But the Council has not
complained. The appellant was no doubt Mayor at the time of its
dissolution but that doesnot give him any right tocomplain independently
of the Council.

*

It is noteworthy that in the case beforeus,as much as in Durayappa
v. Fernando, noexplanationhas been offeredby any of the Petitioners as
to why CASA and/or Malship have not sought to invoke the jurisdiction of
this Court.

LearnedPresident s Counsel for the Petitioner submits that our law
relating to locus standi has developed a great deal from the days of
Durayappa v. Fernando, (Supra)and in view of the liberal attitude towards
standing adopted by theCourts, the Petitioners in the present case are in
fact entitled to have and maintain this application.He submits that the law
has moved forward and become progressive, and relies onttie following
dictum of LordDenning, in Rv Paddington Valuation Officei2 )-

The Court would not listen, of course to a mere busybody who was
interfering in things which didnot concern him.But it will listen to anyone
whose interests areaffected by what has been done.

Our courts too have applied same test in regard to standing. For
instance,in Premadasav Wijewardenaand others{ 3 ) Tambiah CJobserved
that-

The law as to locus standi to apply for certiorari may be stated as
follows : The writ can be applied for by an aggrieved party who has a
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* grievance or by a member of the public. If the applicant is a member of
the public, he must have sufficient interest to make the application.

There can be no doubt that the Petitioners are all persons whose
interests are affected by what is alleged to have been done by the
Respondents. The 1st and 2nd Petitioners have sufficient interest in the
matter, as office bearers of CASA, and the 3rd Respondent as amember
of the Executive Committee of CASA and authorized representative of
Malship, a corporate shipping agent, have sufficient interest in the matter
toberegarded as aggrieved parties who have agenuine grievance. Even if
the Petitioners are to be treated as mere members of the public, they have
sufficient interest in the matter to distinguish them from the esteemed
category of busybodies .

*
In fact, in recent times English Courts have shown great latitude in

regard to standing in the context of prerogative remedies such as certiorari
and mandamus. In R V. Greater London Council ex. parte Blackburn(i ) an
applicant was permitted to pursue the prerogative writ of mandamus in
proceedings brought against the Police, even though his interest was no
greater than the interest of other persons in general. Lord Denning in Me.
Whirter V. Independent Broadcasting Authority referring to the Blackburn
case (supra)page 649 observed that-

Mr. Blackburn had a sufficient interest even though it was shared
with thousands of others We heard Mr. Blackburn in his own
name. His intervention was both timely and useful".

As Lord Denning noted in R v Inland Revenue Commissioners ex p.
National Federation of Self Employed and Small Business Ltd.,

(6) English
Courts have orchestrated the generous view that if there is good ground
for supposing that a government department or public authority is
transgressing the law, or is about to transgress it, in a way which offends
or injures thousands of her Majesty's subjects, then any one of those
offended or injured can draw it to the attention of the court of law and seek
tohave the law enforced . In the course of his judgment in the same case,

, Lord Diplock observed as follows-y
It would, in my view, be a grave lacuna in our system of public law if

apressure group, like the federation, or even asingle public spirited tax
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payer, were prevented by outdated technical rules of locus standi from
bringing the matter to the attention of court to vindicate the rule of law
and get the unlawful conduct stopped.

The change in legal policy reflected in the decision of the House of
Lords in this case was considered by Lord Diplock to be a major step
towards a comprehensive system of administrative law” which he regarded

as the greatest achievement of the English Courts during his life time.

The rationale for the expanding canvas of locus standi in the context of
certiorari and prohibition was explained by H. W. R. Wade-Administrative
Law (8th Edition) pages 362 to 363 in the following words-

The prerogative remedies, being of a public character as
emphasized earlier, have always had more liberal rules about standing
than the remedies of private law. Prerogative remedies are granted at
the suit of the Crown, as the titles of the cases show ; and the Crown
always has standing to take action against public authorities, including
its own ministers, who act or threaten to act unlawfully. As Devlin J
said: Orders of certiorari and prohibition are concerned principally with
public order, it being the duty of the High Court to see that inferior
courts confine themselves to their own limited sphere . In the same
sense Brett J had said in an earlier case that the question in granting
prohibition is not whether the individual suitor has or has not suffered
damage, but is, whether the royal prerogative has been encroached
uponby reason of the prescribed order of administration of justice having
been disobeyed . Consequently the court is prepared to act at the
instance of a mere stranger, though it retains discretion to refuse to do
so if it considers that no good would be done to the public."

Wade further goes on to observe at page 683 that-

....the House of Lords is clearly now determined to prevent
technicalities from impeding judicial review so as to protect illegalities
and derelictions committed by public authorities .

Sri Lankan Courts too have been quick to recognize standing of any
citizen to seek relief against public authorities that stray outside their
legitimate bounds. In Bandaranaike v. de Alwis and Others at 682
Wimalaratne J. observed that every citizen has standing to invite the
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Court to prevent some abuse of power, and in doing so he may claim to be
regardednot as a meddlesome busybody, but as a public benefactor.11 In
Meril vs.DayanandadeS//va(8) at41-42GunawardanaJobserved Istrongly
feel that denying locus standi to an applicant for judicial review for
no better reason than that his interest or grievance is shared by many
others in common with the applicant is as illogical and irrational as refusing
to treat any one member of the public for a disease which has assumed
proportions and has affected virtually the entire community . In Forbes &
Walker TeaBrokers v.MaligaspeandOthers{3> Gunawardana J went on to
trace the developments in the law in this field and observe at page 406
that-

The traditional view is that an applicant for certiorari must show
some interest before being accorded standing The older, rather the
conservative, view is that applicant must show that he has legal capacity
to challenge the act or decisionby meansof prerogative writs in that he
is an aggrieved person in the sense that there is some harm
personalized to the applicant.In other words, the applicant is required
to establish or prove some individual harm over and above that of the
general community or the public at large-although the waning of the
rigid reliance on the concept that an applicant must have an interest of
his own at stake,seems to be a universal trend. A necessary corollary
of the rule that the applicant ought not to be accorded standingbecause
his (applicant s) requirement or grievance is one which is complained of
in common with the rest of the public is to deny to the applicant access
to court for no other or better reason than that governmental irregularity
or illegality does affect a large number of people.This seems irrational
for asCraig(tutor in law-Worcester College - Oxford) had said:To deny
access in such a case seems indefensible. If the subject matter of the
case is otherwise appropriate for judicial resolution to erect abarrier

• of nostanding wouldbetarender many important areas of governmental
activity immune from censure for no better reason than that they do
affect a large number of people.One might be forgiven for thinking that
the common sense of the reasonable man would indicate the opposite
conclusion ; that the wide range of people affected is apositive reason
for allowing achallenge by someone .

InSriLankatherehasbeenconsiderable progress in thepublic interest
litigation arena, and the courts have liberalized rules relating to standing

7 -CM6576
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or locus standi,andpermitted not only persons aggrieved but also others
to challenge violations of fundamental rights. Cases such as Mediwake
and Others v Dayananda Dissanayake, Commissioner of Elections and
Others 10' 177, Sunila Abeysekera V. Ariya Rubasinghe ' leader
Publications V Ariya Rubasinghe' '* Lilanthi De Silva V. AttorneyGeneral1 are landmark decisions of our Supreme Court which reflect
this liberal approach. As Amerasinghe J observed in Bulankulama and
Others V. Secretary, Ministry of Industrial Development and others' '*'(better known as the Eppawala case) at page 258-

The Court is concerned in the instant case with the complaints of
individual petitioners. On the question of standing, in my view, the
petitioners, as individual citizens,have a Constitutional right given by
Article 17 read with Articles 12 and 14 and Article 126 to be before this
Court.They arenot disqualified becauseit sohappens that their rights
are linked to the collective rights of the citizenry of Sri Lanka - rights
they share with thepeople of Sri Lanka. Moreover,in the circumstances
of the instant case, such collective rights provide the context in which
the alleged infringement or imminent infringement of the petitioners
fundamental right ought to be considered. It is in that connection that
the confident expectation (trust) that the Executive will act in accordance
with the law and accountably, in the best interests of the people of Sri
Lanka, including the petitioners,and future generations of SriLankans,
becomes relevant .

Time and time again, our courts have repeated that the fact that the
irregularity or the grievance for which redress is sought is shared by a
large numberof people or society as a whole wouldnotprevent one of the
many affected persons from seeking relief from the Courts. In the recent
case of D. U. M. Jayatilleka and others V. Jeevan Kumaratunge and
others*' 5' it was observed by Sriskandarajah J. that

The standing rules applicable to applications for prerogative writs
have to be considered in the light of the developments takingplace in
this sphere of relevant law.
Similarly,when one looks across the Palk Straits,one cannot help but

notice the landmark decision of the Indian Supreme Court in S.P.Gupta
V. Union of India <,6> holding that lawyers have a vital interest in the
independence of the judiciary,and therefore havestanding toagitate before
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*
courts important issues affecting the judiciary, This decision has since
been followed in several other cases involvingconsumer concerns,such
as Akhila Bharatiya Grahak PunchayatvA. P. S. E. BoarcfU) in which a
Consumer Council was held to have locus standi to challenge the action
of an electricity board for increasing the rates of electricity, and P. Nena
Thampy Thera v Union of Indiaf' ® in which the Supreme Court of India
entertained a petition at the behest of a railway commuter against the
Indian Railways for improving the railway services.

In the present application before thisCourt, the Petitioners, being office
bearers of the Ceylon Association of Ships Agents as well as some of
them being associated with companies upon whom thepurported fee was
imposed,clearly havea sufficient interest inchallengingtheimposition of
the purported fee, andarenot merebusybodies’who are trying to fish in
troubled waters. It has been specifically pleaded and averred in the petition
that the Petitioners have come to Court on behalf of the members of the
CASA as well as in their personal capacities.

I do not see any merit in the preliminary objection raised on behalf of
the 1st Respondent andhave no alternative but to overrule the same.

SRISKANDARAJAH,J. - 1 agree.

Preliminary objectionoverruled ; matter set down for argument.

SPORTSMAN TEA (PVT) LTD.,
vs

COMMISSIONER GENERAL OFLABOUR AND OTHERS

COURT OF APPEAL
SRIPAVAN,J. AND
SRI SKANDARAJAH,J.
C.A. 335/2002
SEPTEMBER 19, 2004

Employees Provident Fund Act, sections 31 and 32 - Payment of arrears-
Inquiry-Opportunity not given to peruse documents-Breach of natural justice-
Reasons for decision-ts it necessary ?
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*The 3rd respondent former Director of the petitioner company, complained
to the 1st respondent that a certain sum being arrears of E. P. F. dues has not
been paid to him. An inquiry was held by the Assistant Commissioner of
Labour, 2nd respondent and after written submissions were filed, the 2nd
respondent (Assistant Commissioner of Labour) sought certain clarifications
from the petitioner company. The company informed the 2nd respondent that
as the inquiry is concluded, order could be made on the material submitted.
The 2nd respondent thereafter requested the company to pay a certain sum as
E.P.F. dues and the surcharge.

The petitioner company contended that the 2nd respondent has failed to
give the petitioner an opportunity to examine the documents on which the 2nd
respondent is said to have made the order, and that he has not given reasons
for his order.

Held:

(i) The documents that are relied upon by the Commissioner of Labour
and the decision of the Board of Directors, at the meeting held on
28.02.1995 to arrive at this decision are not new documents ; the
originals, of these documents are in the possession of the petitioner.

(ii) The powers of the Commissioner of Labour under the EPF Act are not
only to determine claims but also to call for documents (Section 31)
and to examine any record or documents relating to any provident fund
or scheme (section 32). In this instance, the 2nd respondent having
the material necessary in his possession had called for the originals
which were in the possession of the petitioner, but the petitioner had
failed and neglected to produce same.

(iii) The 2nd respondent in his affidavit had stated that he has relied on the
marked documents, and the reasons are in the departmental file,
which was disclosed to court.

(iv) In the absence of a statutory requirement to give reasons there is no
requirement to give reasons.

(v) However, if the Commissioner fails to give his reasons to court
exercising judicial review, an inference may well be drawn that the
impugned decision is ultra vires and relief granted on this basis.

APPLICATION for a writ of certiorari.
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* Cases referred to :

1. Ceylon Printers and another vs. Commissioner of Labour and Others
- (1998) 2 Sri LR 29

2. Kusumawathie & Others vs. Aitken Spence Co. Ltd and Another (1996)
2 Sri LR 19

Percy Wickremasekera for petitioner.

M. Fernando, Senior State Counsel for 1st and 2nd defendants.
Cur.adv.vult.

SRISKANDARAJAH,J.

The petitioner is a limited liability company. In this company the 3rd
respondent was functioning as aDirector from 1993 to 20th of September
1998. The position of the petitioner is that the 3rd respondent resigned
from the company after the chairman had detected some alterations in
bills submittedby the 3rd respondent for reimbursement of money.During
this period the 3rd respondent was not paid a salary but he was only
entitled to a share of profit. 3rd respondent thereafter made a claim through
his lawyer a sum of Rs. 5,000,000 or 4.3 million plus a vehicle for him to
completely sever his connection with the company (P1). The petitioner
company arrived at a settlement with the 3rd respondent to pay a total
sum of Rs. 780,870 out of which 225,000 for transfer of his shares in the. company to thechairmanandRs. 555,870 for his services to the company.
The respondent accepted these sums and gave a letter that he has no
further claims from the company (P4). Thereafter the Assistant
Commissioner of Labour Mr. M.R..Kannangara by his letter of 22ndMay
2000 called upon the petitioner company to pay a sum of Rs. 245,000
being arrears of Employment Provident Fund dues to the 3rdrespondent
and the surcharge. The petitioner company took up the position that the
3rd respondent was never an employee of the company and that therefore,
the question of paying him provident fund dues does not arise (P6 & P8).
The 2nd respondent summonedtheparties for an inquiry and after several

yt dates of inquiry oral and written submissions were made. Thereafter the
2nd respondent by his letter of 05.11.2001 sought certain clarifications
regarding the basis on which monthly payments have been made to the
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Directors, the statement of salaries paid to the other Directors and the
decision madeat theboard meetingon 28.02.1994 to increase the monthly
salary of Directors. The petitioner company in response to the above letter
informed the 2nd respondent that the inquiry has been already concluded
and the decision may be given on the material before him. The 2nd
respondent byhis letter of 15.01.2002 conveyed his order to the petitioner
company requesting the company to pay the 3rd respondent Rs. 123,000
as Employees Provident Fund dues and the surcharge. The petitioner
submitted that the 2nd respondent has failed to give the petitioner an
opportunity to examine the material on which the 2nd respondent was
said to have made this order and this is a breach of the rules of natural
justice.

The 2nd respondent submitted that an inquiry commenced with the
complaint (P11) and the reply (P12). Written submissions of both parties
were tendered and they made oral submissions on two days. He further
submitted that as certain matters needed further clarifications, he
dispatched (P15) requesting the petitioner to tender further documents.
As the petitioner refused to tender further documents he considered the
available documents and having been satisfied that the 3rd respondent
had been remunerated monthly and also been satisfied that the
Employment Provident Fund contribution with regard to the 3rd respondent
has not been forwarded to the department of Labour by the petitioner
made orderto pay the Employees Provident Fund dues and the surcharge.
Under these circumstances the petitioner cannot complain that he was
not given afair hearing. The Senior State Counsel who appeard on behalf
of the 1st and 2nd Respondents produced the Department file in court and
submitted that the copy of the minutes of the Board of Directors meeting
heldon 28th February 1994containing the decision that the monthly salary
of the Directors had been increased is filed of record.

The powers of the Commissioner of Labour under the Employees
Provident Fund Act is not only to determine claims but also to call for
documents(Section31)andtoexamine any records or documents relating
to any provident fund or pension scheme (Section 32). In this instant case
the 2nd respondent having the materials necessary in his possession had
called for the originals which were in the possession of the petitioner but
the petitioner failed andneglected to produce the same.

*
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ThePetitioner complainedthat he was not given an opportunity to peruse
the documents on which the 2nd respondent relied upon to arrive at his
decision.He relied on the judgment in Ceylon Printers Ltd andAnotherv
Weerakoon, Commissioner of Labour and others1' > where Gunasekara J
held;

In view of the failure by the Commissioner togive the appellants an
opportunity of challenging the new material on which he acted, the
Commissioner isunder adutytogive reasons for hisdecision, particularly
in view of the fact that it was not he who held the inquiry and recorded
the evidence.In the result, the orderof theCommissioner was inbreach
of the principles of natural justice .

This judgment is not applicable in this instant case as the documents
that are relied upon by the Commissioner of Labour namely P13a,P 13b
and thedecisionof the Boardof Directorsat themeetingheld on28.02.1995
to arrive at his decision are not new documents. The originals of these
documents are in the possession of the petitioner.

The Petitioner further submitted that the1st respondent has not given
reasons for his decision that was communicated to him by letter marked
P17.In Kusumawatheandothers vAitkenSpence&Co.LtJ2 ) andanother
the court held ;

that in the absence of a statutory requirement to give reasons for
decisions or a statutory appeal from a decision, there is no requirement
of Common Law or the principles of natural justices that a Tribunal or
an Administrative Authority should give reasons for its decision, even if
such decision has been made in the exercise of a statutory discretion
and may adversely affect the interest of the legitimate or reasonable
expectations of other persons.

Per Silva,J

the finding that there isnorequirement in law togive reasons should
not be construed as a gateway to arbitrary decisions and orders. If a
decision that is challenged is not a speaking order, when notice is
issued by a Court exercising judicial review, reasons to support it have
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to be disclosed. Rule 52 of the SC Rules 1978 - is intended to afford an
opportunity to the respondents for this purpose ; the reasons thus
disclosed form part of the record andare in themselves subject to review.
Thus if theCommissioner fails to disclosehis reasons to Court exercising
judicial review, an inference may wellbe drawn that the impugned decision
is ultra vires and relief granted on this basis.

The 2nd respondent in his affidavit has stated that he has relied on the
documents marked P 13a, Pl3b (the audit reports which give the monthly
remunerations of the Directors) and having been satisfied that the 3rd
respondent had been remunerated monthly and also been satisfied that
the Employee s Provident Fund contribution with regard to the 3rd
respondent hadnot been forwarded to the Department of Labour hemade
the order marked as P17. The reasons for the decision are also in the
department file of the 2nd respondent which was disclosed to court by the
learned Senior State Counsel. Therefore the petitioner cannot complain
that there is a violation of the rules of natural justice. The decision of the
Commissioner is based on the documents, the originals of which were in
the possession of the petitioner and the petitioner had not made any attempt
to controvert the facts contained in these documents other than stating
that the copies of thedocuments which were submitted to the Commissioner
are not duly signed or authenticated by any person. Therefore the
submissions of the petitioner that the decision of the Commissioner is in
excess of his jurisdiction and without any material has no merit. Under
these circumstances the petitioner is not entitled for the relief claimed for.
I dismiss this application without costs.

SRIPAVAN, J. - 1 agree.

*

Application dismissed.
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* COLOMBO DOCKYARDLTD
VS

JAYASIRI PERERA AND OTHERS

COURT OF APPEAL,
AMARATUNGA,J..AND
WIMALACHANDRA,J.
CA 71/2003 (bg)
D. C. COLOMBO 14760/MR
JULY 15 AND
SEPTEMBER 2, 2004

Civil Procedure Code, section 93 (2) - Amendment of caption - Prejudice
caused to defendants ? - Amendment not to widen scope or alter character of

the action - Names are used to identify persons.

The caption of the plaint refers to the plaintiff as Sesofieo oo»e® ®t8
EDOXSDOCBSKS. At the trial it was revealed that the incorporated name of the
plaintiff was Colombo Dockyard Ltd., . The defendant took up the position
that there is no incorporated body by the name of on»e® ®cS
®OJO»JCK5MS)C3 and that the action should be dismissed. In the course of the trial
the certificate of incorporation of the plaintiff company was allowed to be marked.
At the trial the plaintiff's witness said that the plaintiff Company is called
Colombo Dockyard Ltd.," as well as Sdwsfi® «»5«® ®iS aOjeMoaaa .

Thereafter the plaintiff moved to amend the caption to read the plaintiffs name
as Colombo Dockyard Ltd., The defendant objected and the court upheld the
objection,

Leave being granted, on appeal¬

ed:

(1) It appears that although the plaintiff company is registered as Colombo
Dockyard (Pvt) Ltd" it is also called and known in Sinhala as 8®>»Sn>
»a»e® ®s6 toOjmJoaao . Since the 1st defendant has been in the
company for more than 12 years he should have known that the plaintiff
company is also called by the name" 8®»®H> eao@fi eocO mOjeMocwoo .

(2) Names are used to identify persons; whether the plaintiff company is
calledeither by S®j©®a snoe® ®a>a»o®®a" or ColomboDockyard
(Pvt) Ltd., is immaterial. The names are there to designate persons.
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*(3) It seems that the proposed amendment to the caption could only refer to
the plaintiff andnobody else, andby allowing the amendment no prejudice
would be caused to the defendants. The effect of the amendment is
merely to show that the plaintiff company called oe»e® ®s8
u>OwMo®ao . is also called Colombo Dockyard (Pvt) Ltd.". By this
amendment it is not the intention of the plaintiff to substitute another in
place of the plaintiff company.

(4) Under section 93 (2) court may allow an amendment of any pleadings if
the court is satisfied that the plaintiff would suffer grave and irremediable
injustice if the amendment is not allowed and the plaintiff has not been
guilty of laches.

(5) By this amendment the plaintiff is not seeking to widen the scope or alter
the character of the action and he is not trying to bring in a new cause of
action. He is merely seeking to give the court a description of the name
of the plaintiff.It is tobe observed that song69 ®ifl mOKoysaxs".
is the Sinhala translation of “Colombo Dockyard Ltd". The acceptance
of the amendment does not cause prejudice to the defendants.

APPLICATION for leave to appeal with leave being granted.
Cases referred to :

1. Mohinudeen and another vs Lanka Bankuwa, York Street, Colombo 1
(2001) 1 Sri LR 290

2. Bank of Ceylon vs Ramasamy (1985) 1 CALR 481
3. Davis Vs Elsby Bros Ltd (1960) 3 ALL ER 672
4. W. M. Mendis & Co. Vs Excise Commissioner (1999) 1 Sri LR 351
5. Charles Vs Samarasinghe, Bar Journal (1998) Vol. VII, Part II Page 21
6. Shammari Vs Premier Airline Agencies (Pvt) Ltd., (1988) 2 Sri LR 162

L. C. Seneviratne, P. C. with Anuraddha Dharmaratne for petitioner.

Rohan Sahabandu for respondent.

Cur.adv.vult.
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December 15, 2004
WIMALACHANDRA,J

This is an appeal against the order dated 20.02. 2003, made by the
learned Additional District Judge of Colombo,refusing the application of
theplaintiff - appellant toamend the caption of the plaint.

Briefly, the facts relevant to this appealare as follows:-

Thecaption refers to the plaintiff in Sinhalaas Q©oeaS® ease® »nO
aOoaaomac: .At the trial it was revealed that the incorporated name of
the plaintiff was Colombo DockyardLimited.The defendants position
is that there is no incorporated body by the name of ASaeS® ©sag®

JT>{8 n>e>:>a»oc£>sx3 and that the plaintiff's action should accordingly be
dismissed. In the course of the trial, it was moved tomark the Certificate
of Incorporation of the plaintiff company on behalf of the plaintiff which
was objected to by the defendants. The learned Additional District
Judge deliveredher order dated 3.5.2000, wherein she allowed the said
document tobemarkedonthegroundthat thesaiddocumentestablishes
the fact that the plaintiff is a duly incorporated company and that it has
beenpleaded in the plaint.On 17.01.2002 the plaintiff s witness said
under cross examination that the plaintiff company is called Colombo
Dockyard Limited as well S®ae8® ©mag® roOamaocoso. After
the conclusion of the evidence of the said witness, the plaintiff moved to
amendthe caption of the plaint to read the plaintiff's name as Colombo
Dockyard Limited. In the caption of the plaint the plaintiff is described
as a®3ss8o3 ©sag® 25)i0 tsdaeoaocsOTcs . The defendants opposed this
application. Thereafter the learned Judge directed the parties to file. written submissions in respect of the said application. The learned
Additional District Judge deliveredher order on20.02. 2003 refusing
the application to amend the caption and fixed the case for further trial.
It is against this order the appellant has filed this appeal.

Admittedly, the 1st defendant (respondent) was employed with the
plaintiff from 1979.It is also admitted that the 1st defendant vacated his
post in the plaintiff - company on or about10.08. 1992.The question that
arises is, was the 1st defendant as a person who was employed in the
plaintiff, company aware that the plaintiff - company was also called in

, Sinhala as 8®ae38® ©mag® si© scbswocoa-Kj and that both names
namely,The Colombo Dockyard and 8®a®8® ©sag® ®>i© raOasaotosa .
were used to identify the plaintiff - company.The1st defendant cannot say
he is not aware that the plaintiff - company is registered under the
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Companies Act as the Colombo Dockyard (Pvt) Limited as evident by
the agreement marked P1(a) where the 1st defendant was a party to the
said agreement. In the answer filed by the 1st defendant, in paragraph six
he has stated that Colombo Dockyard (Pvt) Limited has terminated his
services.

The documents produced marked A1 to B1 and C1 to C5 show
that the plaintiff - company is also called BebtsSa saig*an© aOasMoBMau
In A1 to B1” and “ C1 to C13” the address stated is identical to the
address given in theplaint.

In these circumstances it appears to me that although the plaintiff -
company is registered as Colombo Dockyard (Pvt) Limited it is also
called and known in Sinhala as S®3KSO> ©Oasijocoaxa ' Since
the 1st defendant had been in the plaintiff company for more than 12
years, he should have known that the plaintiff company is also called by
the flSjesflm ®saag® ajS oSnaijoCDzncs (Vide C1” , C2 , C3 , “C4” and
C5 ). +

The learned President s Counsel for the plaintiff appellant cited the
Supreme Court case of Mohinudeen and another Vs. Lanka Bankuwa
York Street, Colombo 1 (,). In this case the plaintiff bank, incorporated
under the Bank of Ceylon Ordinance, instituted action against the
defendants for the recovery of a sum of Rs.19,811,503/92. In the caption
of the plaint, the plaintiff was referred to as Lanka Bankuwa . At the trial
the parties raised 26 issues. Of the issues raised, two issues were tried
as preliminary issues. They are issues No. 14 and No. 16,. What is relevant
for thepresent case before us is issue No. 14. It reads as follows: (read
with Paragraph 7 (a) of the answer); whether the plaintiff had locus standi
to institute legal proceedings in that no legalperson had been incorporated
(in terms of the Bank of Ceylon Ordinance) under the name of Lanka
Bankuwa.”?

It was held inter alia by the Supreme Court that the use of the name
Lanka Bankuwa did not mislead the defendants. Hector Yapa, J. who

delivered the judgment made the following observation at pages 294 - 295:

There is no doubt that the legislature by the Bank of Ceylon
Ordinance has created a body corporate called the Bank of Ceylon”
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which is empowered to carry on the business of banking with the right
to sue and be sued in its corporate name. Therefore, when the plaint
is filed in Sinhala on behalf of the institution called the Bank of Ceylon,
it would be fair and logical to use the name Lanka Bankuwa" the term
used in Sinhala by the Bank of Ceylon itself. Besides, the Bank of
Ceylon over the years has continued to use the term Lanka Bankuwa
in their dealings with the public and today the term LankaBankuwa is
synonymous with the term Bank of Ceylon. Hence it would appear that
the learned High Court Judgehas correctly held that the Bank of Ceylon
has the locus standi to file actions using the Sinhala name of the Bank
of Ceylon namely the Lanka Bankuwa. Besides, the appellants would
have received their bank statements and other documents from the
Bank of Ceylon on the letter heads giving the name of the Bank of
Ceylon in SinhalaasLanka Bankuwa and therefore there is no question
of the appellants or any one else for that matter being misled that the
reference was not to the Bank of Ceylon.

In the instant case it appears that the plaintiff - appellant is called by
both names, namely, SSoesfira osMg® ro03SMo©a)© and Colombo
Dockyard (Pvt) Limited . As stated above this is borne out by the
documents produced marked “AT to A5 . B1 and C1" to C5 . Moreover,
the 1st defendant respondent who was employed with the plaintiff - appellant
from 1979to 1992 wouldhaveknownthat the plaintiff •appellant Colombo
Dockyard Ltd is also called ©tsjg® o)032s»o©sx3

In the case of the Bank of the Ceylon I/'s. Ramasamy <2> at page 481
, the Court of Appeal considered the question whether misnbmer of a

defendant is fatal to an action brought against him. In this case the
plaintiff respondent instituted action in the District Court against the
Manager, Bank of Ceylon Agricultural Service Centre, Kilinochchi and

• proxy was filed on behalf of the Manager. Thereafter proxy was revoked
and proxy of the Bank of Ceylon was filed by another attorney at law. The
learned District Judge held that it was necessary to add the Bank of Ceylon
asa party defendant. The petitioner, the Bank of Ceylon, appealed from
that order. It was held in this case that the description given to the defendant
could only refer to the Bank of Ceylon and that the insertion in the plaint

'V" of the Manager, Bank of Ceylon as defendant was a misnomer which
could be corrected. It is clear that a mistake can be corrected where the
mistake is in the name, description or designation of a defendant which
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does not mislead the parties on the question of identity of the person
intended to be sued and even where in such circumstances, the person
described as the defendant is non - existent, the mistakecan be corrected.

*
Moonemale, J. at 487 in Bank of Ceylon vs. Ramasamy (supra) cited

the test to be applied in cases of misnomer prescribed by Devlin, L. J. in
Davis Vs. Elsby Bros <3 ) Ltd. It reads as follows:

The test must be; How would a reasonable person receiving the
document take it? If, in all the circumstances of the case and looking
at the document as a whole, he could say to himself, of course it must
mean me, but they have got my name wrong, then there is a case of
misnomer. If on the other hand, he would say: I cannot tell from the
document itself whether they mean me or not. I shall have to make
inquires,’ then it seems to me that one is getting beyond the realm of
misnomer. One or the factors which must operate on the mind of the
recipient of the document and which operates in this case, is whether
there is or is not another entity to whom the description on the writ "T
might refer."

It is to be noted that the names are used to identify persons. Whether
the plaintiff - company is called either by a®*a8e> ©e»e® ®nO mDKMocooxa
or Colombo Dockyard (Pvt) Ltd. is immaterial. The names are there to

designate persons.

In the case of W. M. Mendis & Co. Vs. Excise Commissioned it was
held that names in the caption of a plaint are used only to designate
persons, and that the action is not instituted against names but against
persons designated thereby.

In this case the plaintiff - petitioner instituted action against the defendant
- respondent to recover acertain sum of money. The defendant wasnamed
in the plaint as the Excise Commissioner . The attorney at law for the
defendant filed theproxy of the defendant and the said proxy was signed
by N. N. F. Chandraratna. The answer filed by the defendant stated that
the defendant named therein is neither a natural person nor a juristic
person and pleaded that the plaintiff cannot maintain the action. The trial T*
in this case was fixed for 4.12. 1996. After the trial was fixed the plaintiff
filed a motion seeking permission to amend the plaint to read as W. N. F.
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* Chandraratne Excise Commissioner, now known and designated as
Commissioner - Genera! of Excise . The defendant objected to the

amendment. J. A. N. de Silva, J. at page 356 made the following
observations:

One has to be alive to the often quoted legal
maxim, namely, Falsa demonstration non nocet cum de corpore vel
persona constat ( a false description does not harm if there be sufficient
certainty as to the subject matter or the person) and Falsa demonstratio
non nocet cum de corpore vel persona constat (any inaccuracy in
description is to be over - looked if the subject matter or person is well
known.)

The 1st defendant who was employed with the plaintiff company for a
period of 12 years should have known that the plaintiff is also calledby the
name SSbeS® ©awe® sn© oQaswomsw In the circumstances I cannot
see any prejudice that would be caused to the 1st defendant by allowing
the amendment to the caption sought by the plaintiff , the 2nd and 3rd
defendants liabilities flow from the 1st defendant, and hence there would
be no prejudice caused to them as well, by this amendment.

It seems to me that the proposed amendment to the caption could only
referto the plaintiff and nobody else any by allowing this amendment no
prejudice would be caused to the defendants. The effect of the amendment
is merely to show that the plaintiff company is called SaboS® ©SM®®
an© aOamioffljncs and is also called “Colombo Dockyard (Pvt) Ltd.” By
this amendment it is not the intention of the plaintiff to substitute another
in place of the plaintiff - company.

Another objection taken by the defendant is that the plaintiff is not entitled
to amend the caption of the plaint after the case has been fixed for trial.
This objection is based on Section 93 (2) of the Civil Procedure Code.

Section 93 (2) of the Civil Procedure Code (as amended) states thus:
“ On or after the first day fixed for the trial of the action and before final

judgment, no application for the amendment of any pleadings shall be
allowed unless the Court is satisfied for reasons to be recorded by
Court, that grave and irremediable injustice will be caused if such
amendment is not permitted, and on no other ground, and the party so
applying has not been guilty of laches”
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Accordingly, the Court may allow an amendment of any pleadings if the
Court is satisfiedthat theplaintiff wouldsuffer grave and irremediable injustice
if the amendment is not allowed and the plaintiff has not been guilty of
laches.

When the plaintiffs witness was giving evidence, he said that thename
of the plaintiff - company is S/« s>e®§ ©Qaaf CMKB and he sought to
produce the Certificate of Incorporation of the plaintiff -company which
was objected to by the 1st defendant.The learned District Judge allowed
to produce the document. The witness continued to give evidence on the
next day,andhe saidthe plaintiff is calledand known as Colombo Dockyard
(Private) Ltd. as well as ©ssng® mOoKHocojnGj .

The witness stated (proceedings of the District Court dated 17.1.2002
at page 5) that the plaintiff is called Colombo Dockyard Ltd. as well as
S®aa8s) ©a»e® aOosooocoiacs . Thereafter the plaintiff sought to

amend the caption from a®oeSa @a»e® aOosnomaxa to Colombo
Dockyard Ltd”.

By this amendment the plaintiff is not seeking to widen the scope or
alter the character of the action and he is not trying to bring in a new
cause of action.He ismerely seeking to give thecorrect description of the
name of the plaintiff, the Colombo DockyardLimited”. It is tobe observed
that SSbesSa ©owe® an© aOazswomKitt is the Sinhala translation of
“Colombo Dockyard Limited .

Iam of the view that if the Court allows the amendment,no prejudice
wouldbecaused to the 1st defendant and the 2nd3rddefendants.On the
other hand if the proposed amendment is refused, grave injustice would
be caused to the plaintiff.

The need for the amendment sought by the plaintiff arose unexpectedly,
and the acceptance of the amendment does not cause prejudice to the
defendants.Hence,the amendment should be allowed. (SeeCharles Ms.
SamarasingheiS).

The fact that the plaintiff is called by both names, namely SSacsS®

©CM©® an© and 'Colombo Dockyard Ltd",was first disclosed
at the trial whilst the plaintiff s witness was giving evidence. In the
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circumstances it appears that the delay in seeking this amendment is not
a deliberate delay.

In the case of Shammari Vs. Premier Airline Agencies (Pvt) Ltd., ,6'
Weerasuriya, J.held that the question of laches cannot be determined
only by considering thenumber of trial dates or theperiodof time that had
elapsed,as delay persedoes not amount to laches and the circumstances
of the particular case have to be taken into account.

In these circumstances, it is my considered view that the amendment
to the caption of the plaint sought by the plaintiff does not violate the
provisions of Section 93(2) of the Civil Procedure Code. The amendment
would cause no prejudice to the defendants.

For these reasons, the order of the learned Additional District Judge
dated 20. 02. 2003 is set aside. The application is accordingly allowed,
but without costs.

AMERATUNGA, J- 1 agree.

Appealallowed.

RATNAYAKE
VS

TIKIRI BANDA AND OTHERS

COURT OF APPEAL
WIMALACHANDRA, J.
CA 1882/2004
DC KANDY 13301/P
26TH APRIL. 2005

Civil Procedure Code, sections 189, 754(4), 755, 755(3) and 839 - Can the trial
judge reject a petition of appeal on the ground that the order is not an
appealable order ?

Held:

(i) It is not for the trial judge to decide that the order or judgement appealed
against is not an appealable order - that question is for the Court of Appeal.

8 -CM6576
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(ii) If the petition of appeal is in accordance with the provisions of section
755(3), it is mandatory for the District Judge in terms of section 755(4) to
forward the petition of appeal with the opinion of the judge as to whether or
not there is a right of appeal against the judgment.

(iii) The District Judge erred in refusing to accept the petition of appeal which
amounts to the rejection of the appeal.

APPLICATION in revision from the order of the District Court of Kandy.

J. C. Boange for 8th defendant appellant petitioner.

Plaintiff respondent respondent absent and unrepresented.

01st August, 2005,
L.K. WIMALACHANDRA, J.

The 8th defendant-appellant-petitioner (petitioner)has filed this application
in revision from theorder of the District Judge of Kandy dated 06.08.2003.
By that order the learned judge rejected the petition of appeal filed by the
petitioner.

Briefly the facts as set out in the petition of appeal are as follows:

The plaintiff-respondent-respondent (plaintiff) instituted the partition
action to partition a land called Hitinagederawatte alias
Gamagederawatte about two pelas in extent. When the case was taken
up for. trial, the parties intimated to Court that there was no contest as
to the pedigree and the evidence of the plaintiff was led and there was
no cross-examination. Thereafter the judgment was delivered allotting
84/160shares to the plaintiff, 20/160 tothe 3rd defendant, 20/160 shares
to the 5th, 6th,7th, 9th to 14th defendants and 36/120 shares to the8th
defendant. The 8th defendant discovering an error in the calculation of
the shares and the computation of shares according to the evidence
led, moved to have the errors corrected in terms of sections 189 and
839 of the Civil Procedure Code. The Court, after an inquiry into the
application made by the8th defendant, corrected the error of 36/120 to
36/160, but held that the other error, that is the computation of the
share of the 8th defendant was not an arithmetical error and refused to
consider the correction of the error alleged to have been made in the
computation of shares. Being aggrieved with the judgment of the court
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dated 21.11.2003 in refusing to correct the computation of shares
according to the evidence led at the trial, the 8th defendant filed a
notice of appeal and a petition of appeal. The plaintiff objected to the
said appeal. TheCourt heldan inquiry andmade order on 06.08.2004
rejecting the petition of appeal of the 8th defendant. It is against this
order the 8th defendant has filed this application in revision.

The 8th defendant's position is that the learned District Judge had no
power to reject the petition of appeal. The learned counsel for the 8th
defendant in his written submission, submitted that the notice of appeal
and the petition of appeal were in conformity with the provisions of section
755 of the Civil ProcedureCode, as the noticeof appeal andthepetition of
appeal were filed within the prescribed time period in terms of sections
754(4) and section 755(3) of the Civil Procedure Code. In the impugned
order the learned judge has not faulted with the 8th defendant that her
notice of appeal and the petition of appeal are not in confirmity with the
provisions of sections754and755 of the CivilProcedureCode,but hehas
rejected the petition of appeal on the sole ground that the said order dated
06.08.2004 is not an appealable order.

Section 755(4) of the Civil Procedure Code states that upon the petition
of appealbeing filed,the Court shall forwardthepetition of appeal together
with all the papers relevant to the judgment appealed against, as speedily
as possible to the Court of Appeal, retaining however an office copy of the
judgment for thepurpose of execution if necessary.Hence, if the judge is
of the view that the judgment appealed from or the impugned order isnot
an appealable order,he must, with his opinion as to whether or not there is
a right of appeal against the judgment or order, forward the petition of
appeal to the Court of Appeal as speedily as possible in terms of section
755(4)of theCivil ProcedureCode.

In the circumstances, I am of the view that it is not for the learned
District Judge todecide that theorder or judgment appealed against is not
an appealable order and that question is for the Court of Appeal to decide.
Accordingly,if the petition of appeal is in accordance with the provisions of
section 755(3), it is mandatory for the District Judge in terms of section
755(4) of the Civil ProcedureCode to forward thepetition of appeal with the
opinion of the judge as to whether or not there is a right of appeal against
the judgment appealed against. Hence Iam of the view that the learned
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District Judge erred in refusing to accept the petition of appeal of the 8th
defendant, which amounts to the rejection of the petition of appeal.

+

For these reasons I allow the application in revision and set aside the
order of the District Judge dated 06.08.2003 and direct the learned District
Judge to forward the petition of appeal to this Court in terms of section
755(4) of the Civil Procedure Code. The application is allowed with costs
fixed at Rs. 7,500.

Application allowed ; District Judge directed to forward the appeal to the
Court of Appeal.

WELGAMA
VS.

WIJESUNDERA AND ANOTHER

SUPREME COURT
S. N. SILVA,CJ,
BANDARANAYAKE,J AND
JAYASINGHE,J
SC APPEAL 2/2003
CA L. A.24397
D.C.COLOMBO NO. 31166/T .
MAY 20,JUNE 17,JULY 11,AUGUST 29 AND NOVEMBER 3,2003
AND FEBRUARY 17,2004

Testamentary Action Determining the date of death for purpose of deciding.
date when estate passed to heirs and for grant of letters of administration -
Presumption of life - Evidence Ordinance, section 107 - Presumption of death
- Evidence Ordinance, section 108 - Interpretation Act, No. 10 of 1988
amending the period for presumption of death from seven years to one year"- How may court decide the date of death as a fact - Does the amendment date
back to the day deceased disappeared, viz. 13.02.1983 or should one year be *counted from the date of the amending Act, viz. 02.04.1988? - Intermeddling r
with the estate on the basis of deceased s power of attorney Effect of
intermeddling on the date of death.
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The appellant is the widow and the respondents are the two sisters of Upali
Wijewardena who disappeared on his way to Colombo from Kuala Lumpur in
his private lear jet on 13.02.1983. Neither the air craft nor the remains of
Wijewardena were traced.At the time of his disappearance neither the appellant
nor the respondents sought to institute testamentary proceedings, but on
07.10.1987 the respondents filed DC Colombo Case No. 30927/T. They
complained that the appellants acting on the power of attorney issued by
Wijewardena (deceased) intermeddled with the estate while he was alive
and sought letters of administration pendente tite under section 539A of the
Civil Procedure Code (then in force) on the basis that Wijewardena died on
13.02.1983. The court did not publish order nisi but ordered that the appellant's
objections be issued to the respondents.

When the matter was taken to the Court of Appeal by the respondents, the
appellant explained that the respondents were estopped from pleading death
on 13.02.1983 and that as on the date of his disappearance the deceased's
liabilities exceed his assets. He owed Rs. 50 million to the Revenue
Department and Rs. 200 million to the People s Bank; steps were taken to
settle these debts on the basis of the power of attorney and the respondents

y acquiesced in restructuring the companies and in fact accepted office as
directors of separate companies.

In the meantime on 21.04.1988, section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance
was amended by Act, No. 10 of 1988 substituting the words seven years with

one year” for the purpose of reducing the period of presumption of death.
Consequently the Court of Appeal litigation in DC Colombo No. 30927/T was
withdrawn by the respondents who also consented to letters of administration
being granted to the appellant in DC Colombo No. 31166/T filed on 28.04.1988.
In that action court ordered final accounts to be filed on 08.03.1993.

Notwithstanding the settlement reached regarding DC Colombo No. 309271/
T which was withdrawn of consent, respondents insisted in Case No. 31166/
T that the court should hear the matter as if Wijewardena died on 13.02.1983.
The appellant contends that she filed action on the basis that the decreased
died on 21.04.1988, the date of the amending Act, No. 10 of 1988. The District
Judge held that on the basis of the evidence and documents the date of the
death was 13.02.1983. The Court of Appeal affirmed the order of the District
Judge that the date of death has to be established on evidence and not in
terms of section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance, as amended.

HELD:

(Bandaranayake, J. dissenting)



12 Sri Lanka Law Reports (2006) 1 Sri L. R.

*The date of the death for purpose of the estate should be taken as
21.04.1988.

PerS.N.SILVA,CJ

The question is from which date the period of one year should
be computed? Is it one year immediately preceding 21.04.1988 as contended
by the President s Counsel for the appellant or one year from the date of
disappearance as contended in particular by Counsel for the 2nd respondent ?
I am inclined to agree with the President’s Counsel for the appellant for two
reasons.

Firstly the amendment to the Evidence Ordinance is procedural in nature. It
applies prospectively and a party could avail of it only after it comes into force.
Therefore, the earliest date on which a party could establish the fact of death
on the basis of the presumption is the date on which the law comes into
operation. A fortiori the relevant period within which it should be proved that the
person was not heard is the period of one year immediately preceding that
year.

Secondly, if the presumption of death is to relate back to one year after
13.02.1983 as contended by Counsel for the 2nd respondent or to 13.02.1983
as contended by President's Counsel for the 1st respondent, it would lead to
the incongruous result as noted above, in which the person will be presumed
to be alive as well as dead during the same period.'.
Per BANDARANAYAKE,J.(dissenting)

1. Section 107 of the Evidence Ordinance could be regarded as a
provision which considers the burden of proof of the death of a
person known to have been alive within thirty years and section 108
refers to the burden of proof regarding a person who is alive and had
not been heard of for seven years .

2. It would be necessary according to Pulle,J(in Davoodbhoyv.Farook)
(1959) 63 NLR 97) to prove such death in terms of section 101 of the
Evidence Ordinance .

3. “The period of seven years referred to in section 108 was amended
by Act, No. 10 of 1988 by reducing the period of seven years to one
year."

4. “That section (108) does not create a presumption as to the time of
death of a person in question”.
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5 "Although the deceased was not seen after 13.02.1983, the
appellant had dealt with his property as he was alive and living

elsewhere. ,

The respondents have continued to state that the appellant was
last seen or heard on 13,02.1983. The appellant has not disputed
this fact nor has taken any steps to prove anything to the contrary.
Therefore there could not be any dispute between the parties that the
deceased was last seen or heard on 13.02.1983.”.

6. I cannot see any basis for the date of the amended section 108,
which came into force to be regarded as the date of the death of the
deceased and in my view the contention that the date is to be
presumed as at 21.04.1988 is not only contradictory and untenable,
but also is an attempt to give an artificial and baseless interpretation
to the amended section ."
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APPEAL from the judgement of the Court of Appeal.

Nihal Jayamanne P. C. with Ronald Perera, V. Choksy, Noorani Amarasinghe,Uditha Collure and Dilan de Silva for appellant.

Wijeyadasa Rajapakse, PC with Navin Marapana for respondents.

Cur.adv.vult.

April 1st 2005
SARATH N. SILVA, C. J.

This is an appeal from the Judgment dated 11.01.1999 of the Court of
Appeal. By that Judgment the Court of Appeal dismissed the application
of the appellant for leave to appeal from order dated 28.11.1997 of the
District Court.

The hearing of the application for Special Leave to Appeal before this
Court and of this appeal were adjourned for considerable periods of time to
enable the parties to arrive at a settlement of the dispute. Upon the failure
to arrive at a settlement, Counsel made submissions and thereafter
tendered extensive written submissions.

The dispute relates to the administration of the estate of the late Philip
Upali Wijewardena, leadingpublic figure andabusinessman. He embarked
from the Kuala Lumpur International Airport in his private Lear Jet on
13.02.1983 with the recorded destination being Colombo. The aircraft
failed to give a position report overhead Medan to the Kuala Lumpur Air
TrafficControl Centre and did not regain contact with any GroundControl .
Center, thereafter. Neither the remains of Wijewardena nor of any of the r
passengers have been found. It is reported that some fishermen in
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Indonesia have found a wheel of an aircraft and a part which could be
related to that aircraft. The heirs are his widow, the present appellant and
his two sisters, being the Respondents. Although, Wijewardena
disappeared in the circumstances stated above on 13.02.1983, neither
the Appellant nor any of the Respondents sought to institute Testamentary
proceedings for Letters of Administration in terms of Section 530(1) of the
Civil Procedure Code (which was then applicable) on the basis that he
died on 13.02.1983 being the day on which the aircraft he was in
disappeared. Wijewardenahad appointed one Ramalingam Murugiah as
his Attorney and his affairs were carried out on the basis of the said Power
of Attorney. Subsequently, the said Murugiah gave a substituted Power of
Attorney in favour of the Appellant.

On 07.10.1987, the two Respondents filed a petition in the District
Court of Colombo (No.30927/T), seeking Letters of Administration in respect
of the estate of Wijewardena. It was pleaded in the petition (paragraph 7)
that thePetitionershavereason tobelieve that the Respondent (the present
appellant) has been willfully asserting that the deceased is still alive for
the unlawful and illegal purpose of administering wrongfully, intermeddling
and to do what she solely wishes with the considerable assets of the
deceased, without any authority or supervision from this Court. They also
pleaded that the action taken by Murugiah and the Appellant on the power
of attorney referred to above is unlawful. They applied to administer the
estate on the basis that Wijewardena died on 13.02.83 and sought inter
alia Letters of Administration pendente lite in terms of Section 539A of the
Civil ProcedureCode (which was then applicable).The District Court refused
to grant Letters of Administration pendente lite. However, the Court issued
Order Nisi on 08.10.1987. On 19.10.1987 the Appellant filed papers and
made an application to recall the Order Nisi that had been issued. The
District Court then noted that the Order Nisi had not been signed and
made order that no Order Nisi be published. It was further directed that
Notice of objection be issued on the present Respondents. The
Respondents filed an application for Leave to Appeal to the Court of Appeal
from the order made by the District Court on 19.10.1987. They also filed
an application in Revision and a Final Appeal from the same Order.

On 28.04.1988, the Appellant filed petition in the District Court (Case
No. 31166/T) seeking Letters of Administration. The application was filed
on the basis of the amendment to Section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance
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made by Act, No. 10 of 1988, which came into force on 21.04.1988. The
District Court issued Order Nisi on the basis of this application, in terms of
Section 531 of the Civil Procedure Code and directed service on the
Respondents.

At this juncture, when cases were pending in the District Court and
Court of Appeal as aforesaid, the parties entered into a settlement on
18.01.1989. The settlement has been signed by the appellant and the
Respondents on the basis of which the Respondents withdrew the
Applications for Leave to Appeal,Revision,and the Final Appeal referred
to above.A schedule to the Settlement Agreement specifies the Companies
in respect of which the deceased had interests and the Appellant agreed
on her part to the appointment of the Respondents and their children to
positions in the Boards of Directors of specified Companies and to make
certain payments as fees. It is specifically provided that subsequent to
the execution of the agreement and the appointment of Directors, as
referred to, the Respondents will consent to Letters of Administration in
respect of the estate of the deceasedbeingissuedto the Appellant in the
District Court case No.31166/T, as the widow of the deceased without her T
providing any security for this purpose other than a personal bond. The
Respondents also agreed to withdraw the testamentary action No, 30927/
T filed by them in the District Court. It was specifically agreed that the
Respondents will withdraw the allegations made against the Appellant in
paragraph 7 of the petition filed in that action, the contents of which
paragraph have been referred to above.

On the basis of the foregoing settlement Appellant was issued with
Letters of Administration.

On 26.11.1992 the Letters of Administration were signed by the Addl.
District Judge who directed that the inventory and the final account be filed
on 08.03.1993. In clause 3 of the settlement Agreement it is specifically *stated that the Appellant, undertakes to furnish accounts in respect of
each andevery year of her administration of the saidEstate of the deceased
to the Parties of the First Part (Respondents) before the Thirty First day of
December in each and every year commencing from 31st March, 1990

The dispute was rekindled by the failure on the part of the Appellant to
file the inventoryand finalaccount as directed by Courtor to render accounts
as agreed to inclause3of the Agreement referredabove.TheRespondents
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filedapetition and affidavit on 02.04.1997 incaseNo. 31166/T (being the
application filed by the Appellant in which Letters of Administration had
been issued.), allgeging inter alia, that the deceased died on 13.02.1983
andthe Appellant intermeddledand/or dealt with theassets of thedeceased
for her own benefit on the basis of a Power of Attorney which was null and
void, for her own benefit in fraud of the Respondents. They sought an
order against the Appellant from the District Court to file a further inventory
andvaluation of the deceased s property at the date of his death,namely
13.02.1983 and a final account of the administration of the estate on or
before a date to be fixed by Court.

The Appellant filed objections on 29.07.1997 stating that the
Respondents are estopped from asserting that the deceased died on
13.02.1983 after they withdrew case No. 30927fT filed by them and
consented to Letters beinggranted to her in case No. 31166/T filedby her
on the basis that death took place on 21.04.1988 being the date on which
the amendment to the Evidence Ordinance came into force.She further
stated that as at thedate of disappearance the liabilities of Mr. Wijewardena
exceededhis assets, with about Rs. 50 Million due to the Inland Revenue
Department and nearly Rs.200Million due to the People's Bank on debts
of his companies coveredbypersonalguarantees. That, action was taken
on the Power of Attorney to avoid a bankruptcy situation in which the
Peoples Bank would have taken over the assets. The debts were settled
and the assets were restructured. That, the Respondents acquiesced in

such restructuring which was done on the basis that Wijewardena was
alive and on the authority of the power of attorney byacceptingDirectorship
in Companies that came into existence after 13.02.1983, in terms of
Settlement Agreement referred to above.

The Additional District Judge, in the first part of his Order dated
28.11.1997,came toa finding that the Appellant has delayed in filing the
final account and inventory. In the second part of his Order the Judge has
noted that for the purpose of filing the final account and inventory it is
necessary todecideonthe date of death andon the documentary evidence
adduced as to the disappearance of the aircraft he held that the date of
death was 13.02.1983. The Appellant was accordingly directed to file the
inventory and final account within 6 months on the basis that the death
took place on 13.02.1983. The Court of Appeal dismissed the application
for Leave to Appeal on the basis that the date of death cannot be decided
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in terms of Section 108of theEvidence Ordinance. That, the date of death
should be established on evidence and on the documentary evidence the
District Court correctly held that death took place on 13.02.1983.

At the stage of granting Special Leave both parties were permitted to
raise questions on which the appeal will be considered. The questions
raisedby the Appellant are based on the premise that the direction made
by the District Court to file the inventory and final account with effect from
13.02.1983 is erroneous and that the date of the inventory and
commencement of the accounting should be taken as one of the following.:

(i) in view of section 553 of theCivil ProcedureCode whichrequires
a final account of the executorship or administration , the point of
commencement shouldbe thedateon which anorder was made
to issue Letters of Administration to the Appellant being
24.04.1989;

(ii) in view of the Settlement Agreement which requires the Appellant
to furnish an account of her administration of the estate,
commencing 31st March 1990, (clause 3), that should be taken
as the date operative between the parties,

(iii) in view of the Appellants application for Letters of Administration
being filedon 28.04.1988on thebasisof theamendment toSection
108 of the Evidence Ordinance which came into force on
21.04.1988, that date should be taken as the date on which the
estate came into being and the operative date for the inventory
and the accounting.

Submissions of President s Counsel for the Appellant relate mainly to
the premise formulatedin (iii) above.

TheRespondents raisedthe question that the Appellant shouldaccount
from the date she began to intermeddle with the estate of the deceased
beingthedate of disappearanceof the deceasedandthat thepresumption
operative in terms of Section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance and/or that
Letters of Administration issued, should relate back to that date. Initially,
only one set of submissions were filed on behalf of both Respondents.
Later,aseparate submission was filed on behalf of the 2ndRespondent in
which it hasbeen contended that even assuming that the Amendment to

*
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Section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance applies, the date of death should
be taken as one year after the date of disappearance viz.13.02.1984.In
the joint submission made on behalf of the Respondents it was contended
that the Settlement Agreement was void.

The question raised by the parties relate to the principal fact in issue,
being the date of death of Wijewardena,which has been addressed from
different aspects of fact and the application of principles of Law.It is tobe
borne inmind that we have to examine the issue solely from theperspective
of a testamentary action. We are here, not concerned with the
circumstances relevant to the disappearance of the ill-fated aircraft but,
with the estate of Wijewardena. The dispute is, to state it plainly, as to
the property of Mr. Wijewardena and the manner in which it should be
accounted for; if as at 13.02.1983, being the date of disappearance, Mr.
Wijewardena owned no property, there wouldhave been nodispute.

From theperspective of theLaw,property is identifiedonly with reference
to rights and obligations in relation to such property. I use the words rights
andobligations to include all the jural co-relatives identified in jurisprudence
that may relate toproperty.For example, if we takean immovable property
such as a block of land, from the perspective of the Law, we are not
concerned whether it is fertile or infertile, flat of steep but, only with the
rights of ownership,possession,use enjoyment and so on. These rights
are identified in relation to property, as being vested with aperson or other
legal entity that can hold such rights. The same applies to all forms of
movable property andlegally recognized relationships,be it incontract or
otherwise.Since propertyand legal relationships areidentified with reference
to persons who are vested with rights and obligations, it is essential for
the legal system that suchpersonsbe clearly identified,at any given point
of time.

The death of a person, in physical or material terms means, the
cessation of life. In legal terms, it means the passing of the dead persons
rights and obligations that survive, to the heirs or the persons who inherit
his property.

For the purpose of testamentary proceedings,at themoment of death
the property of the deceased (the bundle of rights and obligations)
become the estate andpass without interval to the heirs.This basic premise
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of the law has been clearly stated in a decision of the Full Bench of the
Supreme Court in the case of Silva vs. Silva (1) Grenier A. J. stated as
follows :

*
On the death of a person his estate, in the absence of a will,

passes at once by operation of law to his heirs, and the dominium
vests in them. Once it so vests they cannot be divested of it except
by the several well-known modes recognized by law ."

TheLaw does not and cannot recognize an interval between the death
and the passing of property, since rights and obligations, from which
perspective only, property and legal relationshipsare identified in law, have
to be, at any given point of time vested or reposed in a person or a legal
entity.

Moving from the general propositions stated above, to the specific facts
of the case; when the aircraft in which Wijewardena was travelling
disappeared on 13.02.1983, andhe was notheard of thereafter; the obvious
question that arose in relation to his property rights and obligations was
whether they couldbe dealt with on the basis Wijewardena was alive or on
the basis he was dead. The preceding analysis reveals that from a legal
perspective as to property rights and obligations, there could be no
intermediate situation.

The question whether a person is dead or alive, is one of fact and in this
instance the fact in issue is the date of death since the estate for purpose
of Testamentary proceedings came into existence on that date and the
property rights and obligations thereupon pass to the heirs. There is no
direct evidence as to the death of Mr. Wijewardena. However, this does
preclude the proof of that fact with circumstantial evidence. Although, a
basic premise of our Law of Evidence, it is relevant to state here the
standard of proof that would apply. Section 3 of the Evidence Ordinance
states as follows :

A fact is said to be proved when, after considering the matters
before it, the court either believes it to exist or considers its existence
so probable that a prudent man ought, under the circumstances of the
particular case, to act upon the supposition that it exists."
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Documentary evidence was adduced by the Respondents with their
petition dated 02.04.1997 filed in the District Court seeking an accounting
from 13.02.1983, alleging that on a balance of probability that Mr.
Wijewardena diedon that date.Upon an acceptance of theevidence the
impugnedordershavebeen madeby District Court and the Court of Appeal.
However, it is obvious that this evidence was available to them as far back
as 1983. The significant matter is that neither the Respondents, nor the
Appellant nor any of the persons whohad claims against Mr. Wijewardena,
sought to assert that the death took place on 12.02.1983 and to institute
Testamentary proceedings,at that stage,on this material.They all chose
to go along with what is generally describedas the presumption as to life
anddeath"as contained in Section 107 and 108 of theEvidenceOrdinance.
These two sections that appear in the part dealing with the burden of
proof, prior to the amendment to Section 108 effected by Act, No, 10 of
1988 read as follows

107. When the question is whether a man is alive or dead, and it is
shown that he was alive within thirty years, the burden of proving that he
is dead is on the person who affirms it".

108. Provided that when the question is whether a man is alive or
dead, and it is proved that he has not been heard of for seven years by
those who would naturally have heard of him if he had been alive, the
burden of proving that he is alive isshifted to the person whoaffirms it.

Coomaraswamy in his book on the Law of Evidence (Vol. II book Iat
page 429) describes the operation of the presumption of life thus:

When the question is whether a man is alive or dead, and it is shown
that he was alive within thirty years, the burden of proving that he is
dead is on the person who affirms it. In other words, the court has to
presume that the man is alive until the contrary is proved by those who
affirm that he is dead. If not soproved, those who affirm that he is alive
will succeed. This is known in English Law as the presumption as to
continuance of life. It derives its authority from the presumption of
continuancerecognized inSection 114(c), but it appears tobeobligatory,
whereas Section 114(c) is discretionary. It is a rebuttable presumption.
These two sections do not lay down inflexible principles of law. They

are only rules of evidence that state the burden ina proceeding before any
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who alleges it, on a balance of probability as noted above. Section 108 isa proviso which comes into operation in the background of thepresumptionof lifeas containedinSection 107.The manner in which theprovisoworks,
could be stated in practical terms as follows :

The presumption of life continues to apply since the person has beenalive within thirty years and a party not being possessed of evidence toprove the fact of death,adduces evidence short of thatby provingthat theperson has not been heard for seven years (prior to the amendment) bythose who would naturally haveheard of him if he had been alive, then the
presumption shifts and it is presumed that the person is dead. In suchcircumstances the party who alleges that theperson is alive has toprovethat fact on a balance of probability. The presumption of life is no longeroperative.

It is now necessary to apply these presumptions to the facts of thiscase.

As at 13.02.1983being the date of disappearance of Wijewardenahad
been alive within thirty years. Therefore, Mr.he is presumed to be alive.
The Appellant and others who dealt with his property, rights and obligations
functioned on the premise that he was alive and the Appellant acted for
and on his behalf. Section 107 which lays down the presumption of life
does not debar any person from adducing evidence and provingthe fact of
death. The Respondents did not avail of this option. By Act, No. 10 of
1988, Section 108 was amended by substituting a period one year inplace of the period of seven years. The amendment was certified on
21.04.1988 and within one week on 28.04.1988 the Appellant filed the
present case for Letters of Administration pleading specifically that
Wijewardena should be presumed to be dead in terms of Section 108 of
the Evidence Ordinance as amended. The present Respondents who were
cited in that application accepted that basis and agreed to the grant of
Letters of Administration. y

The question to be considered is whether jn this state of things, the
Respondents couldnearly nine years later, in April 1997 file papers alleging
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that, Mr. Wijewardena died on 13.02.1983. To my mind the following points
militate against this belated change of position on the part of the
Respondents, which found favour with the District Court and the Court of
Appeal. They are :

(i) After the disappearance of Mr. Wijewardena on 13.02.1983 the
Appellant actingon the presumption of life dealt with his affairs in
terms of the power of Attorney as stated above. The
Respondents who knew of this course of action, did not seek to
stop it by instituting a Testamentary proceeding on the

. documentary evidence asto thedisappearance which according
to them establish on a balance or probability that Mr.
Wijewardena, died on 13.02.1983.

(ii) On07.10.1987 the Respondents filed caseNo. 30927/Tfor Letters
of Administration on the premise that Mr Wijewardena died on
13.02.1983. It is significant that they relied on the same
documentary evidence adduced with the petition dated 02.04.1997
toprove the fact of death and also made the same allegation that
the Appellant fraudulently and wrongfully dealt with the affairs on
the basis of the Power of Attorney. The Respondents later
withdrew this application and allproceedingin the court of Appeal,
filed from the order of the Additional District Judge refusing to
sign the Order Nisi in their favour, without any reservation of their
right to reagitate the same matter;

(iii) In the Settlement Agreement, the Respondents specifically
withdrew the allegation in paragraph 7 of their petition dated
07.10.1987 filed in case No. 30927/T which reads as follows :

The Petitioners (present Respondent)have reasons to believe
that the Respondent (present Appellant)hasbeen willfully asserting
that the said deceased is still alive for the unlawfully and illegal
purpose of administering wrongfully intermeddling and todo what
she solely wishes with the considerable assets of the deceased
without any authority or supervision from this Court and also
completely disregarding the rights and interests of the Petitioners
who are the sisters of the late Upali Wijewardena (deceased)
Thereby, they accepted the validity of the action taken by the

9 -CM6576
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Appellant on the basis of that Wijewardena was alive by virtue of
the power of attorney. Their acquiescence in the course of action
taken by the Appellant is confirmed by the acceptance of
Directorships in companies formed after 13.02.1983 in terms of
that Power of Attorney.

(rv) The Respondents consented to Letters of Administration being
granted to the Appellant in her application in which the fact of
death is asserted in terms of Section 108 of the Evidence
Ordinance, as amended. The Respondents did not contest this
position at that stage and seek to establish that the death took
place on 13.02.1983. On the contrary, they withdrew their
application for Letters filed on that basis as noted in (ii) above.

The Respondents have thus acquiesced in the course of action taken
bythe Appellant after 13.02.1983 in attending the affairs of Mr. Wijewardena
in terms of the Power of Attorney. On the basis of their conduct itemized
above including the Settlement Agreement and the two Testamentary
cases, they are estopped in law from asserting in 1997 that Mr.
Wijewardena s date of death, for the purpose of the administration of his
estate, should be taken as 13.02.1983. The operation of the doctrine of
estoppel is stated in Section 115 of the Evidence Ordinance as follows :

When one person has by his declaration, act, or omission
intentionally caused or permitted another person to believe a thing to
be true and to act upon such belief , neither he nor his representative
shall be allowed in any suit or proceeding between himself and such
person or his representative to deny the truth of that thing.

In Englandthedoctrine of estoppelhasbeen statedasageneral principle
by Lord Denning M. R. in the following statement made in Amalgamated
Investment and Property Co. Ltd., vs. Texas Commerce International
Bank Ltd. (2)

The doctrine of estoppel is one of the most flexible and useful in
the armoury of the law. But it has become over loaded with cases. That
is why I have not gone through them all in this judgment. It has evolved .
during the last 150 years in a sequence of separate developments: T

proprietary estoppel, estoppel by representation of fact, estoppel by
acquiescence, and promissory estoppel. At the same time it has been



SC Welgama vs. Wijesundera and another (Silva , CJ) 125

4
sought to be limited by a series of maxims: estoppel is only a rule of

* evidence, estoppelcannot give rise to a cause of action, estoppel cannot
do away with the need for consideration, and so forth, All these can now
be seen to merge into one general principle shorn of limitations. When
the parties to a transaction proceed on the basis of an underlying
assumption-either of fact or of law - whether due to misrepresentation
or mistake makes no difference - on which they have conducted the
dealings between them - neither of them will be allowed to go back on
that assumption when it would be unfair or unjust to allow him to do so.
If one of them does seek to go back on it, the courts will give the other
such remedy as the equity of the case demands.

Although, certain doubts have been expressed in England or to the
Application of a unified doctrine of estoppel, the statement of Lord
Denningcould be read in harmony with the principle in Section 115 of our
Evidence Ordinance.

4 The Appellant applied for Letters of Administration on the basis of the
presumption in Section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance, as amended. The
Respondents who had previously applied for Letters on the basis of
circumstantial evidence that the death took place on 13.02.1983 dropped
that premise and acquiesced in the position taken by the Appellant. The
Court has to decide the fact in issue as to date of death in relation to the
parties and then apply it to property, obligations and so on, as noted
above. There is no question of the date of death being decidedasa matter
of general or public importance, in which event different considerations
may have to be taken into account. Between the parties, based on their
conduct, as analysed above, the date of death must necessarily be
decided on the basis of the application of the presumption in Section 108
of the Evidence Ordinance, as amended. This process of reasoning may

• not be amenable to common sense or logic but, from the perspective of
the Law, thereasoninghas to be applied so that at any given point of time,

it produces a clear and unambiguous answer as to whether a person is
considered as alive or dead. There cannot be any intermediate period of
doubt or ambiguity. The preceding analysis shows that rights and obligations
in relation to property and transactions are workable only on a clearly
defined line of demarcation in which a person is considered to be alive
upto a specified date and dead thereafter. As at the date of death thus
determined, the estate comes into being and the rights and obligations in
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relation to property and transactions that survive after death, pass to the
heirs or persons to whom they are devised or bequeathed.

The presumption of death in Section 108 is a proviso to the general
presumption of continuity as contained in Section 107. The general
presumption as to continuity of life is couched in wide terms for obvious
reasons. In the absence of specific evidence as to the fact of death, the
law has to presume that theperson who wasalive continues to be alive. In
this background of a presumption of continuity of life, the presumption of
death as contained in the proviso operates only where it is proved that
the person has not been head of for seven years (prior to the amendment)
by those who would have naturally heard of him, if he had been alive.” On
the reasoning set out above, the question can now be narrowed down to
its core. On what date does the presumption of death begin to operate?
Does it relate back to the date theperson was not heard of as contended
by the Respondents? Or, is it at the end of the period as contended by the
Appellant?

If the answer is based ontheprinciple of relationback as contended by
the Respondents, the person will now be presumed to be dead during the
period he was presumed to be alive in terms of Section 107. As noted
above, for rights and obligations in relation to property and transactions to
be worked, there has to be a clear dividing line, A person cannot be
presumed to be alive anddeadduringthe same period. If so, all transactions
entered on the basis that the person is alive would be put asunder and
there would be uncertainty as to their validity. Furthermore, in terms of
Section 108, the presumption arises only when it is proved that he has
not been heardof for sevenyears(prior tothe amendment) by those who
wouldnaturally have heard of him if he had been alive.... The fact could be
said to be proved only at the end of the period.

The conclusion arrived at pursuant to the preceding analysis, flowing
from the Law of Property, to succession and the application of Section
107 and 108 of the Evidence Ordinance is supported by the series of
judgments in England which relate to trusts, legacies, prescription and
bigamy cited by President s Counsel for the Appellant. In all these cases
the evidence was that theperson in question disappeared and ithas been
consistently held that the absence of evidence as to the date of death, the
fact of death has to be presumed at the end of the period of seven years.
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In a chronological order the cases are as follows :

4

1. Doe vs. Nepean (3)Judgment of DenmanC. J.
2. Re. Benham s Trusts (4)
3. Re. Phenes Trust (5)
4. Re. Rhodes; Rhodes vs. Rhodes (6)
5. Rex vs. Taylor (7)
6. Warkins vs. Warkins (8)
7. Thompson vs. Thompson (9)

A further complication arises in this case from the amendments to
section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance effected by Act, No. 10 of 1989
certified on 21.04.1988. The amendment simply substitutes three words
for one year in place of the words for seven years” in Section 108.1

would reproduce the comment made by Coomaraswamy with regard to
this amendment with which I am in entire agreement:

Prior to the21st April, 1988, when Amendment Act, No. 10of 1988
was certified, the Ordinance, following the wisdom of more mature
systems like the English Law very properly fixed this period at seven
years. But the Amendment drastically reduced the period to one year.
It is submitted that this is a retrograde step which will lead to many
complicated and anomalous situations and shouldbe rectified forthwith.

To depart from a provision which has worked satisfactorily and which
was basedon the wisdom of the ages and to amend the law in this way,
perhaps in order to benefit one individual or more, is not in the best
interests of justice and can do violence to the symmetry of the law. It
imposes an unnecessary heavy burden on those who seek to show
that the person is alive. It will also result in the fouling of title to property.
It certainly shows the wisdom of the legislature in a very poor light.
(Vol. II Book 1, P.430)

When the amendment came into force on 21.04.1988 a period of 5
yearsand2monthshad elapsed from the date of disappearance. Therefore,
the presumption of life was operative. With the amendment the fact of U
deathcould be presumed after one year. Thequestion is from which date f
should the period of one year be computed. Is it one year immediately j
preceding 21.04.1988 as contended by President s Counsel for thdVy |
Appellant or one year from the date of disappearance as contended inr

S'«
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particular by Counsel for the 2nd Respondent. I am inclined to agree with
the submission of President s Counsel for the Appellant for two reasons:

Firstly, the amendment is to the Evidence Ordinance is procedural in
nature. It appliesprospectively andaparty could avail of its provisionsand
institute proceedings only after it comes into force. Therefore, the earliest
date on which aparty could establish the fact of death on thebasis of the
presumption is the date on which the law came into operation. A fortiori,
the relevant period within which it should be proved that the person was
not heard is the period of one year immediately preceding that date.

Secondly, if thepresumption of death is to relateback to one year after
13.02.1983, as contended by Counsel for the 2nd Respondent or to
13.02.1983 itself as contended by Presidents Counsel for the 1st
Respondent, it would lead to a incongruous result, as noted above, in
which the person would bepresumed to be alive as well asbe dead during
the same period.

For these reasons I uphold the submission of President s Counsel for
the Appellant that the date of death for the purpose of the estate should
be taken as 21.04.1988 as being the earliest date on which it could be
established in terms of Section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance that the
presumption of death applies.

President’s Counsel for the 1st Respondent has submitted that the
Appellant should be considered as an Executor de son tortfrom the date
on which she started to intermeddle with the estate of the deceased being
the date of disappearance. He cited the followingpassage from Wharton’s
Lexicon and from Executors and Administrators by N. E. Mustoe :

*Executor de son tort, tf a stranger takes upon himself to act
as executor or administrator (see. 14 Halsbury s L ofE, 2nd edn. Para
282), without any just authority (as by intermeddling with the goods of
the deceased, andany other transactions), he is called in law an executor
of his own wrong, de son tort, and is liable to the extent of the assets
which have come to him and toall the trouble of an executorship without,r« any of the profits or advantages

v An executor de son tort can discharge his liability by obtaining probate
if he is entitled, or by accounting to the personal representative, or to

< '4< the Court, in an administration by the Court.
'* (Whartons Lexicon 14th edition page 390)

*
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* *Any person who is not an executor or an administrator , but who
intermeddles with the deceased s property, may make himself liable to

the obligations of an executor de son tort (by his own wrong). Very
slight acts on intermeddling, will make a person an executor de son
tort, e.g. advertising for claims, paying or receiving payment of debts,

or carrying on the deceased s business."(Executors and Administrators
by N. E. Mustoe 4th Ed. page 6)

Thepreceding analysis reveals that from the perspective of the Law the
property of a person has to be dealt with on the basis that he is alive or
dead with a clear dividing line. As at the date of disappearance, the
presumption of life was operative and the affairsof Mr. Wijewardena were
carried on, on the basis he was alive. The finding stated above is that, the
presumption of death operates from 21.04.1988 being the earliest date on
which the mattercouldhavebeen established in Court. It is a sine quanon
for a person to be considered an Executor de son tort, that it be
established in the first instance that the person is dead and there is an
estate. Therefore the liability of an Executor de son tort cannot be attributed
to the Appellant in the manner contended for by Counsel. If at all, the
Appellant could be considered an Executor de son tortfrom 21.04.1988.
This would be unnecessary since the doctrine of relation back relied on by
the Respondents would apply and the letters granted subsequentlywould
relate to the date of death as determined. In this connection I would cite
the following passage from Whartons Law Lexicon - 4th Edn. - Page 858
relied on by the Respondents -

Relation, where two different times or things are accounted as one,
and by some act done the thing subsequent is said to take effect by
relation from the time preceding. Thus letters of administration relate
backto the intestate sdeath, andnot to the time when they weregranted.

Accordingly I allow the appeal and set aside the order dated 28.11.1997
of the District Court and the judgment dated 11.01.1999 of the Court of
Appeal. The Appellant being the Administratrix of the Estate is directed to
file the inventory and final account on the basis of that the Eatate of the
deceased came into being on 21.04.1988. Since the Administratrix has
failed to file any account either in compliance of the Settlement Agreement
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or in compliance with the order made by the District Court, she is directed
to file the said inventory and account finally within 3 months of the date of
this Judgement.

*
No costs.

JAYASINGHE ,J., I agree.,

Appealallowed.

SHIRANI A.BANDARANAYAKE, J.(Dissenting)

Ihave hadthe benefit of reading, in draft, the judgment of HisLordship
the Chief Justice. Whilst I am in agreement with the factual position
considered in the said draft, I regret very much that I am unable to agree
with His Lordship's answer to the question as to the exact date of the
presumption of death begins to operate, inconnection to the estate of the
deceased coming into being to the appellant for the purpose of inventing
andaccounting. The reasons for my inability toagree with the draft judgment
are as follows :

At the stage of granting Special Leave to Appeal, both parties were
permitted to raise questions on which the appeal was to be considered
and consequently three questions were so raised. However, learned
President s Counsel for theappellant made submissionsmainlyon question
No. 3, which was in the following terms:

In view of the appellant s application for letters of administration
being filed on 28.04.1988 on the basis of the amendment to section
108 of the Evidence Ordinance, which came into force on 21.04.1988,
that date should be taken as the date on which the estate came into
being and the operative date for the inventing and the accounting.".

Having considered the aforementioned question, it has been narrowed
down in the draft judgment to read as follows:
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On what date does the presumption of death begin to operate?
Does it relate back to the date of the person was not heard of as
contended by the respondents? Or is it at the end of the period as
contended by the appellant?

The appeal was chiefly considered on the basis of Sections 107 and
108 of the Evidence Ordinance. These two sections are contained in Part
III, which deals with the burden of proof. Section 107 of the Evidence
Ordinance could be regarded as a provision which considers the burden of
proof of the death of aperson known to havebeen alive within thirty years
and Section 108 refers to the burden of proof regarding a person who is
alive and has notbeen heard of for seven years. Having said that, it is also
necessary to be borne in mind that both these sections are also referred
to as sections dealing with the presumption of death and the presumption
of continuance of life. Consideringthis aspect,E. R. S.R. Coomaraswamy,

(The Law of Evidence, Vol. II, Book I, pp. 428-429) is of the view that,

p The fact is that rules as to burden of proof andpresumptions are so
involved together that it is artificial to separate a given situation and to
state that it is a pure rule of the burden of proof and not of apresumption.
Every rebuttable presumption in favour of one party necessarily involves
a rule as to burden of proof in the other and vice versa. It is, therefore,

proposed to consider the rules in sectionsi07, 108, 109, 110 and 111
as giving rise to the contrary presumptions which a court shall draw.” .

At the same time it would be necessary to be borne in mind that there
is a school of thought that Sections 107 and 108 of the Evidence Ordinance
do not enact a presumption of law or fact, but enact rules governing the
burden of proof. In fact Basnayake, C. J. , in Davoodbhoyv. Farookm
observed that,

•It is essential to bear in mind that Sections 107 and 108 do not
enact apresumption of law or fact, but enact rules governingthe burden
of proof like any one of the other rules that precede them. .

A similar view was takenby Pulle, J., in the same decision to the effect
that,

A rule of evidence as to burden of proof does not generate a
presumption of fact.”
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The view that has been taken by Pulle, J„thus emphasizes the fact
that one cannot always discharge the burden that the person in question
is dead by leading evidence to indicate that the saidperson had not been
heard of for seven years by those who would naturally have heard from
him. It would be necessary according to Pulle, J., to prove such death in
terms of Section 101 of the EvidenceOrdinance. In Pulle,J., s words:

*

Inmy view there is nothing in section 108,which compels aCourt to
hold,upon proof that a person has not been heard of for seven years by
those who would naturally have heard of him if he had been alive, that
the fact of that person s death has been established by him on whom
the burden lies under Section 101 to prove such death. .
Sections 107and108of the Evidence Ordinance,No.14 of 1895 reads

as follows:

Section 107-
When the question is whether aman is alive or dead, and it is shown

that he was alive within thirty years, the burden of proving that he is
dead is on the person who affirms it.

Section 108 -
Provided that,when the question is whether a man is alive or dead,

and it is proved that he is not beingheard of for seven years by those
who would naturally have headof him if he hadbeen alive, theburden of
proving that he is alive is shifted to the person who affirms it. .
The Period of seven years referred to in Section 108 was amendedby

Act , No. 10 of 1988 by reducing the period of seven years to one year.
This amendment was certified on 21.04.1988.

According to Section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance,when the question
as to whether aperson is alive or dead is taken into consideration,and it is
proved that theperson referredtohasnot been seenor heard of for, earlier
seven years and since April 1988, for one year,by those who would have
naturally have heard from him, in the event if he was alive, the burden of .
proving that the saidperson is alive is shifted to the person whorelies on it. r

Acareful consideration of the contents in sections107and108,indicate
that both sections should be read together as the latter is a proviso to the
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earlier Section. Whilst section 107 creates a legal presumption, of
continuance of life if nothing is shown to thecontrary,section 108 provides

for the burden of proving that a person to be alive by shifting it to the
person asserting it by denying the death. Considering the operation

of section 108 of the Evidence Ordinance, H. N. G. Fernando, C. J., in
Pattisonv. KalutaraSpecial Criminal Investigation Bureauw stated that,

Section108 of the EvidenceOrdinance provides that when a person
has not been heard of for seven years by those who would naturally
have heardof him if he hadbeen alive, theburden of proving that he is
alive is shifted to them who affirm that he is alive.

However, it is to be borne in mind that section 107 does not create a
presumption as to the time of death of aperson inquestion.Therefore this
section will not be applicable to a case where the question is not whether
a person is alive or dead, but whether a person died on a specific date.
Considering this position, E.R.S.R.Coomaraswamy is of the view that,

A party who asserts that a person was alive at a certain date must
prove such fact.

In fact in Assistant Government Agent v. Fernando (,2) Wendt J.,
considering the provision in section 107 stated that, there is no presumption
as to the continuance of life or of an admitted marriage. A party who
asserts that aperson was alive at aparticular date mustprove it. InWendt,
J.s words :

Section 107 of theEvidence Ordinance isnot applicable,because,
as pointed out by Lascelles, A.C.J.on October 11,1906, in the case
No.4,365,C.R.Kalutara brought by Siman Perera s widow, the question
here is not whether Justina is alive or dead,but whether she (known to
have been dead in 1855)diedbefore or after July,1852.”
Wharton s Law Lexicon,(4th Edition pg.796) defines the presumption

of life or death and the details are given in the following form:

iy “When aperson is once shown to havebeen living, the law will in
general presume that he is still alive, unless after a lapse of time
considerably exceeding the ordinary duration of human life; but if there
be evidence of his continued unexplained absence from home and if
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the non-receipt of intelligence concerning him for a period of seven
years, the presumption of life ceases and he is presumed to be dead
at the end of seven years.But the law raises no presumption as to
the time of his death. And therefore, if any one has to establish the
precise time during those seven years at which such person died, he
must do so by evidence."

*

In support of this position Law Lexicon refers to the decisions in Doev.
Nepean(13)Nepeanv. Doe(14)and ReRhodes (15).

The appellant s contention is that she conducted the affairs of the
business andpropertiesof the deceaseduntil after theexpiry of theperiod
applicable for the presumption in terms of section108 and thereafter filed
the testamentary action. Her submission was that the estate of the
deceased came into existence on the day where the period of 7 years is
expired. Therefore although the deceased was not seen after 13.02.1983,
the appellanthad dealt with hispropertyas if he wasaliveor livingelsewhere.
AccordingtoCoomaraswamy (Supra,Pg. 429-430) there isnopresumption
of law in favour of or against the continuance of life for any given period
unless contained in aparticular enactment.

The respondents have continued to state that the deceased was last
seen or heard on 13.02.1983.The appellant has not disputed this fact nor
has she taken any steps to prove anything to the contrary.Therefore there
couldnot be any disputebetween the parties that the deceased was last
seen or heard on 13.02.1983.

Considering sections 107 and 108 of the Evidence Ordinance, it is
abundantly clear that in terms of section 108 if a person has not been
heard of for seven years (presently one year) by those who would
normally have heard of him, had he been alive, the presumption of
continuance wouldcease andtheburdenof proving theperson tobealive
shifts to the person who asserts the said presumption by denying death.
This position was taken in Re Phene s Trusts (Supra) where it was stated
that,

If a person has not been heard of for seven years, there is a
presumption of law that he is dead,but at what time within that period
he died isnot amatter of presumption,but of evidence and the onus of
proving that the death took place at any particular time within the seven
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years lies upon the person who claims a right to the establishment of
* which that fact is essential.".

The question that arises at this juncture is whether it is necessary to
ascertain the exact date of death of the deceased. The answer to this
question is that the need would depend on the circumstances of each
instance and therefore it would vary from case to case. For instance in a
case where the court has to adjudicate a claim of prescription by a third
party, the date of death may become important. Similarly, in an instance
where letters of administration or probate is granted the need to know the
exact date of the death of the deceased could arise. In fact it appears that
one of the most important situations that could arise along with the
circumstances under consideration would be with regard to matters
pertaining to the deceased person s estate.

In HamyVel Muladeniyav. S/yafu(16) theCourtheldthatwhen aperson
is presumed to be dead in accordance with the provisions of section 108,

-<f hisproperty has tobedivided amonghisheirs. Further, it is to be borne in
mind that there cannot be an interval between the death of a person and
passing of his property to the heirs. In fact in Silva v. Silva (Supra) a full
Bench held that on the death of a person, his estate, in the absence of a
will, passes at once by operation of law to his heirs, and that the dominium
vests in them. This has been an accepted principle and that in Ttkiri Banda
v. Ratwatte (17) a case decided in 1894, Lawrie, J. and Withers, J. had
held that the succession of the estate of an intestate, devolved immediately
upon his death. Accordingly as a safeguard and chiefly to prevent any
injury occurring to the deceasedperson s estate, the English Courts have
adopted the doctrine of relation back in testamentary proceedings.

Halsbury’s Laws of England (4th Edition, Vol. 17(2), Pg. 26 Para. 35)
• refers to the doctrine of relation back. With regard to the relation back of

administrator s title, it is stated that,

•In order to prevent injury being done to deceased person’s estate
without remedy, the courts have adopted the doctrine that on the grant
being made the administrator’s title relates back to the time of death.
This doctrine has been consistently applied in aid of an administrator
seeking to recover against aperson who has dealt wrongfully with the
deceased’s chatties or chatties real. It is also applicable against a
person dealing wrongfully with the deceased’s real estate
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Wharton s Law of Lexicon(Supra,at Pg. 858) also refers to thedoctrine
of relation back and defines the said doctrine in the following terms:

*
•Relation, where two different times or other things are accounted

as one, and by some act done the thing subsequent is said to take
effect 'by relation from the time preceding. Thus letters of
administrationrelate back to the intestate’s death,and not to the
time when they were granted (See Re Pryse 1904 Pg. 301. Foster
v.Bates (1843) 12M& W 226) (emphasis added) .

As referred to earlier there is no such presumption as to the date or
time of a person’s death. If the question in issue is the date and/or the
time of the death that is to be taken up as amatter that has to be proved
by evidence. The respondents had contended that the deceased died on
13.02.1983andthis has not been challengedby the appellant. In fact the
appellant concedes that shehad last heard from him on 13.02.1983.

In such circumstances, the estate of the deceased, in the absence of a V
will,have topassat onceby operation of law to hisheirs andno one other
than the executor or an administrator could intermeddle with such property.
Infact N. E. Mustoe (Executors and Administrators, 4th Edition, Pg. 6)
observed that,

•Any person,who is not an executor or an administrator, but who
intermeddles with the deceased’s property, may makehimself liable to
the obligations of an executor de son tort (by his own wrong). Very
slight actsof intermeddlingwillmakeaperson an executor de son tort,
e.g. advertising for claim, paying or receiving payment of debts’or
carryingon the deceased's business.».
Actions based on the English Law as to an executor de son tort, has

been recognised by our Courts, as Bonser, C.J., as far back as in 1901
had stated in Prins v. Peiris(18) that

Then,Mr. Walter Pereira argued,asIunderstandhim, that the En¬

glish Law as to an executor de son tort was not in force in this island.
It seems to me rather late in the day to argue that : there have been
numerous cases in which such actions have been recognized by this
Court.”
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This position is applicable to the estate of a spouse. In Silva v. Salman
(19) Wood Renton, C. J., had clearly stated that,

Had she applied for administration of her husband s estate, she
was the naturalperson to have obtained it; not having and done so and
having intermeddled with the estate by paying off the debts, she is in
the position of an executrix de son tori .

There are two other matters I wish to consider in connection with the
matter in issue. Firstly, it was the contention of the learned President s
Counsel for the appellant that the appellant is liable to account on the
basis of an Administratrix only from the date on which the estate came
into being, namely 21.04.1988. The significance of the date is that the
amendment to the Evidence Ordinance, which amended section 108 of
the Evidence Ordinance came into force on that day. Therefore the date
suggested is not a date, which was arrived at, either according to the
provisions of the Evidence Ordinance, or in terms of the provisions of the
amended section. It is also important to be borne in mind that, the appellant
did not wait for a period of one year from the date of the amendment, but
filed her action seven days afterthe amendment Act came into operation.
In the circumstances, I cannot see any basis for the date of the amended
section 108, which came into force to be regarded as the date of the death
of the deceased and in my view the contention that the death is to be
presumed as at on 21.04.1988, is not only contradictory and
untenable, but also is an attempt to give an artificial and baseless
interpretation to the amended section.

Secondly, seeking the advantage of the presumption in terms of
sections 107 and 108 could be for a variety of reasons. A sudden
disappearance of a person may bring in numerous kinds of issues that
would have to be looked into. The complexities could be on the basis of
marriage, retirement benefits, payments on an insurance policy or as in
this appeal the question of administering the estate, which includes the
accounting and inventing. As has been stated earlier, there is no
presumption as to the time of a person’s death, which has tobe proved by
evidenceand clearly thepresumption of deathdoesnotextendto the date
of death. In English Law, as Coomaraswamy points out (Supra Pg. 431)
the presumption of death has been used to repel a charge of bigamy, to
justify remarriage and to justify adivorce.



138 Sri Lanka Law Reports (2006) 1 Sri L R.

Considering the totality of the aforementioned circumstances and the
legality of the situation, it would appear that in asituation where as in the
present case, the following aspects would have to be taken into account :

a. when there is a situation arising out of a disappearance of a
person, there is no presumption as to the date or the time of the
death of a person;

b. on the death of a person, who had died intestate, his estate
passes at once, by operation of law, to his heirs;

c. any person who is not an executor or an administrator, but
intermeddles with the deceased s property, may make himself
liable to the obligations of an executor de son tort ;

d. ashas been referred to in Halsbury s Laws of England (Volume
17(2), 4th Edition, Pg. 38) referring to the effects of acts of
executor de son tort, the lawful acts done in the professed
administration of the estate by a person purporting to act as
personal representative which a rightful executor wouldhavebeen
bound to perform in due course of administration would bind the
estate;and

e. considering the injuries that could bedone to adeceased person's
estate without remedy, the English Law recognizes the doctrine
of relation back that would apply to testamentary proceedings.
Thereby when the grant is made, the administrator s title relates
back to the time of death.

In a series of cases (Lai Chand Manvari v. Mahant Ramrup Gir and
another (20) Re Green s Settlement (21) Dowley v. Winfield (22) Wing v.
Angrave (23) the courts have taken the view that if a person has not been
heard of for a term of not less than seven years, there is a presumption of
law that he is dead, but the onus of proving the death of a person at any
particular date must rest with the person to whose title that fact is essential.

On the question of the time of the death based on the presumption an
example was cited in Hickman v. Upsall (24) where circumstantial
evidence of the timeof the death was taken intoconsideration. The example
was as follows:

*
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Suppose a person intending to return home at ten o clock at night
does not appear, there is no presumption that he is dead. But if after a
week he is found with his skull broken in a wood, you can then con¬

clude that he was killed before ten o’clock on the night on which he
disappeared. .
The respondent’s position was that the aircraft in which the deceased

was a passenger disappeared after it left Kuala Lumpur at 21.09Hrs. on
13.02.1983. Later it was reported that some fishermen in Indonesia had
foundawheelof an aircraft and apart of aplane,which could be related to
the ill-fated aircraft.None of these had been challenged by the appellant
and she hadnot takenany steps to discharge the burden of establishing
any other date other than 13.02.1983, the date suggested by the
respondents on which the death of the deceased tohave occurred. In fact
the appellant contended that the deceased was in Malaysiaon 13.02.1983
andhe boardedhis aircraft to fly back to Sri Lanka;but he never arrived in
the country.

It is therefore not disputed that the deceased was expected to return to
Sri Lanka after 21.09 Hrs. on 13.02.1983 and considering the
aforementioned circumstances on the basis of the example given in
Hickman v. Upsall (supra) the conclusion should be that the deceased
met his death in or around the said time en route from KualaLumpur to Sri
Lanka.

For theaforementioned reasons,Iam of the view that21.04.1988 cannot
be taken as the date on which the estate of the deceased came into being
as on the disappearance and the death of the deceased which apparently
hadoccurredon 13.02.1983, in theabsenceof awill,thedeceasedperson’s
estate passed at once by operation of law tohis heirs on 13.02.1983,and
such date shouldbe taken into consideration asthe date for the inventory
and the accounting.

This appeal is accordingly dismissed and the order of the District Court
dated 28.11.1997 and the judgment of the Court of Appeal dated11.01.1999
are affirmed.The appellant beingthe administratrix of theestate isdirected
to file the inventory and final account on the basis of that the estate of the
deceasedcameintobeing on13.02.1983,withinthreemonths from today.
There would be no costs.

Appeal dismissed.

By majority decisionappeal allowed.
10 -CM6576
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VIACOMINTERNATIONAL INC.
VS.

MAHARAJA ORGANISATION LTD. AND OTHERS

SUPREME COURT
S.N.SILVA.CJ.
UDALAGAMA, JAND,
FERNANDO. J
CASE No. SC (APPEAL) NO. 40/99
HIGH COURT (CIVIL) 21/93(3)
31ST SEPTEMBER AND 19TH OCTOBER 2004

Intellectual Property - Code of Intellectual Property Act, No. 52 of 1979 as
amended - Registering of MTV Music Television" and Maharaja Television -
Sections 90 and 100 of the Code - Avoidance of confusion by viewers * Side by
side comparison of the two marks.

The appellant objected to the registering of MTV" as a trade mark by the
2nd respondent (Registrar of Patents and Trade Marks) The Maharaja mark
was registered after the registration of the appellant s mark. MTV Music
Television". The appellant urged that the impugned registration would create
confusion in the minds of viewers of television. A condition imposed by the 2nd
respondent that neither party has the monopoly of the letters M. T. V. was of no
avail. The 2nd respondent and the High Court both allowed the registration.
The appellant appealed to the Supreme Court.

The respondents filed no affidavits of objection, whilst the 2nd respondent
Registrar was prepared to abide by the decision of the court. The 2nd
respondent also did not file an affidavit of objections.

HELD .

(I) The High Court's contention was that the way letters MTV" are written in ,
the two marks are different and therefore, one could clearly distinguish
the two marks. The High Court came to this conclusion by a close, side by
side comparison of the two marks ignoring previous decisions to the
contrary.

Per Raja Fernando, J

*What is important is to consider the prominent parts of both marks and
decide whether the prominent parts of the two marks taken as a whole with the

U
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design/get up, closely resemble one another as to confuse the consumer
• The court should not compare the two marks meticulously

2. A preliminary objection to the appeal that only the 2nd respondent,
Registrar should have been made a party respondent was in error and

• ought to be rejected.

Cases referred to :

1. Toklon v Davidson 1915 32R pages 133-136
2. Bacadi Company Limited v Vigai Kardi (Ahuja's Intellectual

Property Case) (1959) Vol 3 No. 3 Page XII
3. N STLE SA v Multitech Lanka (Pvt) Ltd (1999) 2 SLLR 298
4. Arumugam v Seyed Abbas Air 1964 Mad 206

APPEAL from the judgment of the High Court

K. Kanga Iswaran, P. C. with Dr. Harsha Cabraal for plaintiff appellant.

jff Romesh de Silva, P. C. with Hiran de Alwis for 1st respondent.
S. Barrie, State Counsel for 2nd respondent.

Cur.adv.vult

28th April, 2005
RAJA FERNANDO, J.

The Plaintiff - Appellant Viacom International (hereinafter referred to as the
Appellant) filed this appeal on 10.11.1999 to set aside the Order of the
High Court of the Western Province sitting in Colombo in the exercise of
its civil jurisdiction (hereinafter referred to as the Commercial High Court)
dated 13th September 1999 and make order in favour of the appellant as

, prayed for in the plaint dated 11th August 1998.

Preliminary objection :

When this matter came up for hearing the appellant took up a preliminary
objection that the 1st defendant - respondent, The Maharaja Organisation
Ltd., (hereinafter referred to as the 1st respondent) was not entitled to be
heard in this application as it had not taken part in the proceedings in the
Commercial High Court. However it was agreed by the parties on 17th
May 2004 that the objection to the participation of the 1st Respondent in
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these proceedings be considered with the main appeal and that the parties
would tender written submissions and further the court could make its
order on the written submissions of the parties.

Accordingly the appellant filed his written submissions on 31.08.2004
andthe 1st Respondent, his on 19.10.2004. The2nddefendant - respondent
The Director of Intellectual Property, (hereinafter referred to as the 2nd
respondent) whose decision the Appellant is seeking to set aside did not
file his written submissions.

*

Before proceeding to consider the main appeal of the Appellant it is
necessary toinitiallymake anorder with regard tothepreliminary objection
raisedby the Appellant regarding the participation of the 1st respondent in
these proceedings.

Firstly, the 1st respondent is aparty to the appeal namedby the appellant
and further the decision the Appellant is seeking to set aside is the decision
of the Commercial High Court made affirming the Order of the 2nd
Respondentmadeon 13th September 1998infavour of the 1st respondent s
Trade mark. Therefore it is the 1st respondent who is the party directly
affected by the outcome of this appeal. Hence it is the view of the Court
that apart from 1st respondent being a party to the appeal he being the
party directly affected by the decision of the court he must necessarily be
permitted to participate and heard in this appeal.

Accordingly I make order over-ruling the preliminary objection of the
Appellant andpermit the 1st respondent to participate andbe heard in the
proceedings of this appeal.

The Main appeal

The main appeal is on the Registration by the Director- General of
Intellectual Property the 2nd respondent of the trade mark MTV" under
class 38 of the international classification as the trade mark of the 1st
respondent the Maharaja Organisation made on 30th June, 1998.

A *The plaintiff - appellant, Viacom Incorporated in U. S. A. the user of the
trade mark MTV Music Television which has been registered in the US
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and in several other countries made an application to register its mark
MTV Music Television in Sri Lanka on 15th May 1991 under application

Nos. TM 61297 and TM 61298 in classes 38 and 41 respectively of the
international classification andhas prior registration for MTV.

Pursuant to an agreement with Teleshan Network (PVT) Ltd. of Sri
Lanka and TNL television station the Appellant has been telecasting MTV
Music Television in Sri Lanka, before Maharajah Television Commenced
its telecast.

The 1st respondent made an application on 23rd May 1991 under
application No. 61332for the registration of the alphabetical letters MTV”

in respect of communication in the same class 38 of the International
classification. The said mark was accepted and published in terms of
section 107 of the Code of Intellectual Property (hearing after referred to
as the Code.) in the government gazette No. 830 of 29th July 1994 subject
to the condition that the registration did not give the 1st respondent the
right to exclusive use of the letters M. T. and V

Upon publication the Appellant filed notice of opposition in terms of
section 107(2) of the Code of Intellectual Property on 18th January 1995.

The Applicant s opposition was :

(i) That the 1st Respondent s propounded mark will contravene the
provisions of Section 99, 100 and 142 of the code.

(ii) That the Appellanthadpending applicationsunder the same class
38 in TM 61297 and class 41 in TM 61298 filed prior to the 1st
respondent’s application.

(iii) That the 1st respondent’s propounded mark is not sought to be
registered in good faith

Cv) That the propounded mark is likely to create the erroneous
impression that the 1st respondent's services are the services of
the appellant

(v) That the 1st respondent5s propounded mark will give the impression
that there is a connection or association between the 1st
respondent s service and of the appellant.

After an inquiry the 2nd respondent made order on 30 th June 1998
allowing the 1st respondent’s application for registration.
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The appellant being aggrieved by the said order of the2nd respondent
appealed there from to the Commercial High Court under Section 182 of
the code. The appeal of the Commercial High Court by the appellant was
dismissed by the High Court on 13 th September 1998.

This appeal is to set aside the judgment of the Commercial High Court
dated 13th September 1998 and make order in favour of the Appellant as
prayed for in the plaint dated 11th August 1998.

Submissions of the parties.

The Appellant submits that the registration of the 1st Respondent s
mark MTV by the 2nd Respondent is contrary to the provisions of the
said Code and the Order of the learned Commercial High Court Judge is
replete with irrelevant considerations made without due regard to the law
and abundance of Judicial authority relating to Trade Marks.

Further it was submitted by the Appellant that the finding of the 2nd
Respondent in registeringthe mark of the 1st respondent is entirelywithout
merit and misconceived both as a matter of fact and of law.

It was the submission of the Appellant that in the Commercial High
Court the 1st Respondent did not file proxy and/or answer or participate in
the appeal before the Commercial High Court and the 2nd Respondent,
the Director of Intellectual Property, informed court that he is not filing
answer and that he will abide by the judgement of court.

In effect the 2nd respondent did not defend his order in the Commercial
High Court or before this court.

The Commercial High Court disposed of the appeal solely on the affidavit,
answer and written submissions of the appellant.

The 1st Respondent in his submissions filed in this court referring to
the host of authorities cited by the Appellant attempts to dismiss them by
merely stating that they are irrelevant and causes confusion rather than
throw light on the matter. *

It is the submission of the 1st Respondent that both Maharaja Television
and Music Television made applications to register MTV as the Trade

*

*

4
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Mark of each of them and that the Appellant objected to the registration of
the 1st Respondent's trade mark and the 1st Respondent objected to the
registration of the appellant s trade mark. The Registrar of Trade Marks
the 2nd respondent permitted the registration of both marks with a
disclaimer that no party isentitled to the exclusive use of the lettersMTV.

The 1st Respondent submits that the 2nd Respondent and the learned
High Court Judge have both come to the same conclusion that the mark
will not cause deception or confusion in the minds of the public and that
the viewers will ignore the common denominator of the two marks and will
know clearly that one is Music TV and the other is Maharaja TV.

Merits of this Appeal

In terms of the code of Intellectual Property a Mark Means a Trade
Mark or service mark serving to distinguish the goods or services of one
from those of another.

The exclusive right in amark may be acquired by registration under the
Code. Unregistered marks are safeguarded under the provisions relating
to unfair competition and the common law, under action for passing off.

Once an application for registration of amark is receivedby the registrar,
he is required to examine the mark in relation to the provisions of sections
99and 100.

As submitted by the 1st respondent in his submissions what the 2nd
Respondent, the Director of Intellectual Property, has done is to register
both marks with a disclaimer that no party is entitled to the exclusive use
of the letters MTV. This is contrary to the spirit and substance of the law
onTrademarks.

A visible sign capable of distinguishing the goods or services of different
enterprises can constitute a mark provided it is not inadmissible under
section 99and 100 of the Code. No trader or service provider should be
permitted to monopolise alphabetical letters unless the mark consisting
of such letters can constitute a valid mark and not inadmissible under
Section 99 and 100.
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The two marks have been registered without exclusive rights to the
English alphabetical letters M T and V.

*
This position to my mind can not be valid.

The two letters TV is a standard abbreviation used all over the world
for the word Television”,as such noparty could claim exclusive rights for
the use of the letters TV. Then the only letter left in the mark is the letter
M. According to the evidence on record the Plaintiff -Appellant has
extensively used MTV as amark and acquired areputation/identity and
therefore when the letter M is taken together with the two descriptive letters
TV as a whole the three letters MTV can stand as avalid mark.It is settled
law that a mark should be taken as a whole. The Plaintiff-Appellant does
not receive exclusive rights to the letters TV but he should receive exclusive
rights to the combination of letters MTV in this instance. Thus others are
not entitled to the use of the combination of letters MTV.

The law attempts to avoid confusion in the minds of the public as to
the source of the service. If both Music TV and MaharajaTV are permitted
the use of the mark MTV it is hard to understand how the viewers could
know the correct source of the service.

The learned High Court judge s contention is that the way the letters
MTV are written in the two marks are different and therefore one could
clearly distinguish the two marks.Further he has come to this conclusion
by a close, side by side comparison of the two marks.

The learned trial judge has completely ignored the host of authorities
which stipulate that, such side by side comparison is not the way to
examine Trade marks. What is important is to consider the prominent
parts of both marks and decide whether the prominent parts of the two
marks taken as a whole with the design/get up, closely resemble one
another as to confuse the consumer. Without doubt the prominent parts of
both marks included in this appeal are the letters MTV.The court should
not compare the two marks meticulously.As Lord Johnson expressed in
Tokalon v. Davidson (') we are not supposed to scan the words and do
microscopic inspections.It is a matter of general and casual point of view
of a consumer walking into ashop.
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* When one considers the two marks in that light it is clear that both
marks so closely resemble one another and the consumer/viewer is likely
to be confused.

The initial question then to be decided is, when a particular programme
is said to be telecast on MTV whether a viewer will be in a position to
know which of the two channels this programme comes on; Music TV or
Maharaja TV. If the answer to this simple question is that one cannot
decide, then both Marks cannot co-exist and the second registration has
to be cancelled.

The learned High Court Judge in deciding that the two marks are
diametrically opposed to each other has engaged in a critical side by side
examination of the two marks and of their presentation and a minute
examination of each letter of the alphabet in the two marks.

It is settled law both in Sri Lanka, Indiaand elsewhere that In order to
come to the conclusion whether one mark is deceptively similar to another,
the broad and essential features of the two marks are to be considered.
They should not be placed side by side to find out if there are any differences
in the design and if so whether they are of such acharacter as to prevent
one design from being mistaken for the other. It would be enough if the
impugned mark bears such a overall similarity to the registered mark as
would be likely to mislead a person usually dealing with one to accept the
other if offered tohim." Bacardi Company Limited Vs. Vigal Kardi (Ahuja s
Intellectual property case (2)

In the case of Nestle SA Vs. MultiTech Lanka (Pvt.)Ltd (3 ), Fernando J.
has in a trade mark/unfair competition dispute held that such dispute
cannot be decided by simply totting up and weighing resemblances and

• dissimilarities upon a side by side comparison of the marks .

The issue is whether a person who sees one in the absence of the
other and who has in his mind s eye only a recollection of that other would
think the two were the same. The mind s impression (idea) of the mark is
critically important. The impression (idea) of the mark here is MTV .

* In Arumugam vs. Seyed Abbas( 4) it has been held that “ Striking
resemblance between distinctive words of an existing registered trade
mark and the proposed trade mark disentitles the latter to be registered.”
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Further the learned High Court Judge has ignored the phonetic
resemblance of the two marks.

It is undisputed that the Plaintiff-Appellant applied to the Registrar ofPatents and Trade Marks for the registration of the Trade mark MTV
Music Television on 15th May, 1991 in applications numbered TM61297and TM 61298 in classes 38 and 41 respectively.

Whilst the Appellant s application was pending the 1st respondent
Maharaja Organisation also filed an application on 23rd May 1991 for the
registration of the alphabetical letters MTV with a devise in respect ofCommunication in Class 38 the same class as the appellant under
application No. 61332.

The plaintiff-appellant objected to the registration of the Trade mark of
the 1st respondent on the ground that the plaintiff-appellant being the
registered owner of theTrade mark MTV Music Television under the same
class as the 1st Respondent his rights under the Code would be *contravened.

It is common ground that the plaintiff - appellant had the Trade mark
MTV Music Television registered prior to the 1st Respondent in the same

class. Therefore, another application to register the same trade mark or a
similar trade mark which is likely to mislead or confuse the public as to
the source of the service cannot be registered.

Eventhough, the original registration was subject to the condition that
he will have no exclusive right to the alphabetical letters MTV, what the
law attempts to prevent is confusion in the minds of the public as to the
source of the sen/ice. Asmentioned above the plaintiff-appellant is entitled
to letter M” with the letters T and V under the special circumstances
relating to this matter.

The only way in which the same letters MTV could have been used as
a trade markby another is to either show that customers/viewers will not
normally regard such letters as indicators of the Origin of the services ifconcerned, it is the contention of the 1st Respondent that the letters
combined in an artistic manner used by the 1st respondent is capable of
distinguishing the services of the 1st respondent from the plaintiff- appellant.
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The learned High Court Judge has come to that same conclusion by a
minute and a side by side close scrutiny of the purported Trade mark of
the 1st respondent.

, As stated earlier in examining Trade Marks such side by side close
scrutiny is not the approach to decipher trade marks. One must consider
whether the public could without confusion identify the source of the goods
or services offered under such trade mark.

In so deciding one invariably has to consider the sen/ices offered by the
competing parties. Undoubtedly, both the plaintiff-appellant s Music TV
and the 1st respondent s Maharaja TV are under the same Trade mark
MTV offering the same services if not identical services. Therefore, the

confusion in the minds of the public is more probable.

The learned High Court Judge has failed to properly consider the two
marks under the law for the protection against unfair competition. He has
not considered whether there has been an appropriation of the benefit of
the good name or reputation of one for the commercial advantage of the
other. Nor has he considered the use of the two marks concurrently in the
same classand in respect of the same sen/ice and whether it wouldcause
confusion, as given in Section 142 of the Code, resulting in an act of unfair
competition.

It is evident on the affidavits and other documents filed by the appellant
before the High Court that the appellant has been telecasting MTV music
television in Sri Lanka and elsewhere even prior to the registration of the
appellant's Trade mark MTV by the Director of Intellectual Property in
Sri Lanka. It is the submission of the appellant that the 1st respondent
was aware of the use of the mark by the appellant at the time the 1st

• respondent made his application for registration of a deceptively similar
mark for registration under the same services.

There is merit in the submission of the appellant that their Trade mark
MTV Music Television was in use long prior to the 1st respondent filing
his application for registration of a similar mark and there would be unfair
competition and even passing off.

The phonetic resemblance of the two marks is such that it is almost
impossible for a person to distinguish between the two services. The
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*disclaimer recorded by the 2nd respondent in respect a of the letter M T
and V is in the circumstances of this case of no relevance. As I mentioned
earlier the use of MTV by both will lead to confusion among the public.
Whether or not the 1st defendant-respondent intended such outcome is
immaterial. Thus, his registration or use of letters MTV is contrary to the
provisions relating to unfair competition and cannot be permitted. Theunfair
competition law safeguards not only the interest of traders and service
providers but also the consumers.

Therefore I hold that the Registration by the 2nd respondent of the trade
mark of the 1st respondent is contrary to the provisions of Sections 99,
100 and 142of the code of Intellectual Property Act, No. 12 of 1979.

Accordingly, I set aside the judgment of the Commercial High Court,
dated 13th September 1999 and also set aside the Order of the 2nd
respondent dated 30th June 1998 allowing the 1st respondent to register
Trade Mark No. 61332.

*
S. N. SILVA,C. J I agree.

N.K. UDALAGAMA, J. I agree.

Appeal allowed.

CHANDRASIRIV.
UNIVERSITY OFRUHUNA AND OTHERS

SUPREME COURT
BANDARANAYAKE, J.
WEERASURIYAJ, AND
JAYASINGHE,J.
SC (FR) APPLICATION NO 326/2003
23RD NOVEMBER 2004 AND 10TH JANUARY
AND 18TH MARCH, 2005
Fundamental Rights - Warning" issued against the petitioner without proper
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4
inquiry and arbitrarily - Arbitrary exercise of discretion by the University contrary

to natural justice-invalidity of warning - Article 12(1) of the Constitution.

The petitioner was a Senior Professor of Forensic Medicine of the Faculty of
Medicine, University of Ruhuna. He was a PGIM Board certified JMO and a
Government Medical Officer" within the meaning of section 2 of the Code of

Criminal Procedure Act, No. 15 of 1979 competent to hold post mortem
examinations, examine persons in police investigation and act as an inquirer
Into Sudden Deaths within specified Districts or other parts of the country as
directed by Magistrates except the Western Province.

The petitioner and Dr. Ruwanpura who was also a Consultant Judicial
Officer noted that paediatricians who were not attached to the Department of
Healthbut attached to theFaculties of Universities were discharging the function
of Judicial Medical Officers in child abuse cases. Hence the petitioner and
Dr. Ruwanpura informed the Deputy Inspector General, Southern Range that
Pediatricians who are not “Government Medical Officers" competent to undertake
such work under the Code of Criminal Procedure Act were doing such
unauthorized work.That letter was copied to the Attorney - General,Magistrates
and the Chairman of the National Child Protection Authority (P4) dated
14.02.2002.

The University of Ruhunu at a Faculty Board meeting referred the said letter
P4 to the Sri Lanka Medical Council for action. The council decided that the
allegations made against the petitioner for sending that letter did not constitute
professional misconduct.

Thereafter, on a decision of the University Council, a Committee was
appointed to consider whether disciplinary action may be taken against the
petitioner for writing the letter P4. It is to be noted that a preliminary inquiry
should be held for that purpose. The Committee held that there was no
necessity to hold a disciplinary inquiry against the petitioner but to avoid pain of
mind to other members of the Board the petitioner should be warned.

Accordingly by letter dated 21.05.2002(P5) the second respondent (Vice
Chancellor) warned the petitioner. The petitioner complained, inter alia, of
violation of Article 12(1) of the Constitution.

HELD:
1. According to the University Establishments Code warning is not a

punishment, but used only after an inquiry upon a charge sheet against
the repitition of an act or omission. A copy of the warning letter has to be
filed in the personal file of the person concerned.



152 Sri Lanka Law Reports (2006) 1 Sri L. R.

*2. In the circumstances, issue of a warning without a charge sheet and a
preliminary inquiry was arbitrary. '

3. Even if the Vice chancellor was authorized to issue a warning, the issue
of the warning without a charge sheet and a preliminary inquiry was an
arbitrary exercise of discretion in violation of Article 12(1) of the
Constitution.

4. Discretion of a statutory body is never unfettered. It should be exercised
according to law. Here the warning was issued contrary to the principles
of natural justice.

5. The Committee could not have recommended the issue of a warning
before holding an inquiry as directed by the Vice-Chancellor. The
Committee exceeded its powers by recommending the warning and
exceeded its jurisdiction.

6. The act of the Committee without jurisdiction and the warning by the w
Vice Chanceller were void in law, and had no legal effect.

7. For the above reasons, the petitioner's fundamental rights under Article
12(1) were infringed.

Cases referred to :

1. Ram Krishna Dalmia v. S. R. Tendolkar (1958) Air SC 538
2. Saman Gupta vs. Jammu and Kashmir (1983) Air SC 1235
3. Padfield vs. Minister of Agriculture (1968) A. C. 997
4. Breen v. Amalgamated Engineering Union (1971)1 All. E. R. 1148

APPLICATION for relief for infringement of fundamental rights

J. C. Weliamuna with Govinda Jayasinghe for petitioner.
Wijayadasa Rajapakse, P. C. with Kapila Liyanagamage for respondents.

Cur. adv. vutt.
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The petitioner in this application is a Senior Professor of Forensic
Medicine attached to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Ruhuna.
According to the petitioner, he is the senior most Professor of Forensic
Medicine in service and the senior most PGIM Board Certified (Board of
Management of the Post Graduate Institute of Medicine) Consultant in
Forensic Medicine in Sri Lanka. The petitioner has obtained several
qualifications, has carried out extensive research where he has produced
over 45 articles, and has served in several other countries in addition to
being a Registered Medical Practitioner in the Sri Lanka Medical Council
(p1, p1A-p1Hand p2)

The petitioner hadcommenced his academic career in the University of
Peradeniya as aLecturer in Forensic Medicine in 1971. He had joined the
University of Ruhuna on 20.04.1981 as a Professor of Forensic Medicine
in the said University (P3).

The petitioner submitted that since 1981, as a Professor of Forensic
Medicineof the University of Ruhuna,andaPGIMBoard Certified Consultant
JMO, hehas performed Judicial Medical Services, such as examination of
persons produced by the police and the Courts. He had also conducted
forensic autopsies on orders of the Inquirors into sudden deaths and
Magistrates in relation to sudden deaths within the Police divisions of
Galle, Akmeemana, Poddala, Rathgama, Habaraduwa and Hikkaduwa.
The petitioner had also conducted several Post Mortem Examinations
from other places in the country, except Western Province,where so ordered
by the Magistrates.

The petitioner complained that, by letter dated 21.05.2003 (P5), the
2nd respondent had informed him that, on the recommendations of the
Committee appointed by the Council of the University, that the petitioner
has been warned. Accordingly, he alleged that the decision contained in
the document marked P5 has the effect of curtailing the petitioner s right
to hold a lawful opinion and/or to express his views on a matter of public
importance and therefore the said decision of the Council is violative of
Articles 10 and/or 14(1)(a) of the Constitution. He further alleged that the
conduct of the members of the Council of the University of Ruhuna and the

r decision that was contained in P5, is unfair, unreasonable, unlawful and
therefore is in violation of the petitioner's fundamental rights guaranteed to
him in terms of Article 12(1) of the Constitution.
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+
This Court grantedleave toproceed for the alleged infringement of Articles

12(1) and14(1) (g) of the Constitution.
The petitioner s complaint, is as follows:

At the time where the infringement thepetitioner isnow complaining
took place,he was serving as theSenior Professor of Forensic Medicine
at the Faculty of Medicine, University of Ruhuna. According to the
petitioner, as a Professor of Forensic Medicine, he was required, inter
alia, to discharge statutory duties, in addition tohis teaching functions.
The petitioner submitted that in terms of theprovisions of section122(1)
of the Code of Criminal Procedure Act, No. 15 of 1979, where any
officer in charge of aPolice Station considered that the examination of
any person by a medicalpractitioner is necessary for the conduct of an
investigation, he may, with the consent of such person, cause such
person tobe examined byaGovernment Medical Officer.Section2 of
the said Code of Criminal Procedure Act defines the term Government
Medical Officers to include any officer of the Department of Forensic s
Medicine of any Faculty of Medicine of any University of Sri Lanka.
The petitioner submitted that he and one Dr.P. R.Ruwanpura, who is

also a Consultant Judicial Medical Officer,had noted that Paediatricians,
who were not attached to the department of Health, but attached to the
Faculties of the Universities, were discharging the functions of Judicial
Medical Officers in child abuse cases. According to the petitioner, the
said Dr. Ruwanpura and he were of the opinion that the peadiatricians
who are not attached to the Department of Health do not fall within the
definition of Government Medical Officer in terms of theprovisions in the
Code of Criminal Procedure Act, and therefore they are not entitled to
examine children for medico-legal purposes and also to submit reports to
the Police or to the Department of Probation and Childcare.

The Petitioner and the said Dr. Ruwanpura, by their letter dated
14.02.2002 drew the attention of the Deputy Inspector General of Police,
Southern Range, to the said tendency on the part of the Paediatricians
who are not attached to the Department of Health.The Petitioner submitted
that the said letter was also copied to the officers who are responsible for w
the administration of criminal justice which included the Hon. the Attorney ~
General,State Counsel who are appearing in theMagistrate s Courts and
the Chairman of the National Child Protection Authority of SriLanka (P4).
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* Thereafter, one Dr.T. S. D. Amarasena, a Senior Lecture in Paediatrics
at the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Ruhuna ,at aFaculty Board
meetingheld on 03.10.2002, where the petitioner was also present, informed
the members that he has made a complaint to the Sri Lanka Medical
Council against the petitioner for professional misconduct by sending the
said letter marked as P4.The petitioner submitted that the said complaint
madeby Dr. Amerasena was considered by the SriLanka MedicalCouncil
along with the explanation given by the petitioner and it was decided by
the Sri Lanka Medical Council that the allegations made against the
petitioner do not amount to professional misconduct (P4A and P4B).

On 30.05.2003, to his surprise, thepetitioner has received aletter dated
21.05.2003, signed by the 2nd respondent, which stated that , the petitioner
has been warned on the recommendations of the Committee appointed
by the Council (P5).

Thepetitioner sepcifically stated that as it transpires from P5, the Council
of the University had appointed a sub-Committee to look into the purported
allegations made against the petitioner. The petitioner submitted that no
explanation whatsoever was sought from the petitioner eitherby the Council
or by the said sub-Committee.

The petitioner s complaint is based on the decision of the Council of the
1st respondent University contained in the letter marked.P5 to warn the
petitioner. His contention is that, the said decision was taken contrary to
the principles of natural justice and contrary to the disciplinary procedure
laid down in the Establishments Code of the University Grants Commission
and the Higher Educational Institutions (P8) (hereinafter referred to as the
Establishments Code.).

* The contention of the respondents is that in terms of paragraph 4:4 of
Chapter XXII of the Establishments Code, a Warning is not a punishment,
but administered to caution the person concerned against the repetition of
an act or an omission, which may lead to disciplinary action. Therefore,
the submission of the learned President’s Counsel for the respondents is
that, in warning a person, the disciplinary authority need not follow the
procedure and there is no need to holdapreliminary investigation and/or a
forma! disciplinary inquiry laid down in the Establishment Code.
Notwithstanding the above, learnedPresidenfs Counsel for the respondents

11-CM6576
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stated that, theCouncil of the1st respondent Universityat its 206thmeeting
held on 16th December 2002 had decided to appoint a sub-committee 'comprising the 4th, 13th and 15th respondents to held a preliminary
investigation on the conduct of the petitioner in writing the letter P4 and
sending such letter to several persons including the DIG, Southern
Province.The sub-committeehad come to the conclusion that in view of
the circumstances relating to the writing of P4,there is no requirement to
hold a disciplinary inquiry against the petitioner, but to avoid any pain of
mind being caused to the other members of the Faculty by such actions
in future, that the petitioner should be warned.Such recommendation of
the said Committee was considered and approved by the Council at its
208th Meetingheld on 24.02.2003 (1R4).

Learned President's Counsel for the respondents, further submitted
that in terms of paragraph 8:1:1 of Chapter XXII of the Extablishments
Code, a preliminary investigation is purely a fact finding exercise and
therefore there is no requirement to seek for explanation from thepetitioner.
The contention of the respondents is that, even without a preliminary
investigation by asub-Committee, the petitioner couldhavebeen warned
by the Council as the Council of the 1st respondent University is
empowered to warn an acadamic without holding a preliminary
investigation.

Further, learned President s Counsel for the repondents submitted
that thepetitioner had levelled serious allegations against 5 Senior Lecturers
in Paediatrics by P4and the petitioner had failed to substantiate the said
allegations when requested to do so by the Dean and/or Faculty Board of
the Faculty of Medicine.

Learned President s Counsel for the respondents therefore contended
that,by warning thepetitioner for the aforementioned incident whichbrought ,
disrepute to the 1st respondent University, the respondents have acted
fairly, reasonably and according to law.

The question in issue,arose due to a letter written by the petitioner and
oneDr.Ruwanpuradated14.02.2002, to the Deputy Inspector Generalof
Police of Southern Range expressing the view they held that the
Paediatricians who are not attached to the Department of Health are not
entitled to examine children for medico-legal purposes and to submit reports
to the police or to the Department of Probation and Childcare (P4).
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* On the basis of the aforementioned letter, the Faculty Board of the
Faculty of Medicine of the University of Ruhuna made a request to the
Council of the University to take disciplinary action against thepetitioner
for writing the letter dated 14.02.2002 (P4). In fact the 8th repondent, the
Dean of the Faculty of Medicine has written to the 2nd respondent on
26.08.2002, in the following terns:

I request youto take urgent steps to institutea formal inquiry
against Prof. N. Chandrasiri as recommended by the Faculty
Board at its meeting held on 08.08.2002.

When this matter was placed before the Council of the University of
Ruhuna at its 206th meeting held on 16.02.2002 (IR2), it was decided to
appoint a Committe to consider whether there is sufficient material tohold
a disciplinary inquiry against the petitioner. The said decision was in the
following terms:

206.10.01
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Thereafter on 24.02.2003, at its 208*' meeting, the Council had decidedtowarn the petitioner. This decision wasbased on the recommendation ofthe Committee appointed by the Council on 16.12.2002 . The relevantminute reads as follows :

208.03.17(207.03.20) OsooGodcs GdgSS Stoswsd raeoecao&SnstQocss! 2002.08.08 OjGjfi GGG D 8ci ®< OCCJ 8Qzsi tad ®dS® :
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The petitioner was warned by the 1st respondent University based ontheaforementioned circumstances and now I would turn to examine whetherthere was any infringement of the petitioner's fundamental rights, on theaforementioned position taken by the 1st respondent University.

Learned President s Counsel for the respondents drew our attention toparagraph 8:1:1 of Chapter XXII of the University Establishments Code in
this respect. Chapter XXII deals with the Disciplinary Procedure of theUniversities. Paragraph8:1:1 of the said Chapter deals with the procedureof apreliminaryinvestigation andstates that such an investigation is purelya fact finding process. In terms of the provisions of the said paragraphthere is no doubt that the preliminary investigation is meant to be a searchfor material which may disclose an employee s guilt or provide evidencefor any charges that may be framed against the person suspected of theoffence.



Chandrasiri v.
University of Ruhuna and Others (Bandaranayake, J.)

159* SC

« Be that as it may, it is to be noted that, based on the results of the
preliminary investigation a decision would have to be taken as to the
procedure thereafter, in relation to the allegation against a person.
According to paragraph 8.2, if the preliminary investigation discloses a
prima facie case against the person who is suspected for an offence, a
charge sheet will have tobe issued callinguponhim to show causeas to
why he should not be punished.

The Establishment Code however issilent regardinga situation where
at thepreliminary investigation it is found that there is no prima faciecase
against the suspected person. In that event, I shall now turn to examine
the position, when there is no provision to take action against a person
where no prima facie case is disclosed.

It is common ground that the Council of the 1st respondent University,
at its 206th meetingheld on 08.08.2000,decided to appoint aCommittee

Hf to ascertain whether there is a prima facie case to hold a disciplinary
inquiry against the petitioner (1R2).Paragraph 8:1 of the Extablishment
Code deals with appointments of such Committees,andclearly describes
under what circumstances that such a Committee could be appointed.
The said paragraph is in the following terms:

8.1 When disciplinary action is contemplated against an
employee In connection with any offence warranting one of
the major punishments listed in sub-para 4.1.2, or for a minor
offence in respect of which summary procedure under para 7

* is not applicable to the person concerned, the Chairman of
the Commission or thePrincipal Executive Officer of theHigher
Educational Institution/Institute will cause to be made such

t preliminary investigations as are necessary.

Paragraph 8:1:1 describes the procedure of a preliminary investigation
and reads thus:

A prlimlnary investigation ispurely a fact finding process.It Is
meant to be search for material that may disclose an
employee sguilt or provide evidencefor any charges that may
be framed against the person suspected of the offience...”

/
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Paragraph 8, which deals with a formal disciplinary inquiry in sub
paragraph 8:2 refers to the specific steps that have to be taken where a
prima facie case is disclosed. This would include furnishing a charge
sheet andcallingupon the person in question to show cause as to why he
should not be punished. However, it ispertinent to note that, there is no
such provision to indicate that, if a prima faciecase against the suspected
person is not disclosed at the preliminary investigation, the Principal
Executive Officer of the Higher Educational Institution/Institute has the
authority to warn the suepected person.

Warning is referred to in paragraph 4:4of the Establishments Code and
it is tobe borne inmind that paragraph 4 of the saidEstablishments Code
deals with punishments. It is to be noted that the Establishements Code
states that warning is not a punishment. Paragraph 4:4, therefore reads
as follows :

A warning Is not a punishment, but is administered to caution
the person concerned aginst the repetition of an act or an r
omission which may lead to disciplinary action. A warning
should be administered by the Disciplinary Authority, and a
copy of the letter conveying the warning should be filed of
record in the personal file of the person concerned.

The question which arises at thispoint iswhether it ispossible to warn
anacademic without holding any kindof an investigation.The respondents
contended that even without the preliminary investigation conducted by
the Sub-Committee the petitioner couldhave been warned by the Council.
In terms of the Establishments Code,the Vice Chancellor is the Disciplinary
Authority regarding disciplinary matters connected with the Academic Staff.
Therefore in terms of paragraph4:4, it appears that the ViceChancellor of
a University has the discretion to issue a letter of warning.

Article 12(1) of the Constitution states that all persons are equalbefore
the law and are entitled to the equal protection of the law, and thereby
ensures equality andprotection forpersonswhoaresimilarly placedagainst
discriminatory treatment.When the ViceChanceller is empowered with a
wide discretion regardinga warning to be given to aperson against whom
allegations are being made, it is necessary that there should be certain 'safeguards in the exercise of such discretion. It is apparent that paragraph
4:4 of the Establishment Code does not give any guidelines as to the
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exercise of the power given to the disciplinary authority. In such

circumstances, it is clear that the power given to the disciplinary authority
is not only arbitary, but alsocarries uncontrolled discretion. In Ram Krishna

Dalmia vS. R.Tendolkar ( ) it wasclearly stated that the vestingof discretion

» with officials in the exercise of power under a statute alone will not
contravene the equal protection clause. What is objectionable is the
conferment of arbitrary and uncontrolled discretion without any guidelines

for the exercise of that discretion. By allowing an official to exercise his
authority, without adhering to any guidelines, norms or principles, and
only according to his wishes , a situation is created for decision to be

taken arbitrarily.Absolute or uncontrolled discretion given to an authority
would nagate equal protection, as such authority could be exercised
arbitrarily infringing the equal rights guaranteed in terms of Article 12(1) of
the Constitution. Considering this kind of a situation, in Saman Gupta v

Jammu and Kashmir* the Court was of the view that,

The exercise of all administrative power vested in public

* authority must be structured within a system of controls,
informed by both relevance and reason- relevance in relation
to the object which it seeks to serve, and reason in regard to
the manner in which it attempts to do so. Wherever the exercise
of such power affects individual rights, there can be no greater
assurance protecting its valid exercise than its governanceby
these twin tests."

The rejection of the concept of unfettered discretion was vividly described
with reference to the landmark decision in Padfield v Minister of Agriculture
(3) by Lord Denning, in Breen v Amalgamated Engineering Union (4) in the
following terms :

: The discretion of a statutory body is never unfettered. It is a
discretion which is to be exercised according to law. That
means at least this : the statutory body must be guided by
relevant considerations andnot by irrelevant.If its decision is
influenced by extraneous considerations which it ought not

to have taken into account, then the decision cannot stand.

% No matter that the statutory body may have acted in good
faith; nevertheless the decision will be set aside. That is
established by Padfield v Minister of Agriculture, Fisheriesand
food, which is a landmark in modern administrative law.



162 Sri Lanka Law Reports (2006) 1 Sri L R.

Considering the several steps that were taken by the 1st respondentauthority, regarding the complaint made against the petitioner, it is clearthat the Council had decided to appoint a Committee to ascertain whetherthere is material to hold apreliminary investigation against the petitioner.The minutes of the 206thmeetingof the University Councilof 16.12.2004 *is quite clear that the mandate given to the Committee was to ascertainwhether there is material to hold a preliminary investigation against thepetitioner (1R2). The Committee had after several discussions and onperusal of all the available materialhadcome totheconclusion that thereisnomaterial toholdadisciplinary inquiry against the petitioner.Paragraph7 of the letter dated 10.02.2003 (1R3) thus stated that,
§CZ5fa> rad Sdg ra® aswg S8®0 rad® g®D £Oisf radtf§esaS S £5oo »®jrfsd <ffi®racaO tpgp o®odod csjooraO gdO SaorgO seed SeoiSra ramr drsf $dm eraam eoS seed eoCodeS £jcw®3C5ex3zs? ©s> eojiS ficasf

®a»£o5c3Qdc3x) Sd OO Ssd® Ssxa oSriwScasf OjDfsfS® rfmOraa 6©n!.

Having said that the said Committee had proceeded to recommendthat thepetitioner shouldbe served with a letter of warning.The question •which arises at this juncture is whether the said Committee had the man¬
date to make such recommendation.

It is quite clear that the mandate given to the said Committee by theCouncil of the 1st respondent University was to ascertain whether thereismaterial tohold apreliminary investigation against the petitioner (1R3).Accordingly, in terms of the mandate given to the Committee, they only
had to inform the Council of the1st respondent University the outcomeof
the inquiry.This would have included an answer in the affirmative or inthe ,
nagative to the questing directed at them.

Thus when theCommittee recommendedthat thepetitionerbe warned,
it had, inmy view,acted without any authority or jurisdiction. It is trite law
that when a Committee acts beyond the mandate/terms of reference onwhich it was appointed, it clearly lacks jurisdiction and such decisions
have no legal validity or effect as the Committee has acted outside itsgiven power.Referring to acts which have been carried out with excess ofpower, Wade (Administrative Law,9th Edition,pp.36-37) states that,

Any administrative act or order which isultra viresor outsidejurisdiction is void in law, /. e. deprived of legal effect.
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If it Is not within the powers given by the Act, it has no leg to
standon. The situationis thenas if nothing had happened,and
the unlawful act or decision may be replaced by a lawful one.

* Therefore,the decision of the Committee to warn the petitioner is not a
lawful one which has any validity and the action taken by the Council on
the basis of the said decision and/or recommendation of the Committee is
without any legal effect. The saidCommittee therefore had dearly acted
outside their terms of reference and thereby their actions become arbi¬
trary as well as discriminatory and is violative of the provisions of Article
12(1) of the Constitution.

It is also to be borne in mind that petitioner was never heard by the
Committee or by the Council in respect of the allegations made against
him.Although the respondents claim that an explanation wascalled from
the petitioner, it is to be noted that such direction came from the faculty

-f Board of the Faculty of Medicine and the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine
of the 1st respondent University and not from the disciplinary authority or
from the Committeewhichwas appointed to look into the allegations against
the petitioner. Also, it is important to take into account that at no stage a
charge sheet was issued against thepetitioner.

Since that landmark decision in Ridge v Baldwin (5) (1964) A.C.(40) it
isnow a well accepted concept that rules of natural justice and fairness in
procedures should be applicable toadministrative actions. There are no
universally accepted principles or norms as to the type of procedure that
would be followed in different kinds of inquires.However, what is neces¬

sary is that the inquiry shouldbe carried out according to thebasic norms
of the rules of natural justice and fairness in procedure.Referring to this
question, Tucker L. J. in Russell v Duke of Norfolk (6)(1949) 1 All E. R.
109) stated that.

There are no words which are of universal application
to every kind of inquiry and every kind of domestic tribunal.
The requirements of natural justice must depend on the
circumstances of the case, the nature of the inquiry, the rules
under which the tribunal is acting, the subject- matter that is
being dealt with, and so forth."
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*
The 1st respondent University , bearing in mind the concepts of good

administration andgovernance, should have acted fairly towards the peti¬
tioner, who was one of its Senior Professors. Even if there was no require¬

ment to conduct an adversarial hearing before reaching a decision, the
rules of natural justice required the University to act fairly towards the .
petitioner.

In view of the aforementioned finding it would not be necessary to con¬

sider the infringement in terms of Article14(1)(g) of the Constitution.

On aconsideration of the totality of the circumstances in this applica¬

tion and for the aforementioned reasons,Ideclare that the 1st respondent
University hadacted arbitrarily andunreasonablyandthereby had violated
the petitioner s fundamental rights guaranteed in terms of Article 12(1) of
the Constitution.The decision of the 1st respondent University contained
in the document dated 21.05.2003 (P5) is therefore declared as null and
void.Imake order that the 1st respondent University shall pay the peti-
tioner a sum of Rs.25,000 as compensation and costs.This amount to be *paid within 3 months from today.
T.B. WEERASURIYA, J. I agree.
NIHAL JAYASINGHE, J. Iagree.

Relief granted.

*
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%
SOYSA

VS.
R.C.PERERA

SUPREME COURT
S.N.SILVA,CJ
YAPA.JAND
JAYASINGHE,J
SC APPEAL 34/2003
CA 630/88(F)
D. C. PANADURACASE NO.18734/RE
8TH 19TH AND 28TH OCTOBER, 2004

Landlord and Tenant-Deterioration of the house let- Relevant time of

deterioration for ejectment.

The plaintiff sued the defendant for ejectment of the defendant from

premises No. 309, main street Panadura on the ground of arrears of rent and

deterioration of the premises let. The plaintiff abandoned the 1st cause of

action and pressed the 2nd cause of action on the basis that the defendant

tenant had made an opening of the wall in premises No. 309 to reach the

adjoining premises No. 307 of which the defendant was also the tenant.

The defendant averred that the said opening was effected in 1970 with the

consent of the plaintiffs father whereas the notice to quit was given in October

1983. The District Judge dismissed the action and the plaintiff appealed to the

Court of Appeal.
It was revealed that asper two plans No.254 dated 24.05.1983 and No.745

dated 15.12.1980, the alleged opening of the wall had been effected after
1980. By that opening the defendant had converted premise Nos. 307 and 309

into one premises and obtained access to premises No. 307. The Court of

Appeal allowed the appeal and gave judgment for the plaintiff appellant. The

defendant appealed to the Supreme Court.

HELD :

On the basis of the available evidence there was no merit in the appeal of

the defendant.
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Case referred to :
1. De Silva v Seneviratne (1981) 2 Sri LR 7

APPEAL from the judgment of the Court of Appeal.
L C. Seneviratne, P. C. with Ranjan Gunaratne for defendant-appellant
R. de Silva, P. C. with Harsha Amarasekara for plaintiff -respondent.

*

*

Cur.adv.vutt.

November 22, 2004
JAYASINGHE,J.

The plaintiff- appellant - respondent hereinafter referred to as plaintiff, the
owner and land lady of the premises bearing assessment No. 309 Main
Street, Panadura instituted action in the District Court of Panadura against
the defendant - respondent-appellant hereinafter referredto as thedefendant
for ejectment on the ground that the defendant was

1. in arrears of rent and

2. for causing deterioration of the premises in suit in terms of section 22
(1)(d)of the Rent Act by making an opening in thecommon wall that
separates the said premises from premises No. 307.

It appears that at the trial the plaintiff abandoned the first ground as
above and relied only on the second ground for ejectment.

The defendant was also the tenant of the adjoining premises bearing
Assessment No. 307.

It was the position of the defendant that the said opening on the said
wall was effected in the year 1970 with the consent and approval of the
plaintiff s father. Plaintiff however, came to court on the basis that the
opening was made between 1980-1983 and that she sent the defendant
notice to quit in October 1983, no sooner she became aware of the structural



sc Soysa vs. R. C. Perera (Jayasinghe, J.) 167

* alteration causing a deterioration of the premises. The learned District
> Judge dismissed the plaintiffs action and the plaintiff appealed to the

Court of Appeal. Their Lordship s having considered the reasoning laid
down in DeSilva vs. Seneviratne 1981< > took the view that it was a fit case

i for the Court of Appeal to interfere with the findings on questions of fact
since the learned District Judge failed tomake aproper evaluation of the
facts placed before him at the trial. On a reappraisal of the evidence
disclosedbefore the District Court, the Court of Appeal rejected the finding
that the opening on the wall was made in 1970 with the knowledge and
consent of the plaintiff s father. Court observed that the defendant failed
and neglected to respond to the quit notice and replied five months after
the death of the plaintiff’s father. That approval was obtained from the
plaintiff’s father.The Court of Appeal was also influencedby the fact that
one Daya Liyanage who owned premises No. 307 was not called as a
witness eventhoughhe wasavailable tosupport the defendant’scontention
that the said opening was made in 1970. The plaintiff relied on Sirisena
Liyanage,a surveyor who prepared plan No.254 dated 24.05.1985 on a
Commission issued by Court.He had stated in his evidence that he had
usedplan No.748 dated15.12.1980preparedby B.L.D.Fernandomarked
P3, which did not indicate any entrance in the wall which separated
premises No.309from 307.This evidence established that the entrance
in the wall came into existence only after 08.12.1980.

4

*

Having rejected the contention of the defendant that the opening was
made in1970,theCourt of Appeal thereafter consideredwhether theopening
made in the common wall caused deterioration of the premises in suit.
The Court of Appeal onaevaluation of the evidence disclosed in the District
Court held that the strength of the wall was diminished as a result of the
opening; that the two separate premises owned by two distinct owners
namely 307 and 309 in effect was converted into one premises and the
opening providing access from one premises to another. These factors
takentogether Courtheld,that openingcauseddeteriorationof thecondition
of the premises.
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*Having carefully considered the findings of the Court of Appeal, I see no
merit in this appeal of the defendant-respondent appellant. The appeal is
accordingly dismissed with costs.

S. N. SILVA, C. J. I agree.

YAPA, J. I agree.

Appeal dismissed.
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